

Delft University of Technology

The Design of Integrated Frequency Sources and their Application to Wideband FM Demodulation

Visweswaran, Akshay

DOI

10.4233/uuid:58b35a4e-c6b1-4fd4-942b-601fdbb38e77

Publication date 2017 **Document Version**

Final published version

Citation (APA)

Visweswaran, A. (2017). *The Design of Integrated Frequency Sources and their Application to Wideband FM Demodulation*. [Dissertation (TU Delft), Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:58b35a4e-c6b1-4fd4-942b-601fdbb38e77

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This work is downloaded from Delft University of Technology. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to a maximum of 10.



The Design of Integrated Frequency Sources and their Application to Wideband FM Demodulation

Akshay Visweswaran

The Design of Integrated Frequency Sources and their Application to Wideband FM Demodulation

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Delft, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus prof.ir. K.C.A.M. Luyben; voorzitter van het College voor Promoties, in het openbaar te verdedigen op maandag 10 april 2017 om 12.30 uur door

> Akshay VISWESWARAN Master of Science, Electrical Engineering geboren te New Delhi, India

This dissertation has been approved by the

promotor: Prof. Dr. John R. Long

Composition of the doctoral committee:

Rector Magnificus Prof. John R. Long promotor

Independent members:

Prof. Dr. R. Harjani, University of Minnesota, USA

Prof. Dr. C. Samori, Politechnico Milano, Italy

Prof. Dr. Ir. B. Nauta, University of Twente

Dr. Ir. J. Craninckx, imec Leuven, Belgium

Prof. Dr. K.A.A. Makinwa, EWI, Delft University of Technology

Prof. Dr. Ir. L.C.N de Vreede, EWI, Delft University of Technology

Reserve member:

Prof. Dr. Ir. A. Neto, EWI, Delft University of Technology

ISBN/EAN: 978-94-6186-801-5

Copyright © Akshay Visweswaran

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission of the copyright owner.

Table of contents:

Thesis Summary	1
Chapter 1 Introduction	4
1.1 Wideband FM demodulation at IF	6
1.2 Differential class-AB driver	7
1.3 Low-noise oscillator design for GSM base-stations	8
1.4 RF link analysis	10
1.5 A note on IC technology	12
1.6 Thesis outline	13
Chapter 2 Background theory and literature	15
2.1 Fundamentals of FM	15
2.1.1 FM bandwidth and noise	16
2.2 FM demodulation: overview and architectures	19
2.2.1 A note on synchronous detection	20
2.2.2 A brief synopsis of FM demodulators	21
2.3 Closing remarks on FM-demodulator theory	24
2.4 Oscillator fundamentals	25
2.4.1 Phase noise	26
2.4.2 Injection locking	26
2.5 Ring oscillators	26
2.6 LC oscillators	28
2.6.1 Frequency tuning	30
2.6.2 LC tank design	30
2.7 A review of phase noise models	32
2.7.1 Leeson's phase noise model	32
2.7.2 Filter based noise shaping	33
2.7.3 Phasor based LTV analysis	34
2.7.4 Hajimiri's LTV phase noise model	36
2.8 Detailed analysis of noise in cross-coupled LC oscillators	39
2.9 The low-noise design challenge	49
2.10 Summary	49
Chapter 3 Injection-locked FM demodulation	54
3.1 Demodulator overview	54
3.2 Locked-in oscillator design and operation	56
3.2.1 Transformation of the modulation index	58
3.2.2 Quadrature signals and FM demodulation	59
3.3 A comparative view on demodulator non-linearity	64

3.4 Folded Gilbert mixer and interface buffers	65
3.5 Summary	67
Chapter 4 Experimental characterization of the demodulator	70
4.1 Demodulator characterization	70
4.2 Demodulator performance summary and comparison	
4.3 Summary and discussion	86
Chapter 5 Differential class-AB amplifier	89
5.1 3-stage class-AB amplifier: topology and design	89
5.2 Small signal analysis	92
5.2.1 Gain-boost amplifier	92
5.2.2 Three-stage amplifier model	98
5.2.3 Class-AB driver and Monticelli bias pair	100
5.3 Amplifier step response	101
5.4 Stand-alone characterization	104
5.5 Summary and conclusions	108
Chapter 6 Transformer-coupled hard-limiting oscillator	111
6.1 The oscillator concept	111
6.2 Theoretical analysis	112
6.3 Circuit design and operation	117
6.3.1 Transformer feedback network	117
6.3.2 Design details and circuit operation	121
6.4 Phase-noise analysis versus simulation	124
6.5 Layout, frequency pushing, divider and buffer	126
6.6 Measurement results	128
6.7 Comparison with prior-art and impact of this work	133
6.8 Summary	137
Chapter 7 Conclusions and recommendations	140
7.1 Injection-locked FM demodulation	140
7.2 Low-noise oscillator design	142
7.3 Future work and recommendations	143
List of publications	145
Acknowledgements	147

Thesis Summary

Wideband data transmission can increase the throughput of a wireless system. In theory, scaling the carrier frequency facilitates the use of wider bandwidths without increase in the fractional bandwidth at radio frequency (RF). Given that transit frequencies as high as 300 GHz can be obtained with minimum feature sizes on the order of 10 nm on chip today, integrated-circuit technology is poised to remain the most amenable and likely platform for implementation of mm-wave and sub mm-wave systems in the coming years. However, at present the performance and power-efficiency of the RF front-end at these frequencies is limited by technology when compared to the thumping success of wireless communication in GSM and ISM bands in the low-GHz range. From an implementation point of view, one of the bigger challenges remains demodulation, which is curtailed by the lack of circuit techniques for handling and processing signals occupying multi-GHz of bandwidth.

The design and study of autonomous frequency sources during the course of this research shows that phase-stable oscillators, such as those with resonant loads, are less responsive to forced external stimuli when compared to ring oscillators with first-order loads that demonstrate phase stability orders-of-magnitude lower in comparison. As a consequence, injection-locked ring oscillators can linearly track wideband frequency modulation for rates as high as one-fifth the carrier frequency with ease. The first part of this thesis presents the design, analysis and characterization of an injection-locking, wideband FM demodulator for application in heterodyne receivers. The low-power FM demodulator operates across 2-10 GHz of intermediate-frequency (IF) bandwidth, and comprises a four-stage ring oscillator that injection-locks to the input FM and reduces the carrier frequency and FM deviation by a factor of four. Correlating the quadrature-phased outputs inherent to a four-stage ring topology enables and simplifies power-efficient, wideband FM demodulation for large fractional bandwidths approaching unity.

Stand-alone characterization of the oscillator shows that it is capable of locking to at

least a modulating frequency of 400 MHz (i.e., a carrier- to modulation-frequency ratio of ~10), and further testing is limited by the FM source. Linear demodulation of the quadrature-phased outputs of the locked-in oscillator is realized using a low-power folded-CMOS implementation of a Gilbert-cell mixer. The design, analysis and stand-alone characterization of a differential class-AB amplifier developed in this work are also detailed in the thesis. The amplifier designed for low distortion and low-impedance drive interfaces the demodulated output to the 50- Ω measurement environment. The inductorless demodulator prototyped in 65-nm bulk CMOS occupies 0.17 mm² and dissipates 3.2 mW from 1.2 V at quiescent point. The SNR sensitivity is 8 dB, and demodulator measures a 0.1% BER at 10 Mbps for a 45-mV_{pp} input signal at IF.

The transmission of an FM signal through an injection locked oscillator is explained analytically and verified via simulation and experimental characterization of a stand-alone ring oscillator. Expressions for time-instantaneous I/Q phases and the demodulator's output characteristic are also developed that verify wideband operation. In addition, experimental characterization of the oscillator's response to external noise and FM reveal physical trends such as noise-induced frequency shifts, onset of chaos, and hysteresis, which lie beyond the scope conventional theory. These observations are discussed in context of the locked-in demodulator's sensitivity to noise and interference.

The second part of the thesis examines phase stability in integrated oscillators and addresses the mechanisms that lead to conversion of noise into fluctuations in phase. In the low-noise technique developed in this thesis, hard-limiting the oscillator output with transformer-coupled gate overdrive creates phase insensitivity to noise. Coupled transformers reduce loading in the loop, and phase-noise conversion from not just the transistor pair, but the tank is reduced as well. The principle of phase insensitivity described in this work eliminates the tail-current source, which becomes a significant noise contributor at high power levels. It is known that maximum phase-noise conversion of channel noise occurs when the two switching transistors conduct simultaneously. The cyclo-stationary, time-dependent oscillator phase-noise expression developed in this thesis shows this. Rise and fall transient times are therefore minimized using transformer-coupled gate overdrive to improve phase stability. An embodiment of the proposed oscillator concept optimized for high-power consumption was prototyped in 65-nm bulk CMOS and characterized extensively for comparison of phase noise performance theory. Measurements show that the phase noise is within 2-dB reach of the challenging -147 dBc/Hz GSM base-station phase-noise specification for a 915 MHz carrier at an 800-kHz offset. Findings from the oscillator study presented in this research have triggered further innovation in the field, which are discussed in this thesis.

Chapter 1 – Introduction

Built on fundamentals developed over more than a century, the experiment of wireless communication has evolved into a field of engineering science and varied application. Ranging from broadcasts, mobile telephony, personal and local-area networks, to advances in medical diagnostics, imaging, and space exploration, wireless electronic systems are among the major estates that currently shape man's progress and thinking.

Radio communication between a transmitter and a receiver establishes a wireless link. Key blocks of the transmitter are a modulator and power-amplifier (PA) as shown in Fig. 1.1a. The high-frequency carrier (at f_c) is modulated at a rate, f_m , and transmitted via the PA. The characteristics of a propagating RF wave are frequency, phase and amplitude – any of which may be modulated with information, depending on the system-type and standard. The receiver's RF-front-end that is comprised of an LNA, mixer and local-oscillator down-converts the modulated RF-input to an intermediate frequency (IF), after which data recovery is accomplished through a demodulator, as shown in Fig. 1.1b. Super-heterodyne receivers operate at a non-zero IF, whereas in the specialized case of zero-IF in homodyne receivers, the same LO frequency (f_c) is applied in the transmit- and receive-paths.

Research in the design of power-efficient transceivers is mandated by the count of wireless devices in operation, which runs into billions as wireless technology finds itself at the heart of workplace and social infrastructure worldwide. The relevance of energy-efficient links stands to grow as the internet of things (IoT) envisioned for the near future will see a plurality of interconnected wireless devices communicating information in real time. The heightened efficiency and automation of routine activities is fuelling the dream of smart cities, among others. Since the entire transmitted RF-power is drawn from the voltage supply, the transmitter with limited efficiency dominates energy consumption during operation. Receivers are typically powered-on continuously, since time of reception is unknown while transmission is deterministic. In general, power-optimization of the transmitter and receiver are



Fig. 1.1: Block diagrams of an (a) RF transmitter, and (b) RF receiver.

equally important when realizing energy efficient wireless links.

The pursuit of multi-gigabits per second throughput, while maintaining range and connectivity, is driving the next phase of innovation in wireless technology into mm-wave from 30-300 GHz, and optical communication in the visible-light spectrum. Untapped bands beyond 100 GHz have potential for spectroscopy, wireless sensing, and high data-rate (~10 Gbps) space-borne telemetric systems and links. Long-range communication is not possible in the vicinity of 60, 120 and 180 GHz, due to peaks in the atmospheric O₂ absorption of RF energy in these bands [1.1]. However, efforts to commercialize these bands for directive, short-range communication are underway for applications such as video streaming, broadband internet access, virtual reality, gesture recognition and automotive radars. The availability of unlicensed bandwidth for use worldwide (e.g., 59-64 GHz) creates a lucrative prospect for wideband communication. On the other hand, the ubiquitous acceptance of smartphones and the increased use of mobile data have created unprecedented challenges for licensed wireless service providers. Performance is limited by the carrier frequency spectrum that ranges between 700 MHz and 2.6 GHz, amidst demands for greater capacity in mobile broadband communication. Ongoing studies at 28 and 38 GHz show reduced atmospheric and rainfall absorption [1.2], thereby opening avenues for a shift in mobile communication into the mm-wave range within the emerging 5G standard. The designated bandwidths between 27.5–29.5 GHz and 36–40 GHz [1.3] are being commercially surveyed for communication at data rates ranging from 200–500 Mbps [1.4], [1.5].

The implementation of wideband radios, however, throws up design challenges along the transmit- and receive-chain that require research and innovation in circuit blocks, and parallel advances in IC technology for provision of transistors and backend metallization amenable to these objectives. Wideband receiver performance is typically limited by power consumption, which increases in proportion to the data rate. Demodulation of wideband signals is further restricted by the challenge and complexity of designing interface circuits and delay networks (at RF and IF), despite the availability of sub-micron transistors having transit frequencies in excess of 250 GHz. While a trade-off between bandwidth and power consumption is encountered in circuit design routinely, the phase-linearity of conventional passive delays or phase-shift networks necessary for demodulation remains bandlimited [1.6]. At present, there have been few demonstrations of integrated wideband circuits that verify the feasibility of energy-efficient communication links, e.g., the 3-5 GHz UWB-FM transceiver in [1.7].

1.1 Wideband FM demodulation at IF

Portable receivers for low-cost, high-speed wireless links should be compact, fullyintegrated and consume minimal DC power. Co-optimization of systems and circuits is necessary to achieve energy-efficient, low-power communication links [1.8]. Simple modulation schemes such as wideband frequency-shift keying (FSK) are currently of interest for wireless local- and personal-area communication, because they require low-complexity transceivers. However, power-efficient data transfers at rates up to 1 Gbit/s are required for applications such as video streaming [1.9]. Demodulation at an intermediate frequency (IF) in a low-complexity heterodyne receiver (Fig. 1.1a) enables greater bandwidth handling and mitigates the impact of receiver flicker noise, limited port isolation, and signal interference often encountered in homodyne receivers. Circuit operation at a reduced fractional bandwidth ($\Delta f/f_c$) through appropriate choice of an IF can potentially simplify the implementation of a wideband receiver, thereby saving power and chip area. In theory, scaling the carrier frequency facilitates the use of wider bandwidths (without increase in fractional bandwidth at RF), however, the performance and efficiency of the RF-front end at high frequencies is limited by IC technology. In contrast, wideband demodulation at IF in heterodyne receivers is limited by the lack of circuit techniques. The first part of this thesis presents the design and analysis of an injection-locking, wideband FM demodulator for heterodyne receivers [1.10]. This is the first demonstration of a fully-integrated, multi-GHz, low-power IF-demodulator capable of operating at fractional bandwidths approaching unity. The work presents detailed analysis and experimental characterization of the propagation of an FM signal through a locked-in ring oscillator, and its properties that enable power-efficient wideband demodulation. Division of FM deviation and scaling of Bessel-function coefficients are derived analytically and experimentally verified through a 65-nm prototype demodulator. The demodulator operates across 2-10 GHz IF (Af/fc=1.4), while consuming 0.32 nJ/bit at a 10-Mbps data rate. Measurements verify that the oscillator is capable of locking to a modulation rate of at least 400 MHz (0.8 Gbps). Low-power circuits developed in the work are evaluated using mathematical analysis and simulation. These include a ring oscillator with wideband sensitivity, a folded CMOS mixer with O-point control, and a fully-differential, 3-stage class-AB amplifier with common-mode feedback stabilization. The prototype IC is characterized extensively using a wide range of experiments to study division of FM deviation, wideband demodulation, noise sensitivity, bit-error rates and response to in-band and out-of-band interference.

1.2 Differential class-AB driver

A fully-differential class-AB amplifier capable of operation at rates of 100 MHz [1.11] interfaces the demodulator to the 50- Ω measurement environment. The high loop gain and differential operation ensure low-distortion. Common-mode feedback is applied to increase output drive capability and reduce crossover distortion when operating in class-AB from a low supply voltage. The pre-amplifier stage is a gain-boosted folded cascode amplifier. Analysis of the gain-boosted amplifier presented in this thesis shows for the first time that there exist two, as opposed to the generally

perceived single pole-zero doublet, in the transfer function. Doublets result from the individual frequency responses of each auxiliary amplifier added to enhance the output impedances of the NMOS and PMOS cascode branches, respectively. The impact that the two sets of doublets have on the settling behavior is examined along with simple design guidelines to optimize the amplifier's performance. A detailed analysis of the amplifier design and characterization of a 65-nm CMOS prototype is presented in Chapter 5.

1.3 Low noise oscillator design for GSM base-stations

The second part of the thesis presents the design and analysis of a power-efficient, low-phase-noise local-oscillator (LO) intended for GSM base-station (BTS) receivers [1.12]. One of the challenges in the implementation of these narrowband receivers is the 200-kHz spacing between adjacent channels [1.13]. Base-station receivers handle multiple channels simultaneously, and as a consequence, stringent dynamic-range, noise-floor and in-band blocking requirements exist for a specified minimum sensitivity of -104 dBm [1.13]. The receiver's in-band blocking specification dominates the phase noise requirement of the BTS receiver's LO. In-band interferers desensitize the receiver to the signal of interest through reciprocal mixing with the LO-spillover at offset frequencies, as shown in Fig. 1.2a. Fig. 1.2b shows the in-band blocking profile for the GSM-900 base-station standard. It can be seen that the receiver is required to operate in the presence of an 88-dB stronger interferer at a relatively close, 800-kHz offset from the carrier frequency. This translates into a very stringent phase-noise requirement, one that has proven difficult to implement in bulk-CMOS IC technologies. The limited quality-factor (Q) of on-chip passives and the constraint on output swing set by device breakdown determine the lowest attainable phase noise, while selectivity of practical RF filters isn't sufficient to eliminate strong in-band blockers and alleviate the constraint on LO phase noise. As will be shown in Chapter 2, when scaling existing IC oscillator designs to meet aggressive phase-noise specifications for applications such as base stations, the dwindling trade-off between phase noise and power consumption leads to excessive dissipation. The oscillator's phase-noise re-



Fig. 1.2: (a) A depiction of reciprocal mixing with interference, and (b) the GSM-900-BTS-Normal in-band blocker profile.

-quirements between 600-kHz and 3-MHz offsets are listed in Table I, and derived in the next sub-section. At an 800-kHz offset, the GSM-900-BTS and the DCS-1800-BTS specifications are -147 dBc/Hz and -138 dBc/Hz, respectively. In GSM mobile handsets, by comparison, the transmit- and receive-bands being 20-MHz apart set a more relaxed requirement on the transmitter phase noise of -162 dBc/Hz at a 20-MHz offset.

High-power offers a challenging design space where low transistor output impedances, effect of interconnect parastics, and transistor non-linearities limit phase noise performance. In this work, phase desensitization through hard-limiting (and subsequent filtering of harmonics) is implemented in the design of a low-phasenoise oscillator for GSM-BTS receivers. The high-power, low-noise oscillator achieves a phase-noise efficiency that is comparable to designs targeting mobile handsets. While hard limiting the output and operation in triode are counter-intuitive to oscillator design, as will be shown, the oscillator's insensitivity to noise under these conditions overcomes the apparent drawbacks. Predictions of the oscillator's phase noise from theory and circuit simulation are verified through extensive characterization of an 8-GHz prototype in 65-nm bulk CMOS as proof of concept. Consuming 32 mA from a 1.5-V supply, the oscillator prototype designed for a moderate tuning range of 10% trades tuning range for phase noise performance, and is within 1.5-dB reach of the stringent GSM-900 BTS specification.

1.4 RF link analysis

Propagation of an EM wave through space is accompanied by a drop in power spectral density, which is referred to as path loss. Free-space propagation loss occurs due to the outward expansion of the wave-front from the transmitting antenna, and is one of the major factors affecting the link budget analysis of a wireless system. The frequency dependent free-space path loss over a distance, d, is captured by Friis' equation [1.14]:

$$\frac{P_r}{P_t} = \phi_p G_t G_r \left(\frac{c}{4\pi f d}\right)^2,$$
(1.1)
where the freespace path loss = $20 \log\left(\frac{c}{4\pi f d}\right)$ in dB.

The ratio between transmitted power, P_t , and received power, P_r , depends the transmit- and receive-antenna gains, G_t and G_r , respectively, the polarization loss ϕ_p , and the free-space path loss, where *c* is the speed of light and *f* is the frequency. Antenna gains G_t and G_r represent a ratio of the power transmitted within an infinitesimally small solid angle in a given direction (typically that of peak radiation) to that of an isotropic source. Similar to other passives, reciprocity in an antenna dictates that its transmit- and receive-properties are identical [1.15]. Gain is related to directivity via radiation efficiency. The factor ϕ_p represents the polarization loss between the transmit- and receive-antenna. The link budget of a wireless system is typically calculated assuming polarization-matched, lossless antennas with unity gain – typified by a set of isotropic antennas having directivity, radiation efficiency and gain equal to one. The minimum detectable signal, P_{mds} (in dBm) is written as [1.16]:

$$P_{mds} = kTB|_{dBm} + NF|_{dB} + SNR|_{dB} + 10\log(n),$$
(1.2)

	GSM-900-BTS Normal (870-925MHz)		GSM-1800 (1690-1	-BTS Normal 805MHz)
Frequency offset	In-band blocker (dBm)	Phase noise (dBc/Hz)	In-band blocker (dBm)	Phase noise (dBc/Hz)
600kHz - 800kHz	-26	-137	-35	-128
800kHz-1.6MHz	-16	-147	-25	-138
1.6MHz – 3MHz	-16	-147	-25	-138
>3MHz	-13	-150	-25	-138

Table I: In-band blocker and phase noise requirements for GSM base-stations

where *kTB* is the maximum available noise power from a matched antenna (*B* is the bandwidth, *T* is temperature and *k* is Boltzmann's constant), *n* is the number of antennas, *NF* is the receiver noise-figure, and *SNR* is the signal to noise ratio required by the demodulator at IF to satisfy its BER requirement. Coherent detection of a binary FSK signal with β =1 has a probability of error, *P*_b, given by [1.17]:

$$P_b = \frac{1}{2} erfc \left(\frac{SNR}{2}\right)^{0.5}.$$
(1.3)

The difference between the received-power calculated from eqn. 1.1 and the minimum detectable signal from eqn. 1.2 gives the link margin.

Under the assumption that the receiver's noise-figure doesn't suffer from gaincompression and that the thermal-noise floor of the receiver is significantly lower than the noise obtained from reciprocal mixing, the phase-noise specifications for GSM-BTS receivers can be calculated using eqn. 1.2. When the signal in the channel of interest is 3-dB higher than the minimum sensitivity of -104 dBm and the carrier-to-interference (C /I) ratio is specified at 9 dB [1.13], the oscillator's phasenoise requirement is:

$$\mathcal{L}(\Delta f) = P_{mds} - P_{int}(\Delta f) - \left[\frac{\mathcal{C}}{I}\right] - 10 \cdot \log B.$$
(1.4)

In eqn. 1.4 the minimum detectable signal, P_{mds} , is -101 dBm for GSM base-stations, P_{int} is the power of the in-band interferer at an offset Δf from the carrier, and B is the GSM channel bandwidth of 200 kHz. The specified interference power and corresponding oscillator phase-noise targets at frequency offsets ranging between 600 kHz to 3 MHz are listed in Table I for the GSM-900-BTS and DCS-1800-BTS standards.

1.5 A note on IC technology

The analysis and circuit operation described in this thesis are verified via experiments on prototype circuits implemented in 65-nm bulk CMOS. Submicron integrated circuit (IC) technology has enabled the design and integration of complete transceiver chains on a single platform, popularized by the acronym SoC (system on chip). Precise and repeatable processing steps enable feature sizes on the orders of 10 nm on chip today, and an amenable Cu/Al back-end metallization stack for interconnects and passives has enabled the design and large-scale manufacture of wireless transceivers in the low-GHz range on a $10-\Omega$ -cm silicon substrate (e.g., GSM, Bluetooth, WiFi).

CMOS technology is driven by the mass consumer market for digitally intensive hardware and memory, making it a more cost-effective solution for large-scale manufacturing compared to SiGe and GaAs. These applications continue to drive CMOS towards further miniaturization, with integration levels doubling every 18 months in accordance with Moore's Law. Shrinking gate lengths ensure a high packaging density and lower device parasitic capacitance. However, reduced intrinsic gain¹ and headroom limitations due to a reduced V_{DD}/V_{th} ratio outweigh the benefits of scaling from an analog/RF design perspective. In addition, since the back-end metallization does not scale as aggressively as transistor sizes, the relatively unchanged dimensions of passives keep the RF circuit footprint on a chip largely unchanged.

A product-line 65-nm CMOS process with an 8-metal back-end stack comprising a 1.4-um thick top aluminum layer, and 0.9-um thick first- and second-from top copper layers (i.e., no thick-metal option for high-Q passives) was used in the design of the prototype demodulator, its sub-circuits and the base-station oscillator.

¹ Increasing the gate length in a lower technology node can provide higher intrinsic gain, but the lower oxide thickness results in a reduced f_t . This may be a suitable for trade-off when designing circuits in the 1-2 GHz range.

1.6 Thesis outline

The two main subjects of this thesis, namely, wideband demodulation and lowphase-noise oscillator design are presented in sequence. Chapter 2 is a discussion of background knowledge and literature survey leading up to the work in this thesis. Design of the injection-locking, wideband demodulator and its sub-circuits is described in Chapter 3, and measurement results characterizing the 65-nm prototype and its sub-circuits are presented in Chapter 4. The design, analysis and characterization of the fully differential, Class-AB amplifier designed for the demodulator interface is described in Chapter 5. Design, analysis and measurements characterizing the hard-limiting oscillator prototype developed in this thesis are described in Chapter 6, and the work of the thesis is summarized in Chapter 7.

References:

[1.1] "Millimeter Wave Propagation: Spectrum Management Implications," Federal Communications Commission, Bulletin no. 70, July 1997.

[1.2] Q. Zhao, J. Li, "Rain attenuation in millimeter wave ranges," in Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Antennas, Propagation EM Theory, pp. 1–4, Oct. 2006.

[1.3] Use of Spectrum Bands above 24 GHz for Mobile Radio Services, GN Docket no. 14-177, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 15 FCC Record 138A1, Oct. 2015.

[1.4] Samsung, "5G Vision," http://www.samsung.com/global/businessimages/insights/2015/Samsung-5G-Vision-0.pdf

[1.5] T. S. Rappaport, J. N. Murdock, F. Gutierrez, "State of the art in 60 GHz integrated circuits & systems for wireless communications," Proc. IEEE, vol. 99, no. 8, pp. 1390–1436, Aug. 2011.

[1.6] K.K. Clarke, D.T. Hess, Communication Circuits: Analysis and Design. Reading, Massachusetts, USA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1971.

[1.7] N. Saputra, J.R. Long, "A Fully Integrated Wideband FM Transceiver for Low Data Rate Autonomous Systems," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no.5, pp. 1165–1175, May 2015.

[1.8] E. McCune, "Foundations of Green Communication," IEEE Communication Workshop ICCW 2015, pp. 2744 – 2749.

[1.9] A. Natarajan, S.K. Reynolds, et al., "A Fully-Integrated 16- Element Phased-Array Receiver in SiGe BiCMOS for 60GHz Communications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no.5, pp. 1059–1075, May 2011.

[1.10] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, "Injection-locked wideband FM demodulation at IF," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no.2, pp. 327–343, Feb 2017.

[1.11] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, R.B. Staszewski, "A 1.2V 110-MHz-UGB differential class-AB amplifier in 65nm CMOS," Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Sep. 2014.

[1.12] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Low Phase Noise Oscillator Principled on Transformer-Coupled Hard Limiting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no.2, pp. 373–383, Feb. 2014.

[1.13] GSM 05.05 version 5.5.1 (ETS 300 910): "Digital Cellular System (Phase 2+); Radio Transmission and Reception," January 1998.

[1.14] H. T. Friis, "A note on a simple transmission formula," *Proc. I.R.E.*, vol. 34, pp. 254, 1946.

[1.15] C.A. Balanis, Antenna Theory: Analysis and Design, 3rd edition, Hoboken, New Jersey, USA: John Wiley and Sons Inc., 2005.

[1.16] J.R. Long, W.L. Chan, et. al, "Silicon VLSI catches the Millimeter Wave," IEEE communications magazine, pp. 182 – 189, Oct. 2011.

[1.17] John F.M. Gerrits, M.H.L. Kouwenhoven, P.R. van der Meer, J.R. Farserotu, J.R. Long, "Principles and Limitations of Ultra-Wideband FM Communications Systems," Eurasip Journal of Applied Signal Processing, pg. 382 – 396, 2005.

[1.18] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, A. Akhnoukh, "Fine frequency tuning using injection-control in a 1.2V 65nm CMOS quadrature oscillator," in Proc. IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium 2012, pp. 293–296.

Chapter 2 – Background theory and literature

This chapter briefly summarizes some of the background knowledge and literature survey leading up to the research presented in this thesis. Basic principles of frequency modulation (FM) and a literature survey of FM demodulators are presented. This is followed by a summary of oscillator phase noise models and existing low phase noise oscillators, and an in-depth overview of the LC oscillator.

2.1 Fundamentals of FM

In frequency modulation, the instantaneous phase of a carrier is varied by modulating its instantaneous frequency with the information-containing baseband signal. The FM-wave takes the following mathematical form:

$$v_{FM}(t) = X_c \cos(\omega_c t + \varphi(t)). \tag{2.1}$$

In eqn. 2.1, X_c and ω_c are the carrier amplitude and frequency, respectively, and the instantaneous frequency is determined by the modulation:

$$\omega_i(t) = \omega_c + \Delta \omega f(t). \tag{2.2}$$

The frequency deviation, $\Delta \omega_i$ describes the maximum excursion the instantaneous frequency takes about the carrier. The modulating function, f(t), is periodic with an angular frequency ω_m . The instantaneous phase equals the time-integral of frequency, and is written as:

$$\phi(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \omega_i(t) \, \mathrm{dt} = \omega_c t + \Delta \omega \int_{0}^{t} f(t) \mathrm{dt}.$$
(2.3)

In the case of a single-tone modulation, the modulating signal f(t) equals $\cos \omega_m t$ and the resulting FM signal may be written as:

$$v_{FM}(t) = X_c \cos\left[\omega_c t + \Delta \omega \int_0^t f(t) dt\right],$$
(2.4)

$$v_{FM}(t) = X_c \cos[\omega_c t + \beta \sin(\omega_m t)].$$
(2.5)

The ratio $(\Delta \omega' \omega_m)$ is defined as the modulation index (β in eqn. 2.5), and the ratio $\Delta \omega' \omega_c$ is called the deviation ratio, D_r . Expanding eqn. 2.5 yields:

15

$$v_{FM}(t) = X_c \cos(\omega_c t) \cos(\beta \sin(\omega_m t)) - X_c \sin(\omega_c t) \sin(\beta \sin(\omega_m t)).$$
(2.6)

From eqn. 2.6 it's seen that an FM signal can be expressed as the sum of two AM signals. Evaluation of eqn. 2.6 using Bessel functions of the first kind defines the spectral components of the FM signal and its bandwidth [2.1]. Coefficients of higher-order harmonics decay rapidly, thus bringing a sharp roll-off at the edges of the spectrum. As per Carson's rule, 98.6% of the FM signal's power is concentrated in a bandwidth equal to $2(\beta+1)(\omega_m/2\pi)$. The decomposition of eqn. 2.6 into its spectral components yields [2.2]:

$$\cos(\beta\sin(\omega_m t)) = J_0(\beta) + 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} J_{2n}\cos(2n\omega_m t), \qquad (2.7)$$

$$\sin(\beta \sin(\omega_m t)) = 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} J_{(2n+1)}(\beta) \sin((2n+1)\omega_m t), \qquad (2.8)$$

Substituting eqns. 2.7 and 2.8 in eqn. 2.6, after simplification, yields:

$$v_{FM}(t) = J_0(\beta)\cos(\omega_c t) + J_1(\beta)[\cos(\omega_c + \omega_m)t - \cos(\omega_c - \omega_m)t] + J_2(\beta)[\cos(\omega_c + 2\omega_m)t + \cos(\omega_c - 2\omega_m)t] + \cdots ,$$
(2.9)

where
$$J_n(\beta) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{j(\beta \sin x - nx)} dx.$$
 (2.10)

Eqn. 2.9 shows that each coefficient, $J_n(\beta)$, defines the power of the n^{th} spectraltone, and that the spectrum is symmetric around ω_c . The spacing between consecutive spectral tones equals the modulating signal-frequency, ω_m . The integral in eqn. 2.10 yields a real value, and a tabulation of J_n for different modulation indices can be found in [2.2]. Transmission of an FM signal through an injectionlocked oscillator and division of FM deviation demonstrated in this thesis (Chapter 3) are explained using Bessel function coefficients defined by eqn. 2.10.

2.1.1 FM Bandwidth and Noise

The output of an FM demodulator, as will be seen in the next sub-section, is proportional to the frequency deviation corresponding to $\varphi(t)$ in eqns. 2.1 and 2.5, and may be written as:



Fig. 2.1: Amplitude and phase modulation created by noise.

$$v_o(t) \propto \left[\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{d\varphi(t)}{dt}\right] \Rightarrow v_o(t) = [k \cdot \Delta \mathbf{f} \cdot \sin(\omega_m t)],$$
 (2.11)

where k is a constant of proportionality (V/Hz) and $\Delta f = \Delta \omega / 2\pi$. The average power, P_o , delivered to a load resistance R_L at the demodulator output is:

$$P_o = \left[\frac{1}{R_L T} \int_0^T v_o^2(t) dt\right] = \left[\frac{k^2 \Delta f^2}{2R_L}\right], \quad \text{where } T = \frac{\omega_m}{2\pi}.$$
(2.12)

Each noise frequency component beats with the carrier wave to produce amplitude and phase modulation, as illustrated for a single frequency component of noise, $\vec{v}_n(t)$, in Fig. 2.1. Representing the moduli of the carrier and noise vectors as $|\vec{v}_c|$ and $|\vec{v}_n|$, respectively, the resulting modulation seen from Fig. 2.1 is:

$$\vec{v}_r(t) = \left(|\vec{v}_c| + |\vec{v}_n| \cos(\omega_n t) \right) + j |\vec{v}_n| \sin(\omega_n t).$$
(2.13)

In eqn. 2.13, the magnitude of the noise component is much smaller than the carrier amplitude X_c , i.e., $|\vec{v}_n| \ll |\vec{v}_c|$. Eqn. 2.13 simplifies to:

$$\vec{v}_r(t) = |\vec{v}_c|sin(\omega_c t + \theta(t)),$$
 where (2.14)

$$\theta(t) = \arctan\left[\frac{|\vec{v}_n|\sin(\omega_n t)}{|\vec{v}_c| + |\vec{v}_n|\cos(\omega_n t)}\right] \approx \left[\frac{|\vec{v}_n|}{|\vec{v}_c|}\sin(\omega_n t)\right].$$
(2.15)

Similar to eqn. 2.11, the noise voltage produced at the output of the demodulator by the noise modulation of eqn. 2.14 is:

$$v_n(t) \propto \left[\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{d\theta(t)}{dt}\right] \Rightarrow v_n(t) = \left[k \cdot \frac{|\vec{v}_n|}{|\vec{v}_c|} f_n \cdot \sin(\omega_n t)\right],$$
 (2.16)

where k is a constant of proportionality. The analysis thus far has assumed a single frequency-component of noise at f_n . The average noise power delivered to the load at

the demodulator output, P_{fn} , is written as:

$$P_{fn} = \left[\frac{1}{R_L T} \int_0^T v_n^2(t) \, dt\right] = \left[\frac{k^2 f_n^2}{|\vec{v}_c|^2} \cdot \frac{|\vec{v}_n|^2}{2R_L}\right].$$
(2.17)

Assuming that the input noise has a flat power spectral density, S_n , the noise frequency components within a bandwidth df can be treated as a single frequency component at the center of the band with the same total noise power [2.3]. That is, the noise power in a bandwidth df associated with the single frequency component, f_n , can be related to S_n as follows:

$$S_n df = \frac{|\vec{v}_n|^2}{2R_L}.$$
 (2.18a)

Substituting eqn. 2.18a in eqn. 2.17 yields:

$$P_{fn} = \left[\frac{k^2 f_n^2}{|\vec{v}_c|^2} S_n df\right] = \left[\frac{k^2 f_n^2}{2R_s P_c} S_n df\right], \quad \text{where } P_c = \frac{|\vec{v}_c|^2}{2R_s}.$$
(2.18b)

In eqn. 2.18b, P_c is the average carrier power delivered to a resistance R_s . Assuming an IF bandwidth of $2f_m$, the total integrated noise power at the demodulator output is:

$$P_n = \int_{-f_m}^{f_m} P_{fn} = \left[\frac{k^2 S_n}{|\vec{v}_c|^2} \int_{-f_m}^{f_m} f_n^2 df \right] = \left[\frac{1}{3} \frac{k^2 S_n}{R_s P_c} (f_m)^3 \right].$$
(2.19)

Using eqns. 2.12 and 2.19, and assuming $R_s = R_L$, the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR_{FM}) at the demodulator output may be written as:

$$SNR_{FM} = \left[\frac{P_o}{P_n}\right] = \left[3\left(\frac{\Delta f}{f_m}\right)^2 \frac{P_c}{2S_n f_m}\right] = \left[\frac{3\beta^2}{2} \frac{P_c}{S_n f_m}\right].$$
(2.20)

The SNR at the output of an AM demodulator receiving the same average power (at a modulation index m) and subject to the same noise power spectral density is calculated in [2.3] and shown to be:

$$SNR_{AM} = \left[\frac{m^2}{2} \frac{P_c}{S_n f_m}\right], \quad where \ 0 \le m \le 1.$$
(2.21)

Eqn. 2.20 shows that the SNR increases with the modulation index. Compared to amplitude demodulation in eqn. 2.21, there is an SNR improvement of $3\beta^2$, which can be maximized with greater bandwidth occupation (e.g., doubling β results in a 10-dB improvement in SNR).

Digital modulation is comprehensively benchmarked on the basis of spectral efficiency and the signal-to-noise ratio requirement to meet a target BER [2.4]. Bandwidth-efficient schemes such as OFDM and QAM can maximize throughput in crowded ISM bands. However, they require a larger SNR to meet the same target BER when compared to FSK and PSK schemes [2.4], and require more complicated circuits to implement pre-distortion and other forms of DSP. Higher-order MPSK schemes show improved spectral efficiency at the expense of SNR performance and increased complexity. PSK systems appear most suited for high data-rate applications, but require linear amplifiers to preserve bandwidth and are more sensitive to noise, group delays and multipath reflections [2.5].

FSK systems tend to occupy more bandwidth, but are comparatively low in complexity (e.g., a dynamically tuned VCO is a fair narrowband modulator), they can operate at extremely low SNR values, provide the best BER performance under added Gaussian noise, and are not sensitive to phase and amplitude fluctuations. The design of wideband systems are, however, synonymous with circuit design challenges and increased power dissipation as discussed in Chapter 1. At present, there have been few demonstrations of integrated wideband circuits that verify the feasibility of energy-efficient communication links, e.g., the 3-5 GHz UWB-FM transceiver in [2.6]. Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis detail the design and experimental characterization of a low-power multi-GHz FM demodulator suitable for wideband heterodyne applications.

2.2 FM demodulation: overview and architectures

Recovering the modulating signal from the received FM signal is known as demodulation or discrimination. Clarke and Hess [2.1] have identified that an overwhelming majority of existing FM demodulators fall within two classes of implementation. The first uses a phase-locked loop to track the FM modulation. The bandwidth of PLL demodulators is limited by the tuning range of the VCO and PLL settling time. The block diagram of the second and more widely used principle is shown in Fig. 2.2, where demodulation results from envelope detection of the differentiated input FM signal. The derivative of an FM signal (see eqn. 2.4) is:



Fig. 2.2: Block diagram of a model frequency demodulator.

$$v_d(t) = X_c k_d [\omega_c + \Delta \omega f(t)] \cdot \sin \left[\omega_c t + \Delta \omega \int_0^t f(t) dt \right].$$
(2.22)

The highlighted term in the first parenthesis is the envelope that is proportional to the instantaneous frequency shown in eqn. 2.3, and is the output of the envelope detector. The signal term at the output is:

$$v_d(t) = X_c k_d k_m [\Delta \omega f(t)] = k [\Delta f \cdot f(t)].$$
(2.23)

The result of equation 2.23 that captures the demodulated output was previously used in equation 2.11.

2.2.1 A note on synchronous detection

Multiplication of the differentiated output with an undifferentiated reference FM signal accomplishes synchronous detection. The resulting high-frequency component is centered at $2f_c$ and therefore permits detection of larger deviation ratios with negligible distortion when compared to asynchronous detection wherein the high frequency ripple is centered at f_c . A reference signal bearing a phase difference of ϕ_c with respect to an incoming FM signal described by eqn. 2.4 is:

$$v_{ref}(t) = X_r cos \left[\omega_c t + \Delta \omega \int_0^t f(t) dt + \phi_0 \right].$$
(2.24)

Multiplication of eqn. 2.24 with eqn. 2.22 yields a low-frequency output that depends on the phase difference of the two signals, i.e., ϕ_o :

$$v_d(t) \propto \sin(\phi_o) \cdot [\Delta f(t)]. \tag{2.25}$$

It is therefore desired to keep the reference signal quadrature-phased with respect to the incoming FM. Further, since the phase of the incoming FM can be arbitrary, the



Fig. 2.3: Direct differentiation based demodulator.

quadrature-phased reference required for synchronous detection is best generated using it.

2.2.2 A brief synopsis of FM demodulators

The differentiation operation in the block diagram of Fig. 2.2 may be implemented in the frequency domain or as a time-delay. A classical direct differentiation demodulator is shown in Fig. 2.3. In this circuit, the capacitor current implements the differentiator. The current $i_d(t) \approx C \ dV_{FM}(t)/dt$ if the transistor and diode are ideal, and the entire input FM drops across the input capacitor, C_{in} . The half-wave rectifier and low-pass filer form the envelope detector. The circuit is sensitive to generator and transistor impedance that greatly limit its performance in practice.

An alternate direct differentiation based demodulator is presented by Darabi in [2.7]. A block diagram of the IF-demodulator is shown in Fig. 2.4. It operates at 1-MHz IF and is designed to demodulate down-converted IQ streams in an image-reject receiver. Differentiation is accomplished using op-amp stages in feedback and is therefore not suitable for wideband or high data-rate applications.



Fig. 2.4: Direct differentiation based IF-demodulator [2.8].



Fig. 2.5: (a) Frequency-domain differentiation based demodulator, frequency response of the network (b) Magnitude response, and (c) Phase response.



Fig. 2.6: FM demodulator using a frequency-domain LC differentiator.

Frequency-domain differentiators are networks whose magnitude response increases linearly around the FM-carrier frequency over the entire FM deviation with a constant slope, as shown in Fig. 2.5. The network converts the input frequency variation to amplitude variation at its output (illustrated in Fig. 2.5b). The output takes the form described by eqn. 2.22. The linear phase response shown in Fig. 2.5c ensures a constant group delay over the FM deviation. A practical implementation of the filter characteristics shown in Fig. 2.5 is an RLC tank [2.8]. It is evident that demodulators relying on linear phase characteristics of passive networks are better suited for narrowband applications. The single-slope and dual-slope demodulators belong to this category [2.1]. One possible embodiment of the block-diagram of Fig. 2.5 comprising an RF-amplifier (tuned to an offset from f_c) followed by asynchronous phase detection is shown in Fig. 2.6.



Fig. 2.7: Block diagrams of (a) a time-delay demodulator, and (b) a simplified version. Response of the delay-network: (a) Phase, and (b) Magnitude.

Time-delay differentiators implement the definition of a derivative:

$$f'(t) = \lim_{\tau \to 0} \frac{f(t) - f(t - \tau)}{\tau}.$$
(2.26)

Fig. 2.7a shows the block diagram of a time-delay differentiator. The delay, τ_o , may be implemented with a filter having a linear magnitude and phase response as shown in Figs. 2.7c and 2.7d. In section 2.2.1 it was shown that a phase difference of 90° between the incoming FM and reference signal enables synchronous detection. This is noted in Fig. 2.7a. It can be shown analytically that the phase-shift can be transferred to the delay-path, leading to the simplified block diagram shown in Fig. 2.7b. A detail often missed in literature is that a 90-degree phase lag in a modulated signal is equivalent to introducing a quarter-time-period ($\tau_c = T_c/4$) delay in the carrier term only. This isolation isn't feasible in practice, when processing the received RF. For instance, in the case of a sinusoidally modulated FM signal described by eqn. 2.5, what is required ideally, and what can be implemented with any ideal delay/filter are:

$$v_{ref}(t) = X_c cos[\omega_c(t - \tau_c) + \beta sin(\omega_m t)] \text{ and}$$
(2.27)

$$v_{ref}(t) = X_c cos[\omega_c(t - \tau_c) + \beta sin(\omega_m(t - \tau_c))], \text{ respectively.}$$
(2.28)

Eqn. 2.28 closely approximates eqn. 2.27 for narrowband applications ($\omega_c \gg \omega_m$), however, the difference results in increased baseband distortion as the bandwidth of 23

the input FM increases. Using the definition of a derivative from eqn. 2.26 on the multiplication-result of eqns. 2.5 and 2.28, the low-pass-filtered demodulator output equals:

$$v_o(t) = k_{td} \sin[\Delta \omega \tau_c \cdot \cos(\omega_m t)] \approx k_{td} \Delta \omega \tau_c \cdot \cos(\omega_m t), \qquad (2.29)$$

In eqn. 2.29, k_{td} is a constant of proportionality, which captures the total transfer gain of all the circuit blocks. The demodulated output contains the modulating signal, and is proportional to the frequency deviation in the input FM.

The delay-network implementation using LC filters published by Bilotti in 1968 [2.9] is a widely used time-delay demodulator. Other examples include LC implementations of delay lines [2.10], and phase shift networks [2.11]. However, the narrowband linearity of the LC-tank load restricts wideband performance. Variation in magnitude response around the resonant frequency produces baseband distortion and the requirement for large signal-drive and high mixer gain raise the power consumption. The active Bessel filters based discriminator in [2.12] shows wideband performance in the MHz range ($\Delta f/f_c=0.5$). However, the need for high-order filters increases power consumption (12.6 mW), while g_m/C bandwidth restricts efficient detection to lower data rates (~1 Mbps).

2.3 Closing remarks on FM-demodulator theory

Basic principles of frequency modulation and a literature survey of demodulators have been presented. Bessel function coefficients characterizing the spectrum of an FM signal are introduced, which are used to characterize the propagation of an FM signal through an injection locked stage in the wideband FM demodulator presented in Chapter 3. Literature survey shows that direct-differentiation, filter-domain and time-delay demodulators implement the same general form of demodulation, which includes differentiation of the input FM followed by envelope detection. Their operating bandwidth is typically limited by the narrowband phase linearity of on chip passives. Analysis of SNR due to frequency modulation from noise will be used to augment the discussion on oscillator phase-noise analysis, which is discussed in detail in the remainder of this chapter.



Fig. 2.7: Oscillator positive feedback model.

2.4 Oscillator Fundamentals

An oscillator is an autonomous circuit that converts DC-power to (ideally) a singlefrequency tone at its output. It is central to phase-locked loops that generate the LO signal in RF transceivers (Fig. 1.1). An oscillator is modelled as a positive-feedback system as shown in Fig. 2.7, comprising a gain stage and a frequency-selective filter. The two minimum requirements for oscillation at a given frequency, f_c , known as Barkhausen's criteria, are: 1) magnitude of the loop-gain >1, and 2) phase around the loop is a multiple of $2n\pi$. When these are satisfied, the circuit amplifies its noise components at f_c incrementally, building up to stable oscillation. Amplitude limiting is inherent to any practical implementation of a gain stage that operates from a finite voltage supply.

2.4.1 Phase noise

The phase instability of an oscillator's output is expressed as the single-side-band noise power in a 1-Hz bandwidth at a certain frequency-offset from the carrier relative to the power of the carrier frequency. It is specified in decibels-below-the-carrier per Hertz (dBc/Hz). Noise generated by the active devices, passive networks and biasing sources modulate the carrier, which results in power transmission in bands offset from the desired frequency. The output of an oscillator takes the form of eqn. 2.1, where the time-varying phase, $\varphi(t)$, is an outcome of noise modulation.

A MOS transistor's channel-noise has two major components: white noise arising from random motion of charge carriers due to thermal excitation, and flicker noise arising from surface-trapping of charge carriers at the semiconductor-oxide interface. Thermal noise generated in the transistor-channel (and passives) has a flat power spectral density in RF bands, and appears with a -20dB/dec roll-off in a phase

noise plot versus offset frequency [2.13]. The flicker noise varies inversely with frequency (1/f roll-off) and is prevalent at low frequencies. It gets up-converted to the frequency of oscillation and appears with a 30-dB/dec roll-off in a phase noise plot versus frequency-offset. A review of phase noise models for circuit analysis is presented in Section 2.4, along with a discussion of the physical mechanisms that convert circuit noise to phase noise.

2.4.2 Injection locking

Synchronization of the operating frequency of an autonomous system with that of an external stimulus is known as injection locking. An oscillator at f_0 can be forced to track the phase and frequency characteristics of an uncorrelated external signal in the vicinity of its natural frequency $(f_0 \pm \Delta f)$. The frequency band, Δf , over which the oscillator locks, depends on the strength of the applied signal and inversely on the phase stability of the oscillator. Phase-stable systems are less sensitive, and only lock over a narrow frequency range. Static locking to single frequencies in LC oscillators is explained in [2.14] using vector algebra, and provides valuable design insight for the application of injection locking. The phenomenon of locking was first observed 350 years ago in pendulum clocks by Huygens, and the quest for analytical models capturing the phenomenon continues to intrigue the scientific community [2.15]. In this thesis, we successfully demonstrate injection locking to modulated signals over a wide bandwidth and investigate its merits for low-power, lowcomplexity demodulation. Experimental characterization reveals time-dependencies and hysteresis accompanying injection locking, along with the impact of external noise on the locking-process. These results are presented in Chapter 4.

2.5 Ring oscillators

Ring oscillators are formed by placing a number of series-connected gain stages in a closed loop. Each stage is typically associated with a voltage gain $-A_0$ (negative sign for phase inversion of a MOS amplifier) and a single pole frequency, ω_0 , that is associated with a first-order RC load. Considering that each pole effects a maximum phase-shift of 90 degrees, a minimum of three inverting stages are required to form a



Fig. 2.8: (a) 4-stage differential ring oscillator and (b) circuit implementation of each stage, and (c) output voltage waveforms.

ring oscillator. A four-stage ring oscillator is shown in Fig. 2.8a, comprising differential gain stages. The cross-connection at the output of the 4th-stage interface adds a 180-degree phase shift, resulting in a 45-degree phase lag between successive stages. As a result, the frequency of oscillation for a 4-stage ring oscillator coincides with ω_0 . Node-pairs a_1 - a_3 and a_2 - a_4 shown in Fig. 2.8a are quadrature-phased. Neglecting loading of the stages, the linear transfer-function of the loop comprising the 4-stage cascade can be written as:

$$T(j\omega) = -\left[\frac{A_0}{\left(1 + j(\omega/\omega_0)\right)}\right]^4.$$
(2.30)

To satisfy the second Barkhausen criterion for oscillation, the magnitude of $T(j\omega)$ from eqn. 2.30 is equated to one for ω equal to ω_0 . This results in a minimum voltage gain requirement of $\sqrt{2}$ per stage.

One possible implementation of a gain stage is shown in Fig. 2.8b. The crosscoupled PMOS load provides regenerative gain that ensures faster transients at the output compared to an NMOS differential amplifier with resistor loads, i.e., shorter switching durations noted in Fig. 2.8c as 't1' and 't2'. It is also important to note that the oscillator draws current chiefly during t_1 and t_2 , when the nodes x and y 27 discharge via transistors M_3 and M_4 , respectively. Frequency tuning is implemented via a variable resistor at the tail node, where M_5 is operated in triode and controlled by V_{tune} . The time-domain waveforms of the internal oscillator nodes are shown in Fig. 2.8c. The 45-degree phase-lag per stage translates to an oscillation period of δT_D . As discussed in [2.16] in the context of a 3-stage ring oscillator, a difference exists in the large-signal period and frequency of oscillation derived from eqn. 2.30. In practice, it is not necessary that $1/\delta T_D$ equals ω_0 since the large-signal behavior of transistors veers from Q-point performance due to non-linear transfer characteristics. The oscillator start-up (e.g., from noise), in the absence of loading, begins at ω_0 , and as the amplitude grows the system frequency shifts and stabilizes at $1/\delta T_D$.

An injection-locked, 4-stage differential ring oscillator is used in the implementation of an FM-demodulator in this thesis. The weak selectivity of the circuit makes it sensitive to external stimuli, allowing it to lock over a wide frequency range [2.17]. It will be shown later in Chapter 3 that the quadrature-phased signals inherent to the circuit both facilitate and simplify wideband demodulation.

2.6 LC oscillators

Integrated LC oscillators have a resonant tank comprised of a spiral inductor (*L*) and a tuning capacitor (*C*) that sets the oscillation frequency to $1/2\pi\sqrt{LC}$. Sheet resistance of the on-chip metallization introduces conductor losses in the spiral inductors and parallel-plate capacitors. Finite conductivity of the substrate results in eddy and displacement current losses that lower the inductor's quality factor (*Q*). Eddy-current losses reduce with increasing substrate resistivity, while uncertainty of the substrate-potential beneath the windings makes the precise calculation of displacement-current losses difficult using simulators like EMXTM and ADS-MomentumTM [2.16]. The schematic of a cross-coupled LC oscillator is shown in Fig. 2.9a. The series loss components of the passives *L* and *C* can be modeled by a parallel equivalent resistance, shown as ' R_p ' in Fig. 2.9b, where $R_p \approx (Q \omega L)$ [2.1].

The cross-coupled transistor pair is the equivalent of a differential pair placed in positive feedback. The impedance looking into the FET-pair, noted as Z_{in} in



Fig. 2.9: (a) Cross-coupled LC oscillator, (b) equivalent representation at resonance, (c) cross-section of an accumulation-mode varactor, and (d) its C-V characteristic versus gate-source voltage.

Fig. 2.9a is $-2/g_m$, where g_m is the small-signal transconductance of each transistor. This negative resistance offsets the losses R_p , resulting in oscillation when $g_m R_p \ge 1$.

During large-signal steady-state operation the conductance offered by the crosscoupled pair varies between 0 and more than $-g_m/2$ with time. The effective transconductance over one period of oscillation, $-G_m$, during steady-state operation is $\sim 1/R_p$ assuming it perfectly offsets the tank loss [2.19]. The oscillator's operation is approximated by the tail current switching between either transistor-arm within one time-period. At the fundamental frequency, the square-wave decomposition results in a differential output voltage swing of $(4/\pi)I_{Tail}R_p$ [2.18]. The approximation doesn't take into account simultaneous conduction in M_1 and M_2 , transistor operating modes, and tank-loading due to the finite, non-linear transistor output impedance. This is why a direct relationship between the output swing and tailcurrent is not observed over a wide range of I_{Tail} .

Two points of note that arise within the framework of the above approximation are: 1) as the tail current is increased for a given tank R_p , the effective large-signal $-G_m$ remains constant and equal to I/R_p . The excursions of $g_m(t)$ increase, but the average value remains constant, and 2) given that $-G_m$ remains constant, it can be assumed that the phase noise contributed by the transistors in the l/f^2 region is independent of their aspect ratio and transconductance [2.19].

2.6.1 Frequency tuning

Frequency tuning is accomplished on chip using varactors or digitally-switched capacitor banks as shown in Fig. 2.9a. On-chip varactors are constructed either with PN junctions, or using the capacitance between the gate terminal and the shorted drain and source terminals of a MOSFET. An accumulation mode varactor is constructed by placing N⁺ diffusions in an n-well, as shown in Fig.2.9c, and its C-V characteristic is shown in Fig. 2.9c. Increase in V_{GB} beyond the flat-band voltage (V_{FB}) results in accumulation of majority carrier electrons at the semiconductoroxide interface resulting in maximum capacitance. When V_{GB} is reduced, repulsion of electrons from the interface results in a series depletion capacitance that reduces overall capacitance [2.20]. When compared to the pn-junction varactor, the MOS varactor is better suited for low V_{DD} operation and can handle positive and negative voltages. The Q-factor of the MOS-varactor depends on the drain-source resistance, and typically drops as C_{GS} increases since the relative increase in capacitance is larger than the relative drop in accumulation-resistance [2.16]. Discrete tuning using switched, parallel-plate metal-oxide-metal capacitor banks implements higher quality factor capacitors, and circumvents MOS-capacitor non-linearity at the cost of fine frequency tuning and increased complexity. In the low-noise oscillator presented in Chapter 5, digital frequency tuning is implemented, and the switch implementation shown in Fig. 2.9a is described in greater detail.

2.6.2 LC tank design

The LC tank of an oscillator should be designed to minimize phase noise for a specified power budget and tuning range. For low-power designs with a target output swing (if not specified, it is best designed for a swing that results in the lowest phase noise), an inductor having the required R_p at f_0 with maximum Q is often selected. The inductor design requires a few simulation iterations that involve an optimization of width, turns, spacing and shielding [2.21]. Inductor Q typically
dominates the tank's quality factor in the low-GHz frequency range. In general, the optimal tank is determined by accounting for the quality factor of the fixed capacitance required to bridge the frequency gap between f_0 and the inductor's selfresonance frequency. In designs targeting extremely low phase noise with no limit on the power budget, the aim is to deliver maximum power to the load (R_p) , while keeping the output swing at a maximum. Following the qualitative discussion in [2.22], increasing the bias current beyond an accompanying increment in output swing degrades phase noise in a cross-coupled LC oscillator. Neglecting the effect of loading¹, a reduction in phase noise can be obtained without loss of phase-noise efficiency by iteratively reducing R_p (assuming tank-Q remains constant) and compensating the drop in output swing with increase in I_{TAIL} . Down-scaling of inductance is accompanied by drop in self-coupling² and reduction in substrate losses. Though the latter results in a higher inductor-O, the overall tank-O is degraded by the impact of parasitic via resistances on-chip. A tank with a lower inductance requires a larger fixed capacitance to resonate at the same f_0 , which affects tuning range and tuning sensitivity as well. In conclusion, optimization of an oscillator's resonator depends on the circuit specifications and can be used to

¹ This optimistic first-order assumption is surveyed in Section 2.7.5 where mathematical analysis and simulation are compared.

² In a multi-turn inductor the total inductance is the sum of partial self-inductances of each segment, and positive and negative mutual inductances [2.23], [2.24]. The coupling between orthogonal segments is negligible (assuming the magnetic field produced by one conductor has a constant gradient across the width of the other, i.e., $\oint B ds = 0$). Segments along which current flows in the same direction couple positively, and those with opposite currents couple negatively. The simplification in [2.23] shows that the mutual inductance between any two parallel segments is approximately proportional to $2l \cdot \lceil log(2l/d) - 1 \rceil$, where l is the conductorlength and d is the spacing between them. Calculating the coupling between mutually angled segments in hexagonal and octagonal coils is computationally intensive and detailed in [2.25]. Multi-turn inductors commonly used on chip (resembling auto-transformers) show improved area efficiency because of the dominant positive mutual coupling between the closely spaced segments carrying currents in the same direction. The differential inductance $L_D = 2 \cdot L_0 (I + k_{mm})$ and the common-mode inductance $L_{CM}=0.5 \cdot L_0(1-k_{mm})$, where L_0 is the inductance of the unwound coil, and k_{mm} is the net coefficient of self-coupling [2.26]. Small inductances on the order of ~100 pH require just a single turn, for which k_{mm} diminishes and results in a lower ratio of inductance and conductor loss (L/r_{cond}) .

balance priorities between power consumption, phase noise and tuning range for a target operating frequency based on the constraints of the technology.

2.7 A review of phase noise models

This section briefly discusses oscillator phase-noise models. Phase-noise models have typically revolved around their application to LC oscillators, and over time the gradual increase in knowledge of phase noise mechanisms has opened doors for innovation in low-noise oscillator design. All phase noise models assume that additive noise in the signal loop does not alter the frequency of oscillation.

2.7.1 Leeson's phase noise model

D.B. Leeson presented a simplified, empirical model for the phase noise of a tuned oscillator in 1966 [2.27] based on experiments that stated:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{2FkT}{P_{sig}}\left\{1 + \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right\}\left\{1 + \frac{\Delta\omega_{1/f}}{|\Delta\omega|}\right\}\right].$$
(2.31)

In eqn. 2.31, Q is the quality factor of the tank, ω_c and $\Delta \omega$ are the carrier and angular offset frequencies, respectively, and the fitting-parameter F is the excess noise factor of the oscillator. Boltzmann's constant is denoted by k, T is the temperature, P_{sig} is the peak signal power at ω_c , and $\Delta \omega_{1/f^3}$ is the flicker-noise corner-frequency. Neglecting 1/f noise and assuming $\omega_c \gg \Delta \omega$, the equation simplifies to:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log \left[\frac{2FkT}{P_{sig}} \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega} \right)^2 \right].$$
(2.32)

Leeson's paper provides little detail on phase-noise mechanisms but insights from the eqns. 2.31 and 2.32 have proven valuable for oscillator design. Namely, maximizing tank-Q and the signal power of an oscillator improves its phase-noise performance. The model asserts that $\Delta \omega_{1/f^3}$ in the PN plot equals the device 1/f-corner frequency, however, measurements show otherwise. Therefore, similar to F, this too is a fitting parameter. Leeson's model of eqn. 2.31 accounts for the four regions seen in a phase noise measurement: 1) -30dB/dec roll-off due to 1/f noise, 2) -20dB/dec roll-off due to thermal noise, 3) -10 dB/dec roll-off due to 1/f noise from the buffer interfacing the oscillator under test and the measurement setup, and 4) a noise floor due to the thermal noise of the buffer. The two latter regions are represented by the inclusion of '1' in the two curly brackets of eqn. 2.31. Leeson postulated that when Q is very large, the 30-dB/dec can predominate out to a frequency offset of $\omega_0/2Q$, in which case there is no 20-dB/dec region in the phase noise curve.

Along the timeline there have been several phase-noise analyses that confirm Leeson's empirical form of eqn. 2.31. The analysis by Craninckx in [2.28] – based on a linear-feedback model applied to an LC oscillator in steady-state oscillation – agrees with Leeson's conclusion that phase noise is inversely proportional to the signal-to-noise ratio and the square of the tank quality factor. However, the analysis does not converge on a solution for Leeson's noise factor, *F*, in eqn. 2.31. A similar outcome is reached using the comparatively simpler filter-based analysis described in the next sub-section.

2.7.2 Filter-based noise shaping

The noise-shaping analysis for an LC load is eloquently paraphrased in [2.29]. The impedance of an LC tank in the vicinity $(\Delta \omega)$ of its center-frequency, ω_0 , is approximately:

$$Z(\omega_0 + \Delta \omega) \approx \left[j \frac{\omega_0^2 L}{2\Delta \omega} \right],$$

$$\Rightarrow |Z(\omega_0 + \Delta \omega)| = \left[\frac{1}{G} \frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta \omega} \right].$$
(2.33)

In eqn. 2.33, G is the conductance of the tank. The mean-square noise spectral density of the tank conductance equals:

$$i_n^2 / \Delta f = 4KTG. \tag{2.34}$$

The spectral density of the mean-squared noise voltage equals:

$$(i_n^2/\Delta f) \cdot |Z|^2 = 4kTR \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2.$$
(2.35)

The mean-square noise voltage contributes equally to amplitude and phase modulation sidebands. This orthogonality neglects phase modulation produced by the non-linear response of device capacitance and conductance to the amplitude 33

modulation sidebands. Pure AM is rejected by amplitude limiting inherent to the oscillator³, and the phase noise is expressed as the ratio between the root-mean-squared noise and differential signal voltage (V_{rms} d) contained in a 1-Hz bandwidth:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{2kTR}{V_{rms_d}^2} \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right] = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{2kT}{P_{sig}} \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right].$$
 (2.36)

Note: the differential mean-square signal power equals the peak single-ended power (P_{sig}) in an LC oscillator. Including a noise factor *F* to account for transistor noise yields the result obtained by Leeson given by 2.32.

2.7.3 Phasor based LTV analysis

The ambiguous noise factor, F, in Leeson's model fails to throw light on phasenoise contribution mechanisms of active circuits. The phasor-based approach described by Samori in [2.19] evaluates phase and amplitude sidebands produced by additive noise in cross-coupled LC oscillators. It is shown that large-signal periodic switching of the transistor-pair in a current-limited oscillator results in negligible phase-noise contribution from amplitude sidebands and noise around harmonics folds back to the carrier. The second observation of note, as discussed in Section 2.5, states that the effective transconductance over one period of oscillation, $-G_m$, during steady-state is approximately $\sim 1/R_p$. Building on this approach, Rael compares the large-signal operation of the cross-coupled pair to a mixer in [2.22], to obtain valuable insight on phase-noise mechanisms in a cross-coupled LC oscillator. Three prominent noise sources in the oscillator are the tank resistance, FETs and the tailcurrent source. Time-invariant thermal noise from the tank affects phase noise directly, as seen from eqn. 2.36.

The tail-current noise around DC, dominated by l/f noise, is up-converted to RF via the switching action of the cross-coupled FETs and the noise around the second-harmonic is down-converted to f_0 . The down-converted noise contributes to phase noise, which is calculated in Section 2.7.3. The up-converted l/f noise

³ This is further discussed in the next sub-section.

predominantly produces AM, which translates to phase noise through non-linearity of varactors or the switching FETs themselves. An explanation is that the slow varying l/f noise modulates the DC current, which in turn modulates the output amplitude over time. However, the analysis in [2.30] does show that the output frequency first increases with bias current and as the harmonic in the transistor's output current begin to increase, the frequency drops in accordance with Groszkowski's observation⁴ to maintain the energy balance between *L* and *C* [2.31]. The analysis in [2.30] also shows that the dependence of output frequency on the tail-current diminishes when the tank capacitance is much larger than the parasitic capacitance on the common-source node of the oscillator, which is often the case with oscillators designed for low phase noise (see section 2.5.2). This backs the intuition that the dominant consequence of tail-current l/f noise is amplitude modulation.

The mean-square current noise spectral density from the switching FETs is $4kT\gamma g_m$ (the excess noise factor, γ , is a bias-dependent fitting parameter), at the zerocrossing time window when both transistors are in saturation. As per the approximations discussed in Section 2.5, this equals a noise contribution of $4kT\gamma/R_p$ over one cycle, leading to the conclusion that as a first-order approximation, the device noise contribution is unrelated to its dimension or transconductance. The complete phase noise equation for the LC VCO circuit calculated in [2.22] for a tailcurrent transconductance (g_{mT}) equals (each contribution is derived individually in section 2.5, along with a discussion on the underlying assumptions):

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{2kT\left\{1 + \gamma\left(1 + (4/9)g_{mT}R_p\right)\right\}}{P_{sig}} \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right].$$
(2.37)

In eqn. 2.37, the noise factor F is given by:

$$F = 1 + \gamma + \gamma \alpha g_{mT} R_p. \tag{2.38}$$

For a g_m -core switching with a conduction angle equal to π (i.e., 50% duty-cycle),

⁴ Harmonic components of the transistor's current flow into the lower-impedance capacitor and increase the reactive energy in it. The frequency of oscillation shifts down until the reactive energy in the inductor increases to equal that of the capacitor for steady-state balance.

$$i_{n} \uparrow \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} d \tau \\ \tau_{1} \\ \tau_{2} \\ \tau_{3} \\ t \end{array}}_{\tau_{1}} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} d \tau \\ t_{1} \\ \tau_{2} \\ \tau_{3} \\ t \end{array}}_{\phi_{1}} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \\ \phi_{0} \\ \tau_{3} \\ \tau_{3} \\ t \end{array}}_{\phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \\ \phi_{0} \\ \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \\ \phi_{3} \\ \tau_{3} \\ t \end{array}}$$

Fig. 2.10: Example of a linear phase system typified by eqn. 2.39.

the corrected value of α (4/9 in eqn. 2.38) is shown to be ~0.085 via simulation in [2.32]. Eqn. 2.36 takes the form of Leeson's model, however, the insight on noise mechanisms lead to the concept of tail filtering [2.18]. The tail-current noise at $2f_0$ may be filtered via a capacitor from its drain (drain of M_3 in Fig. 2.9a) to ground, and a high-impedance to isolate the tail current noise at $2f_0$ is realized using a parallel resonant tank between the common-source node of the g_m -pair and the drain of the tail current source. High impedance at the tail net has two important impacts when one transistor is on and the other is cut off: 1) it reduces loading of the tank due to triode operation of the switching FETs, and 2) the noise of the cross-coupled transistors appearing at the output is reduced by the high source impedance in the common-mode path.

2.7.4 Hajimiri's LTV phase noise model

The pursuit of a linear, time-varying (LTV) phase-noise model started as early as 1966 [2.33], [2.34], and is presented in a simple closed-form by Hajimiri and Lee in [2.29], [2.35]. The theory describes an impulse sensitivity function (ISF), which quantifies the phase sensitivity of the oscillating waveform to perturbations at different time instances within one cycle. The ISF is used to obtain a more accurate representation of noise modulation in the noise-to-signal ratio, which is phase noise. From eqn. 2.15 it's seen that: 1) the output phase is actually a non-linear, inverse-tan function of the magnitudes of the signal and noise voltages, 2) assuming that the

noise amplitude is negligible in comparison with the signal amplitude, a linear relationship can be established between output phase and the noise amplitude, and 3) amplitude modulation is disregarded for simplicity since oscillators are typically self-limiting and demonstrate an amplitude response that damps out amplitude irregularities over time⁵ [2.1]. As discussed in Section 2.6.3, the contribution of AM sidebands to phase noise is negligible when the oscillation amplitude increases. However, a correlation between amplitude- and phase-modulation sidebands exists via non-linear transfer characteristics of varactors, transistor overlap capacitances, and output conductance. These are ignored in our application of the LTV model.

The conversion of noise amplitude to signal phase depends on the oscillator type, and within the bounds of a linear approximation, it is captured in the impulse sensitivity function described in [2.35]:

$$\phi(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(t,\tau) i_n(\tau) d\tau$$
(2.39)

The implication of eqn. 2.39 is simple. Hinged on a linear approximation, it suggests that the phase error at any given time, $\phi(t)$, is an aggregate of phase shifts produced by noise impulses, $i_n(\tau)$, at varying times instances, τ , and of duration $d\tau^{\phi}$. The term $h(t, \tau)$ in eqn. 2.39 captures the impulse-response of the oscillator with respect to phase, and is the ISF. It is a normalized function that varies between -1 and +1. A graphical illustration of eqn. 2.39 is shown in Fig. 2.10. The ISF is periodic with a time period, T_0 , and differs at instances τ_1 , τ_2 and τ_3 . The phase shift is an aggregate of the individual phase shifts produced by the three noise impulses in this example. In most cases, the ISF is closely related to the output voltage waveform of an oscillator. The phase noise expression assumes a cyclostationary random noise process, i.e., the statistical properties of noise sources are time-varying and periodic, and that phase noise can be captured with knowledge of signal and noise powers and the ISF within one oscillator, the LTV model can be used to predict the phase

⁵ The impact of amplitude modulation on phase noise is calculated in [2.35].

⁶ Current impulses imply instantaneous charge-injection into the tank.

noise of any practical oscillator provided the phase noise conversion of each individual noise source can be captured analytically. The sources of error discussed above are summarized as: 1) a linear approximation of the amplitude-to-phase transfer, and 2) disregarding the correlation between amplitude and phase modulation.

Another assumption made in development of the theory that is evident from the illustration of Fig. 2.10 is that the phase shift in the signal output, $\phi(t)$, is not reflected in the sensitivity function, which ideally should overlap with the phase of the output waveform⁷. However, this can be justified as follows: phase fluctuations induced by noise are negligible compared to the period of oscillation, and therefore so is the resulting shift in ISF. The closed-form phase-noise expression (that includes noise-folding coefficients from harmonics) for an oscillator comprising a load where the output swing is seen across a capacitor is derived in [2.35]:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \log \left[\frac{\sum_{i} S_{i}}{2q_{max}^{2} \Delta\omega^{2}}\right], where$$
(2.40)

$$S_{i} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \Gamma_{i}^{2}(\phi) \overline{i_{i}^{2}}(\phi) \, d\phi.$$
(2.41)

In eqn. 2.40 S_i is the phase noise contribution of the i^{th} noise source, q_{max}^2 is the maximum charge displaced in the filter capacitance, and $\Delta \omega$ is the frequency offset in radians/s. In the r.m.s-integral, $\Gamma_i(\phi)$ is the ISF of the i^{th} noise source. By knowing $\Gamma_i(\phi)$ for every noise contributor, Leeson's noise factor, F, can be calculated for any oscillator circuit with a load comprising a capacitor in parallel with an effective resistance or inductance. Though it is not as rigorous as the mathematically intensive studies in [2.36], [2.37], the ISF-approach has gained a lot of traction because it is intuitive and fairly accurate against simulation and measurement when applied correctly.

⁷ A brilliant criticism of all LTV approaches made in [2.36] is that the assumption of cyclostationarity in the treatment of oscillator phase noise, by definition, implies the availability of a precise time reference, while the purpose of the phase noise analysis is to quantify the lack of it.

An important point of note is that when the ISF equals zero, no phase shift is induced in the oscillating waveform by noise. Therefore, one would like to design a low-noise oscillator where noise is injected at ISF zero crossings. An alternate approach to low phase noise design would be to maximize the region of phase insensitivity where the ISF equals zero and inject signal and noise currents therein. As a result, reduction in phase-noise conversion of noise generated by the transistors and the resonator can be accomplished. Proposal of this notion and experimental study of a prototype oscillator that embodies the approach forms a part of this thesis. The design concept of phase desensitization of an oscillator via hard limiting presented in this thesis [2.38] is analyzed using Hajimiri's LTV theory in Chapter 6.

2.8 Detailed analysis of noise in cross-coupled LC oscillators

In this section, the phase-noise performance of the cross-coupled oscillator of Fig. 2.9a is analyzed in detail. The contribution of each noise source in the circuit, namely, the LC tank, pair of switching transistors and tail-current source are examined in detail. Comparisons between theory and simulation are presented, which highlight phase-noise limitations of on-chip oscillators and the challenge of achieving the GSM base-station specification.

In the following analysis, differential operation is treated as a summation of singleended signal and noise powers, and therefore, the parameters of tank impedance (R_p) , peak voltage swing (V_0) and tank capacitance (C_o) and inductance (L) correspond to half-circuit or single-ended values. Using the substitutions specific to a 2nd order LC tank of $q_{max} = CV_0$, $C_o^2 = \omega^4 L_o^2$ and $Q = R_p/\omega L_o$ the phase noise expression from eqn. 2.40 simplifies to:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot log \left[\left(\frac{R_p}{2P_{sig}} \right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{Q\Delta\omega} \right)^2 \sum_i S_i \right],$$
where $P_{sig} = V_0^2 / R_p.$
(2.42)

In eqn. 2.42, the phase-noise contribution of individual noise sources,
$$S_i$$
, is calculated using eqn. 2.41 that contains the impulse sensitivity of each individual noise contributor.



Fig. 2.11: Periodic large-signal transconductance of the cross-coupled devices.

2.8.1 LC tank noise

The resonator's thermal noise expressed as a current spectral density equals $4kT/R_p$, and from [2.25] $\Gamma(\phi) = -\sin(\phi)^8$. Therefore, S_{tank} can be written as:

$$S_{Tank} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{4KT}{R_p} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sin^2(\phi) d\phi = \frac{2KT}{R_p}.$$
 (2.43)

When *N* tanks are connected in a loop, the effective filtering increases by a factor of N^2 , and the number of noise sources increases by *N*. This results in an improvement in phase noise by a factor of *N* [2.16], [2.39]. The phase-noise contribution of the tank in a differential oscillator is calculated by setting N = 2 in eqns. 2.42 and 2.43:

$$L(\Delta\omega)_{tank} = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{N}{N^2} \left(\frac{R_p}{2P_{sig}}\right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2 \frac{2KT}{R_p}\right],$$

$$\Rightarrow L(\Delta\omega)_{tank} = 10 \cdot \log\left[\left(\frac{2KT}{P_{sig}}\right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right].$$
(2.44)

 $^{{}^{8}\}Gamma(\phi) = -\sin\phi$ for an LC oscillator whose output is described by $\cos\phi$. In this case $\Gamma(\phi)$ is quadrature-phased with respect to the tank voltage. In most oscillators the ISF can be approximated by the derivative of the output voltage waveform.

The result of eqn. 2.44 is identical to the phase-noise contribution of the tank predicted by the approaches described in sections 2.6.1 - 2.6.3 (see eqns. 2.32, 2.36 and 2.37).

For sake of completeness, the result of eqn. 2.44 is obtained directly for the differential LC oscillator. The load equals $2R_p$ and the resonator's current-noise spectral density equals $4kT/2R_p$. Therefore, S_{tank} equals:

$$S_{Tank_diff} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{4kT}{2R_p} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sin^2(\phi) d\phi = \frac{kT}{R_p}.$$
 (2.45)

The impulse sensitivity function, which is a function varying between ± 1 does not change in the case of differential operation. The maximum charge displaced in the differential resonator ($C \cdot V_0$) equals that in the single-ended case (w.r.t eqn. 2.40) because the differential capacitance is half the single-ended capacitance, and the peak fundamental output swing doubles for a differential output. The phase-noise contribution of the differential tank is, therefore, calculated using eqns. 2.42 and 2.45 as:

$$L(\Delta\omega)_{tank} = 10 \cdot log \left[\left(\frac{(2R_p)}{2P_{sig_diff}} \right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{Q\Delta\omega} \right)^2 \frac{KT}{R_p} \right],$$

$$\Rightarrow L(\Delta\omega)_{tank} = 10 \cdot log \left[\left(\frac{2KT}{P_{sig}} \right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega} \right)^2 \right]$$
(2.46)

In the above simplification, a factor '2' is incorporated in the squared term, and the differential signal power, P_{sig_diff} is replaced with the single-ended signal power, P_{sig} , to remain consistent with eqn. 2.44.

2.8.2 Cross-coupled transistor pair noise

The cross-coupled transistors are typically treated as current switches during largesignal operation. Each transistor (M_1 and M_2) conducts during one-half of the time period when the other is cut-off. Fig. 2.11 is an illustration of differential transconductance resulting from individual transistor drain currents. The time varying transconductance, $g_m(t)$, is the derivative of drain current with respect to the



Fig. 2.12: Periodic large-signal conduction state of one cross-coupled device.

driving gate-source voltage. During rise and fall transients (t_r and t_f in Fig. 2.11), $g_m(t)$ first increases with gate drive and attenuates with the accompanying drop in drain-source potential as the transistor enters triode. The non-linear characteristics of the output current versus the sinusoidal gate-drive voltage result in amplitude during steady-state operation. The output swing and control Q-point transconductance, g_m , increase with bias current, which results in reduced rise and fall times t_r and t_f . The transconductance drops to a very low value in deep-triode when the output current reaches its limit (see regions I, II and III highlighted in Fig. 2.11). It takes very little to surmise from Fig. 2.11 that $4kT\gamma g_m(t)$ is a poor approximation for transistor noise, for it implies a noiseless on-state.

Consider Fig. 2.12 that shows the oscillator state when one of the cross-coupled transistors (M_1) is cut off, and the second transistor (M_2) conducts. As shown in Fig. 2.12 the channel noise⁹ of M_2 can be decomposed into two equal contributions: from, and to ground [2.40]. If the impedance looking into the tail-current source, M_3 , at node-*x* is much higher than the impedance looking into M_2 , the two channel-noise components at nodes *x* and *y* compensate each other, and the noise current reaching

⁹ The channel noise is not constant during the half-period when M_2 conducts, since both V_{GS} and V_{DS} vary sinusoidally with time, thereby affecting the channel-noise spectral density even in saturation.

the tank is negligible in regions I, II and III in Fig. 2.11. In this ideal scenario, the noise contribution of the transistors is limited to time intervals t_r and t_f in Fig. 2.11, when M_1 and M_2 conduct simultaneously. The noise currents of the two transistors find a path to the tank via the low impedance source nets. During this time, one transistor transitions from triode to cut-off via saturation and the other from cut-off to triode via saturation, respectively.

The above approximation is an unlikely one, given the finite and often low output impedance of the tail-current source in sub-micron CMOS, and the presence of parasitic capacitance C_X (see Fig. 2.12) at node x. The analysis in [2.32] is built around the assumption of an ideal tail-current source, however, the result best describes Hegazi's tail-filtering oscillator [2.18], in which a resonant network presents a high impedance at node x. Assuming a perfect implementation of Hegazi's concept of tail filtering to minimize phase noise contribution of the crosscoupled transistors, it is clear from Fig. 2.11 that the period of simultaneous conduction (transition times t_r and t_f) should be minimized. There is no doubt that an oscillator's phase noise is a function of t_r and t_f . However, the analysis of a crosscoupled oscillator in [2.32] represents t_r and t_f by an equivalent conduction angle and states that oscillator phase noise can be computed with acceptable error when the transconductance when averaged over one time-period (G_m) is assumed to exactly compensate tank loss during stable oscillation. As shown in Fig. 2.10, G_m is approximated as $-1/2R_p$ [2.19]. The transistor's current-noise spectral density of $4kT\gamma g_m$ in saturation (at Q-point V_{DS}) is then equated to $4kT\gamma/R_p$, and from [2.35] $\Gamma(\phi) = -\sin(\phi)$. Therefore, S_{MOS} simplifies to:

$$S_{MOS} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{4kT\gamma}{R_p} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sin^2(\phi) d\phi = \frac{2kT\gamma}{R_p}.$$
 (2.47)

The phase-noise contribution of the MOS transistor's channel noise, for a differential circuit with N = 2, is calculated using eqns. 2.42 and 2.47 as:

$$L(\Delta\omega)_{MOS} = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{R_p}{2P_{sig}}\right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2 \frac{2KT\gamma}{R_p}\right],\tag{2.48}$$

43

$$\Rightarrow L(\Delta\omega)_{MOS} = 10 \cdot log \left[\left(\frac{2KT\gamma}{P_{sig}} \right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega} \right)^2 \right].$$

The noise contribution S_{MOS} in eqn. 2.48 is calculated over an entire cycle with an average resistance equal to R_p . This is a significant approximation that assumes:

- The effective noise spectral density of the time-varying transfer shown in Fig. 2.10 can be captured by an average resistance.
- 2. The transistors remain in saturation, and the impedance shunting the resonator is solely an outcome of transconductance.
- 3. The rise and fall transients that describe simultaneous conduction are lumped into the expression of an average resistance.

2.8.3 Tail current noise

As described in section 2.6.3, the phase-noise contribution of the tail-current source involves up-conversion of 1/f noise and downconversion of noise at $2f_0$ with respect to the oscillator switching frequency, f_0 . Calculating the ISF of the tail current source is non-trivial, and its phase-noise contribution is calculated here using the filtering approach described in Section 2.6.2. The switching cross-coupled transistors can be likened to a single-balanced Gilbert-cell mixer (with a single-ended load = R_p) that is driven by an input noise-current i_{in} at the tail node. The differential output voltage at IF arising from mixing pairs of $f_0 \& 2f_0$, and $2f_0 \& 3f_0$ is given by [2.16], [2.41]¹⁰:

$$v_{o} = \left[\frac{1}{\pi}i_{in}2R_{L} - \frac{1}{3\pi}i_{in}2R_{L}\right],$$

$$\frac{v_{o}}{2R_{L}} = \left[\frac{2}{3\pi}i_{in}\right] \Rightarrow i_{0} = \left[\frac{2}{3\pi}i_{in}\right].$$
(2.49)

The transfer function of the tail-current noise source $(i_n^2/\Delta f = 4kT\gamma g_{mT})$ through the switching core is given by eqn. 2.49. Therefore, the mean-square current-noise spectral density appearing at the output equals:

$$\frac{i_n^2}{\Delta f} = \frac{4}{9\pi^2} 4kT\gamma g_{mT}.$$
(2.50)

¹⁰ Components at f_0 due to mixing of higher-order terms are not included. These are calculated and shown in [2.42].

Using eqn. 2.35, the spectral density of the mean-square voltage equals:

$$(i_n^2/\Delta f) \cdot |Z|^2 = \left[\frac{4}{9\pi^2}i_n^2 \cdot R_{pd}^2 \left(\frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta \omega}\right)^2\right].$$
(2.51)

In eqn. 2.51, R_{Pd} is the differential tank impedance at resonance and equals twice R_p . Like the assumption in eqn. 2.35, the mean-squared noise voltage contributes equally to amplitude- and phase-modulation sidebands. The phase noise is expressed as the ratio between the root-mean-squared noise and signal power contained in a 1-Hz bandwidth:

$$10^{L(\Delta\omega)} = \left[\frac{2}{9\pi^2} \frac{i_n^2 R_{pd}}{P_{sig}} \left(\frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta\omega}\right)^2\right] = \left[\frac{4}{9\pi^2} \frac{i_n^2 R_p}{P_{sig}} \left(\frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta\omega}\right)^2\right],$$

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[2kT \left(\alpha_T \frac{\gamma g_{m_T} R_p}{P_{sig}}\right) \left(\frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta\omega}\right)^2\right].$$
(2.52)

Note from eqn. 2.52, that the mean-squared differential signal power equals the peak single-ended power. The value of $8/9\pi^2$ in eqn. 2.52 (denoted by α_T) equals 0.09, and explains the value of ~0.085 reported via simulation in [2.32]. The value α_T according to [2.32] is a function of the conduction angle of transistors M_I and M_2 (assumed to be π in the above analysis, where the transistors are on for one-half of the period). It is a fitting parameter that is applicable when all transistors operate in saturation, where their noise may be approximated as $4kTg_m\gamma$. In the next section, the analysis is compared to simulation. It is shown that its applicability holds only for a relatively small range of oscillation amplitudes in low-power designs.

The phase noise in the $1/f^2$ region of the cross-coupled LC oscillator is obtained by combining eqns. 2.44, 2.48 and 2.52:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{2kT}{P_{sig}} \left(1 + \gamma + \frac{8}{9\pi^2} g_{mT} R_p \gamma\right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right].$$
 (2.53)

2.8.4 Studying the impact of gate-resistance noise

Fig. 2.12 shows that the voltage-noise source due to the gate resistance, r_g , of the cross-coupled transistors (M_2 in this case) sees a high impedance at resonance (akin to an open circuit) via the tank load and off transistor, M_I . Its phase-noise con-



Fig. 2.13: Circuit schematics of the cross-coupled LC oscillator.

-tribution is therefore negligible in most cases.

Unlike transistors M_1 and M_2 (see Fig. 2.11), whose gate resistance noise-voltage source sees an obviating high impedance, the tail-current's gate resistance (transistor M_3) is terminated by a large capacitance, C_F (see Fig. 2.11) that filters out noise from the current-mirror diode, M_4 , and current source feeding it. The AC ground created by C_F ensures that the entire noise voltage appears across the gate-source terminals and gets converted to a noise current through the transconductance of the tail current source, which increases significantly in high-power designs. The noise components of the gate resistance, r_g , in the vicinity $2f_0$ that down-convert to f_0 are written using eqn. 2.49 as:

$$\frac{i_n^2}{\Delta f} = \frac{4}{9\pi^2} (4KTr_g) \cdot g_{mT}^2 \,. \tag{2.54}$$

Using eqn. 2.35, the spectral density of the mean-square voltage equals:

$$(i_n^2/\Delta f) \cdot |Z|^2 = \left[\frac{4}{9\pi^2}i_n^2 \cdot R_{pd}^2 \left(\frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta \omega}\right)^2\right].$$
(2.55)

The phase noise, similar to eqn. 2.50, is expressed as the ratio of the root-meansquare noise and signal powers contained in a 1-Hz bandwidth:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot log \left[\left(2kT \frac{8}{9\pi^2} \frac{r_g R_p \cdot g_{mT}^2}{P_{sig}} \right) \left(\frac{\omega_0}{2Q \cdot \Delta\omega} \right)^2 \right].$$
(2.56)

The overall phase noise of a cross-coupled LC oscillator that results from thermal noise sources in the circuit is thus obtained by combining eqns. 2.53 and 2.56, and equals:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{2KT}{P_{sig}} \left(1 + \gamma + \frac{8}{9\pi^2} g_{m_T} R_p (\gamma + r_g g_{m_T})\right) \left(\frac{\omega_c}{2Q\Delta\omega}\right)^2\right].$$
 (2.57)

It is worth mentioning again that eqn. 2.57 predicts the phase noise in the $1/f^2$ region, neglecting the effect of parasitic capacitance C_X (see Fig. 2.11) at the commonsource node of the differential pair, and assumes a large output impedance of the tail current source. It also assumes that all transistors operate in saturation and load the tank negligibly, that noise is independent of channel-current variation, and that a linear relationship between channel current and input voltage (via g_m) characterizes the transistors' large-signal transfer characteristics.

2.8.5 Comparison of theory and simulation

The phase noise of the 8-GHz LC oscillator of Fig. 2.13 simulated at 3-MHz offset is plotted in Fig. 2.14. Figs. 2.14a and 2.14b show the phase noise of two oscillator designs targeting low and high power consumption, respectively. The oscillators are powered by a 1.2-V supply. The simulation uses inductors having a Q-factor of ~25 at 8 GHz from the TSMC 65-nm library developed for the back-end metallization option that includes a 3-um thick Cu layer¹¹.

For the high- and low-power designs, the differential tank inductance equal 0.96 nH and 147 pH, respectively. The aspect ratios of transistors M_1 and M_2 equals $[1\mu\text{m}/60\text{nm}] \times 8_{\text{fingers}}$ and $[2.5\mu\text{m}/60\text{nm}] \times 32_{\text{fingers}}$, respectively, and aspect ratios of transistors M_3 and M_4 equal $[3\mu\text{m}/120\text{nm}] \times 12_{\text{fingers}}$ and $[3\mu\text{m}/120\text{nm}] \times 32_{\text{fingers}}$, respectively. The aspect ratios are optimized for phase noise performance. The tail-transistor size affects phase noise considerably for high power consumption and is therefore optimized for maximum impedance in the common-mode path. The differential tank capacitance in the low-power design equals 400 fF, and equals 2.9 pF in the high-power design.

¹¹ The actual oscillator implemented in this work is in a metallization option that does not contain this thick-metal option (20% lower Q), as described in Section 1.2.



Fig. 2.14: Phase noise simulated at 3-MHz for the 8-GHz oscillator in Fig. 2.12 designed for (a) low power consumption, and (b) high power consumption.

The phase noise predicted by theory is plotted for comparison in Fig. 2.14. It is seen from Fig. 2.14a that as power consumption increases the deviation from theory increases. This is due to: 1) increased tank loading as the cross-coupled transistors enter triode, 2) a drop in the impedance of the tail-current source results in an increased noise contribution from the cross-coupled pair, and 3) increased noise contribution from the tail-current source. The discrepancy is further aggravated in

high-power designs, where differences between theory and simulation for low-phase noise oscillator designs can be as high as 6-7 dB.

2.9 The low-noise design challenge

The GSM-900 BTS specification at 800 kHz (-147 dBc/Hz, see Table 1.1) when normalized to an 8-GHz carrier and 3-MHz offset is shown in Fig 2.14b. The challenge for a base-station design is visible, as a 10-dB difference exists for an oscillator operating at 20-mA bias (~24 mW). The simplified simulation does not take into account layout parasitic resistances that significantly reduce the tank-Q for diminishing inductor sizes.

When the oscillator is designed for an unrestrained power budget (e.g., base station applications) the mitigation of transistor noise due to high tail-current impedance reduces significantly, while the channel noise and gate noise contribution of the tailcurrent source itself increases due to its increased g_m . As a consequence, the tail-current source is a major limiting factor when scaling the cross-coupled oscillator for high-power operation (on the 100-mV order). In the oscillator design presented in Chapter 5 of this thesis [2.38], hard-limiting the output waveform creates phase insensitivity, which permits the elimination of the tail-current source without the penalty in increased noise contribution from the cross-coupled transistors as predicted for the LC VCO of Fig. 2.13. Increased gate-drive generated in the oscillator using coupled transformers reduces rise and fall times of transients, which minimizes phase-noise contribution of the core transistors. Hard limiting leads to a reduction in the phase-noise contribution of the resonator as well, and results in extremely low phase noise (within 1.5 dB of the BTS specification, for a moderate, but sufficient, tuning range of 10%) at a phase-noise efficiency comparable to low-power oscillator designs.

2.10 Summary

This chapter summarizes some of the background knowledge and literature survey leading up to the research presented in this thesis. Basic principles of frequency modulation (FM), analysis of demodulator noise, and a literature survey of FM demodulators are presented in the first part of the chapter. The theory behind directdifferentiation, filter-domain and time-domain FM demodulators are described, along with bandwidth limitations of conventional demodulation methods. This lays the platform for the FM demodulator based on injection-locking developed in this thesis (described in chapters 3 and 4) for power-efficient demodulation of wideband FM signals.

This is followed by a summary of oscillator theory, that includes ring and LC based oscillators, their design and frequency tuning. Oscillator phase noise models, that include Leeson's model, filter-based noise shaping, phasor based analysis, and the linear time-varying model are reviewed in depth. The noise mechanisms in LC oscillators are analytically surveyed, and compared to simulation. Phase-noise limitations in on-chip oscillator implementations are described, and introductory aspects behind the principle of phase desensitization proposed in this thesis for low-noise oscillator design (chapter 6) have been presented to the reader.

References:

[2.1] K.K. Clarke, D.T. Hess, Communication Circuits: Analysis and Design. Reading, Massachusetts, USA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1971.

[2.2] E. Cambi, Eleven and Fifteen-place tables of Bessel functions of the first kind, to all significant orders. Broadway, New York, USA: Dover Publication, Inc., 1948.

[2.3] F.R. Connor, Introductory Topics in Electronics and Communication: Noise. Edward Arnold Publishers Ltd., 25 Hill Street, London, 1976.

[2.4] H. Taub, D.L. Schilling, Principles of Communication, Second Edition. McGraw Hill publishing company, New York, 1996.

[2.5] T. McDermott, Wireless Communications: Design and Theory, Tuscan Amateur Packet Radio Corporation, USA, 1996.

[2.6] N. Saputra, J.R. Long, "A Fully Integrated Wideband FM Transceiver for Low Data Rate Autonomous Systems," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no.5, pp. 1165–1175, May 2015.

[2.7] H. Dorabi, S. Khorram, B. Ibrahim, M. Rofougaran, A. Rofougaran, "An IF FSK Demodulator for Bluetooth in 0.35 pm CMOS," Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), May. 2001.

[2.8] R. Adler, "A study of locking phenomena in oscillators," Proc. IEEE, vol. 61, pp. 1380-1385, Oct. 1973.

[2.9] A. Bilotti, "Applications of a monolithic analog multiplier," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 3, no.4, pp. 373–380, Dec. 1968.

[2.10] J. Bae, K. Song, H. Lee, H. Cho, L. Yan, H-J Yoo, "A 0.24nJ/b Wireless Body-Area-Network Transceiver with Scalable Double-FSK Modulation," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. Dig. Papers, 2011, pp. 34–35.

[2.11] A. Valdes-Garcia, S. Reynolds and T. Beukema "Multi-mode modulator and frequency demodulator circuits for Gb/s data rate 60 GHz wireless transceivers", *Proc. IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf. (CICC)*, pp. 639 -642 2007.

[2.12] B. Chi, JinKeYao, P. Chiang, Z. Wang, "A 0.18μm CMOS GFSK Analog Front End Using a Bessel-Based Quadrature Discriminator With On-Chip Automatic Tuning," IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems – I : Reg. Papers, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 2498 – 2510, Nov. 2009.

[2.13] J. Rutman and F.L. Walls, "Characterization of frequency stability in precision frequency sources" Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 79, no. 6, pp. 952–960, Jun. 1991.

[2.14] B. Razavi, "A Study of Injection Locking and Pulling in Oscillators", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no.2, pp. 1415–1422, Aug. 2004.

[2.15] H. M. Oliveira and L.V. Melo, "Huygens synchronization of two clocks," Sci. Rep. 5, 11548; doi: 10.1038/srep11548 (2015).

[2.16] B. Razavi, RF Microelectronics, Second Edition. Pearson Education, Inc. publishing as Prentice Hall, 2012.

[2.17] S.D. Toso, A. Bevilacqua, M. Tiebout, "A 0.06 mm² 11 mW Local Oscillator for the GSM Standard in 65 nm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no.7, pp. 1295–1304, Jul. 2010.

[2.18] E. Hegazi, H. Sjoland, A.A. Abidi, "A Filtering Technique to Lower LC Oscillator Phase Noise," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1921 – 1930, Dec. 2002.

[2.19] C. Samori, A.L. Lacaita, F. Villa, F, Zappa, "Spectrum Folding and Phase Noise in LC tuned Oscillators", IEEE *Tran. Circuits and Systems, II*, vol.45, pp. 781–791, July 1998.

[2.20] T. Soorpanth, C.P. Yue, D.K. Shaeffer, T. Lee, S. Wong, "Analysis and Optimization of Accumulation-mode Varactor for RF ICs," IEEE Symp. on VLSI circuits Digest of Technical papers, pp 32–33, 1998.

[2.21] J.R. Long, M.A. Copeland, "The Modeling, Characterization, and Design of Monolithic Inductors for silicon RF IC's," IEEE *J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 357 – 369, Mar. 1997.

[2.22] J.J. Rael, A.A. Abidi, "Physical Processes of Phase Noise in differential LC oscillators," IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference, pp. 569-572, May 2000.

[2.23] E.B. Rosa, "The Self and Mutual Inductances of Linear Conductors," Bulletin of the Bureau of Standards, vol. 4, no. 2, Sept. 1907.

[2.24] H. M. Greenhouse, "Design of planar rectangular microelectronic inductors," IEEE Trans. Parts, Hybrids and Packaging, vol. PHP-10, no. 2, pp. 101–109, June 1974.

[2.25] F.W. Grover, "Formulas and Tables for the Calculation of the Inductance of Coils of Polygon Form," Scientific papers of the Bureau of Standards, Aug. 1922.

[2.26] J.R. Long, Advanced RF implementation flow, IDESA course slides.

[2.27] D.B. Leeson, "A simple Model of Feedback Oscillator Noise Spectrum," in Proc. IEEE, vol. 54, pp. 329–330, Feb. 1966.

[2.28] J. Craninckx, M. Steyaert, "Low-noise voltage-controlled oscillators using enhanced LC-tanks," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and* Syslems *II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp 794-804, 1995.

[2.29] Thomas Lee and Ali Hajmiri, "Oscillator Phase Noise: A Tutorial," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, no.3, pp. 326–336, Mar. 2000.

[2.30] T. Wu, U-K. Moon, K. Mayaram, "Dependence of LC VCO Oscillation Frequency on Bias Current," IEEE Symp. on circuits and systems, pp 5039–5042, 2006.

[2.31] J. Groszkowski, "The Interdependence of Frequency Variation and Harmonic Content, and the problem of Constant-Frequency Oscillators," *Proc. of the IRE*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp 958-981, 1934.

[2.32] P. Andreani, X. Wang, L. Vandi, A. Fard, "A Study of Phase Noise in Colpitts and LC-Tank Oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 1107 – 1118, May. 2005.

[2.33] E. Hafner, "The effects of noise in oscillators," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 54, no.2, p. 179, February 1966.

[2.34] K. Kurokawa, "Noise in synchronized oscillators," *IEEE Trans.Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. MTT-16, pp. 234–240, Apr., 1968.

[2.35] A. Hajimiri, T. Lee, "A General Theory of Phase Noise in Electrical Oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 2, Feb. 1998.

[2.36] A. Demir, A. Mehrotra, J. Roychowdhury, "Phase Noise in Oscillators: A Unifying Theory and Numerical Methods for Characterization", IEEE *Trans.Circuits Syst. I, Fundam. Theory Appl.*, vol. 47, no.5, pp. 655–674, May 2000.

[2.37] F.X. Kaertner, "Determination of the Correlation Spectrum of Oscillators with Low Noise," IEEE *Trans. Microw.Theory Tech.*, vol.37, no.1, pp. 90–101, Jan.

1989.

[2.38] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Low Phase Noise Oscillator Principled on Transformer-Coupled Hard Limiting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no.2, pp. 373–383, Feb. 2014.

[2.39] P. Andreani, X. Wang, "On the Phase-Noise and Phase-Error performance of multi-phase LC CMOS VCOs," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, no.11, pp. 1883–1893, Nov. 2004.

[2.40] C.J.M. Verhoeven, A. van Staveren, G.L.E. Monna, M.H.L. Kouwenhoven,E. Yildiz, Structured Electronics Design, Negative Feedback Amplifiers, Springer 2003.

[2.41] H. Darabi, A.A. Abidi, "Noise in RF-CMOS Mixers: A Simple Physical Model," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, no.1, Jan. 2000.

[2.42] L.W. Couch, Digital and Analog Communication Systems, Fourth Edition, New York: Macmillan Co., 1993.

Chapter 3 – Injection-locked FM demodulation

This chapter describes the design and operation of the FM demodulator and its subblocks developed for wideband operation between 2-10 GHz at IF. The transmission of an FM signal through an injection-locked oscillator and division of FM deviation are explained analytically and verified via simulations that show translation of Bessel function coefficients at the output of the locked-in oscillator. Expressions for time instantaneous I/Q signals and the demodulator's output characteristic are developed that verify wideband operation.

3.1 Demodulator overview

Injection-locked ring oscillators (ILOs) perform frequency division, and multi-phase signal injection is known to widen the locking range of these dividers [3.1]. Four-stage oscillators requiring anti-phase signals fit seamlessly into differential circuit chains, and inductorless implementations are widely used for quadrature-phased frequency division of an LO signal. These circuits are inherently compact in die area, require a lower input drive compared to dynamic CMOS frequency dividers (e.g., [3.2]), and can operate across nearly two octaves in the low-GHz region [3.3], [3.4]. Since the output discharges entirely during each cycle, the oscillator doesn't retain information from the previous cycle and is memoryless. This allows the oscillator to lock to a wide range of input frequencies (compared to tuned oscillators [3.5]), and track the modulation of a wideband FM signal with ease. The remarkable ability of these circuits to lock to FM signals and divide the frequency is the subject of this study. It has remained an unexplored circuit technique for wideband demodulation.

It is important to note that while the locked-in oscillator reduces FM deviation by virtue of division, the modulation frequency remains unaltered. This effect was observed by Beers in 1944 [3.6], and is studied in detail in this chapter. The operating bandwidth is therefore reduced by the division factor (assumed to be 4 here), which eases the bandwidth/power consumption trade-off in the stages that follow. Time-instantaneous quadrature signals produced by the locked-in ring can be



Fig. 3.1: Block diagram of the injection-locked, wideband IF demodulator developed in this work.

utilized for FM detection, thereby avoiding the need for wideband, true-time delays, and complex frequency plans for quadrature-phase generation. Other benefits of this approach to demodulation are: 1) data-rate independent power consumption, 2) wideband operation, 3) insensitivity to noise and additive amplitude modulation of the input RF, 4) a requirement for low distortion is not imposed on the IF amplifier, and 5) operation of the ring-oscillator at 1/4th the intermediate frequency enables a higher IF and a lower fractional bandwidth. The minimum signal amplitude required for injection locking, and its susceptibility to in-band interferers are alleviated by applying the technique at IF rather than RF, because potential blockers can be filtered by the preceding stages. A wideband IF pre-amplifier is required in the chain (Fig. 1a), which is not implemented in the 65-nm CMOS prototype demodulator developed in this work.

Fig. 3.1 shows a block diagram of the proposed IF demodulator for the heterodyne receiver of Fig. 1.1b. Quadrature outputs from the injection-locked input stage are interfaced through buffers $A_{1,2}$ to a Gilbert mixer. The power consumption of the interface buffers and the mixer are reduced considerably by the rail-to-rail output provided by the ring oscillator, and reduction of the signal bandwidth by FM division (illustrated in Fig. 3.1). The low-frequency demodulated output from the mixer is buffered for 50- Ω measurement using a differential class-AB operational amplifier developed in this thesis [3.7] that is configured in shunt feedback.



Fig. 3.2: (a) Injection-locked, four-stage ring oscillator, (b) implementation of each stage.

3.2 Locked-in oscillator design and operation

The four-stage ring oscillator shown in Fig. 3.2a constitutes the input stage. It is differentially injection locked to the wideband input signal through gain stages M_{Cl-4} . Each stage consists of a differential pair loaded by a cross-coupled PMOS pair (shown in Fig. 3.2b), which provides local positive feedback to ensure that the outputs charge and discharge rapidly. Cross-coupled transistors $M_{5.6}$ (controlled by V_b) provide additional regenerative gain in case of start-up failure. A frequency tuning range from 0.8–1.9 GHz is implemented via a variable resistor at the tail node, where M_7 is operated in triode and controlled by V_{tune} . The oscillator stages draw between 350 and 500 μ A, depending on V_{tune} . The DC voltage V_{CM} (Fig. 3.2a) ensures that transistors M_{Cl-4} operate in saturation, and provide sufficient gain to prevent the oscillator from falling out of lock and distorting the demodulated waveform. Its optimal value cannot be determined *a priori* and is therefore obtained iteratively. All measurements have been performed with V_{CM} and V_b set to 0.6 V and 0 V, respectively ($V_{DD} = 1.2$ V).

Fig. 3.3 shows the large-signal operation of one of the stages, and the associated voltage and current waveforms. The triode resistance of M_7 is shown as ' \underline{R}_{ss} ' Fig. 3.2b. Consider node 'x' and voltage v_x in Fig. 3.3a. The impulse-like discharge current sunk by M_1 is sourced by transistor M₃, after which it cuts-off (annotated in Fig. 3.3c as ' i_{M3-1} '). The peak output swing appears across the drain-source of M_{C1} , which operates in saturation conducting a DC current (I_Q) sourced by M_4 and sunk



Fig. 3.3: Single-stage circuit during large signal operation. (a) M_3 and M_2 are cut-off, and current flows from node y to x, (b) M_1 and M_4 are cut-off, and current flows from node x to y, (c) an illustration showing current waveforms during large-signal operation.

by M_1 , noted as I_{M4} in Figs. 3.3a & 3.3c. Voltage V_{CM} biasing the gate of M_{C1} determines I_Q , and the Q-point transconductance of M_{C1} . In the second half of the cycle, node 'y' is discharged via M_2 (' i_{M4-2} ' in Fig.3.3c), resulting in a swap of drain and source terminals for M_{C1} . Transistor M_{C1} conducts I_Q sourced by M_3 (now biased on) and sunk by M_2 - noted as ' I_{M3} ' in Figs. 3.3b & 3.3c. The drain-source overdrive (of M_{1-4}) required to conduct the steady-state value of I_Q determines the peak-to-peak swing at nodes 'x' and 'y', i.e., v_x and v_y .

When an AC signal rides the bias voltage at the gate of the coupling transistors (e.g., M_{Cl}), it drives a signal current into the oscillator loop, which drops across triode impedances loading its drain/source terminals (e.g., nodes 'x' and 'y'). The resulting envelope (see Fig. 3.4) on the output triggers the charging and discharging of the subsequent stage, and thereby draws the oscillator into lock. The envelope signal is eliminated by hard-limiting interface buffers. Fig. 3.4 shows the simulated time-domain response of the oscillator ($f_0 = 1.88$ GHz, $V_{CM} = 0.6$ V) when 100-mV_{pp} locking signals with static frequencies of 7 and 9 GHz, respectively, are applied at a time of 100 ns. Due to the absence of memory in the loop, the oscillator locks to the frequency tones at wide offsets from its free-running frequency almost instantaneously (2 cycles in this example), suggesting the ability to lock binary FSK at rates in the gigabit-per-second range. The binary FSK modulation rate is typically orders of magnitude below the carrier (f_c), and does not affect the tracking ability of



Fig. 3.4: Simulated locking response for f_{inj} of 9 and 7 GHz applied at 100 ns (a) timedomain simulation of the output voltage, and (b) instantaneous frequency vs. time.

the locked-in ring oscillator. Simulations suggest that the demodulator detects FM coherently when the carrier is typically one order of magnitude higher in frequency than the modulating signal. This limits the maximum data-rate to ~400 Mbps at the 2 GHz band edge, and ~2 Gbit/s between 8 and 10 GHz.

3.2.1 Transformation of the FM Modulation Index

It was shown in Section 2.1 that Bessel function coefficients (BFCs) fingerprint the signal spectrum at offsets from the carrier frequency for a given FM modulation index. These are evaluated via simulation of the locked-in oscillator to verify the FM transmission characteristics predicted by the analytical form of the expected output. A typical FM signal modulated by a single tone $\cos \omega_n t$, is given by eqn. 2.5:

$$v_{FM}(t) = X_0 \cos[3.\omega_C t + \beta \sin(\omega_m t)].$$
(3.1)

From eqn. 2.4, the ratio $\Delta \omega / \omega_c$ is the deviation ratio $-D_r$, and twice its value is the signal's fractional bandwidth. When an FM signal is passed through a factor '*n*' frequency divider, the resulting division of FM deviation and the carrier frequency is obtained by dividing V_{FM}(t) from eqn. 3.1 by '*n*':

$$v_o(t) = X_c \cos\left[\frac{\omega_c}{n}t + \frac{\beta}{n}\sin(\omega_m t)\right],$$
(3.2)



Fig. 3.5: Transformation of modulation index. (a) Input $80mV_{pp}$ FM signal with f_c = 5 GHz, f_m = 100 MHz and β =4, and (b) differential output of the locked-in oscillator. FM deviation is divided by 4, and the input β of 4 is translated to 1.

where X_c is the signal amplitude at the oscillator's output. A key observation from eqn. 3.2 is that the division of FM deviation is brought about by the transformation of the modulation index (now β/n), and the retention of the modulating signal. This is confirmed via Spectre-RFTM simulation of the locked-in oscillator. Fig. 3.5 shows a simulation example of division of FM deviation. The 80 mV_{pp} input FM signal applied to the oscillator shown in Fig. 3.5a has $f_c = 5$ GHz, $f_m = 100$ MHz, and $\beta = 4$. The BFCs for modulation indices of 1, 0.25 and 4 are listed in Table 4.1 (Chapter 4, Section 4.3), along with their ratio with the carrier-specific coefficient, J_0 . The spectrum of the differential voltage at the output of the locked-in oscillator is shown in Fig. 3.5b, and the inset zooms in on the X-axis around the scaled-down carrier of 1.25 GHz. It is seen that the offset tones normalized to the carrier tone in Fig. 3.5b agree well with the theoretical values listen in Table 4.1. The harmonics seen in Fig. 3.5b are characteristic of FM distortion, where the deviation around harmonics of the carrier increases by a factor equal to the harmonic in question. Experimental results that validate theory and simulation are presented in Chapter 4.

3.2.2 Quadrature Signals and FM Demodulation

Generally, envelope detection of the derivative of an FM signal accomplishes FM demodulation [3.8]. Both filter-domain (e.g, [3.9], [3.10]), and delay-line implementations (e.g., [3.11], [3.12], [3.13]) comprised of differentiators, are band-

limited to a narrow window in frequency where the phase gradient $(d\phi/df)$ of the central passive network remains constant. For wideband operation, the realization of a controllable pure time delay entails complexity that often results in relatively high power consumption and large chip area [3.14], [3.15], [3.16]. It will be shown that the quadrature-phased outputs inherent to the locked-in ring oscillator simplify demodulation by circumventing the need for an auxiliary wideband true-time delay. In this section, a simple analytical prediction of the locked-in oscillator's quadrature-path delay is verified via simulation. It is then used to derive the demodulator's wideband characteristic. Under perfect lock, the Q and I signals (see Fig. 3.2a) are expected to be shifted in time by one-fourth of the instantaneous time period. For the FM input signal represented by eqn. 3.1 and the output of the locked-in oscillator represented by eqn. 3.2, the I and Q signals may be written as:

$$v_{FM_I}(t) = X_c \cos\left[\frac{\omega_c}{n}t + \frac{\beta}{n}\sin(\omega_m t)\right] = X_c \cos[\omega_c't + \beta'\sin(\omega_m t)], \qquad (3.3)$$

$$v_{FM_Q}(t) = X_c cos[\omega'_c(t - \tau_d(t)) + \beta' \sin\{\omega_m(t - \tau_d(t))\}], \qquad (3.4)$$

where ω'_c , and β' are the scaled down carrier frequency and modulation index, respectively. The delay between the two branches, τ_d , determines the demodulator characteristic, and is calculated using $\omega(t)$ defined by eqn. 2.2. It can be expressed as the sum of a fixed delay at f_c , and a time-varying function of the modulating signal:

$$\tau_{d}(t) = \frac{2\pi}{4\omega(t)} = \frac{1}{4} \left[\frac{1}{\{\beta' f_{m} \cos(\omega_{m}t) + f_{c}'\}} \right],$$

$$\tau_{d}(t) = \frac{1}{4f_{c}'} \left[1 + \frac{-\cos(\omega_{m}t)}{\{\cos(\omega_{m}t) + 1/D_{r}\}} \right].$$
(3.5)

The ring oscillator's output interface consists of a series of hard-limiting inverters (Fig. 3.1) switching between 0 and V_{DD} . In the midst of harmonics that comprise the square wave, the frequency modulation is 'sampled' at the zero crossings of the hard-limited FM signal. Fig. 3.6 shows a Spectre-RFTM simulation of the voltages on the Q and I branches of the locked oscillator. The input signal has $f_c = 5$ GHz, $f_m = 100$ MHz, $\beta = 25$, $\Delta f = 2.5$ GHz, and fractional bandwidth $\Delta f/f_c$ equals 1. The delay



Fig. 3.6: Simulated transient I and Q signals and the delay between their zero-crossings for a fractional bandwidth $\Delta f/f_c = 1$, $f_c = 5$ GHz, $f_m = 100$ MHz, $\beta = 25$.



Fig. 3.7: Simulated delay between the Q and I signal paths recorded at zero-crossings, compared to the delay predicted by eqn. 3.6 for (a) $f_c = 5$ GHz, $f_m = 100$ MHz, and $\beta = 25$, and (b) $f_c = 8$ GHz, $f_m = 250$ MHz, and FM deviation of 1 GHz ($\beta = 4$).

between the zero-crossings of the Q and I signals is also plotted on Fig. 3.6 against the right-hand Y-ordinate. The delay predicted by eqn. 3.5 compares well with simulation, as seen from their comparison in Fig. 3.7a. A superposition of theoretical and simulated delay for a lower modulation index ($\beta = 4$) where $f_c = 8$ GHz, $f_m = 250$ MHz and $\Delta f/f_c$ equals 0.25 is shown in Fig. 3.7b. A theoretical minimum ratio of ω_c/ω_m of 8 is reached when applying Shannon's sampling limit to the scaling down of f_c by a factor of 4. The Gilbert mixer driven by large signals at either port behaves like a phase detector. Its low-pass-filtered output current that describes the FM demodulator's characteristic is proportional to the difference between the phases of eqns. 3.3 and 3.4, and may be expressed as [3.8], [3.17]:

$$i_0(t) \alpha \left[\omega'_c \tau_d(t) + \beta' \{ \sin(\omega_m t) - \sin(\omega_m (t - \tau_d(t))) \} \right].$$

$$(3.6)$$

Evaluating eqn. 3.6 for the limit $\tau_d \rightarrow 0$ (assuming $\omega_c \gg \omega_m$ and that τ_d equals $\pi/2\omega_c$) and using the simplification used in [3.18] for the evaluation of delay-line demodulators, results in an approximation that sheds light on the recovery of the modulating signal:

$$\lim_{\tau_d \to 0} i_0(t) = \beta' \tau_d \frac{\left[\sin(\omega_m t) - \sin(\omega_m (t - \tau_d))\right]}{\tau_d},$$

$$\lim_{\tau_d \to 0} i_0(t) = \beta' \tau_d \frac{d(\sin(\omega_m t))}{dt} = \frac{\pi}{2} D_r \cos(\omega_m t).$$
(3.7)

Eqn. 3.7 predicts undistorted detection of the modulating signal. However,

Fourier coefficients of eqn. 3.6 depend on ω_m and the deviation ratio, D_r . The normalized form of $i_0(t)$ from eqn. 3.6 is simulated using MatlabTM to evaluate the output characteristic and baseband distortion assuming a constant of proportionality equal to one. The delay, τ_d , is described by eqn. 3.5. Harmonic distortion components (HD₂ – HD₅) are plotted in Fig. 3.8 for a 5-GHz carrier modulated at 10 and 250 MHz. Baseband distortion increases with D_r , resulting in stringent filtering requirements.

However, in the case of FSK demodulation, the data can be reconstructed easily via hard-limiting inverter stages. The demodulator's characteristic obtained from SpectreTM simulation of the entire circuit (i.e., components of Fig. 3.1) is shown in



Fig. 3.8: Harmonic distortion of eqn. 3.6 versus deviation ratio for f_m equal to 1 and 250 MHz, and f_c equal to 5 GHz.

Fig. 3.9. The normalized fundamental component of the mixer's output current is plotted against D_r , and compared to the normalized theoretical prediction from eqn. 3.6. A good correlation is seen between theory and simulation, while the demodulator's wideband capabilities are clearly visible, as the mixer's output current varies almost linearly even as the fractional bandwidth approaches unity. Characterization data for the demodulator prototyped in 65-nm CMOS is presented in Chapter 4.



Fig. 3.9: Normalized plot of the mixer's fundamental output current component vs. deviation ratio, for $f_c = 5$ GHz and $f_m = 10$ MHz, compared to the characteristic predicted by eqn. 3.6.

3.3 A comparative view on demodulator non-linearity

FM discrimination is a non-linear process. In ideal delay-line demodulators the modulation is recovered in the form of signal phase, which leads to odd harmonics as shown by Gerrits in [3.18]. The third harmonic distortion (HD₃) can be as high as -18dB for a deviation ratio of 0.5, and this does not include any non-ideality in the magnitude and phase response of a practical filter. It is further shown in [3.18] that an offset in the transmit and demodulator center frequencies in such a system increases even-order distortion. This can be as high as a second-harmonic distortion component (HD₂) of -7 dB, and HD₃ of -21 dB for a deviation ratio of 0.25.

A more realistic derivation for transfer characteristic is presented in the widely used classical demodulator described by Bilotti in [3.19] and uses a 90-degree phase shift filter. This demodulator is implemented in [3.20] for wideband demodulation at 1 Gbps at IF. The transfer characteristic of the demodulator using a second-order LC phase-shift filter (with a selectivity Q and 90-degree phase shift at the carrier frequency) derived in [3.19] is subject to a narrowband approximation of phase and magnitude response. The result shows a characteristic independent of modulation rate and carrier frequency. The normalized output current varies as function of the frequency offset according to the relation:

$$I_0 = \frac{2a}{1+a^2}, \text{ where } a = 2QD_r.$$
(3.8)

Bilotti in [3.19] shows excellent correlation between measurement and theory for variations in '*a*' from -4 to +4. The symmetric transfer function supplies odd harmonics. For a best case example, a filter Q-factor of 10 whose response lies on the borderline acceptance of approximations leading to eqn. 3.8 is considered. The harmonic distortion components at the demodulator's output for sinusoidal modulation are calculated using MatlabTM and listed below in Table 3.1.

The wideband limitation of this traditional demodulator can be gauged by the increased distortion. It is important to note that the demodulator distortion obtained from eqn. 3.6 captures the exact cycle-to-cycle variation of the delay, τ_d , as function of modulation rate and carrier frequency, and is not subject to approximation. The

D_r	а	HD_3	HD_5	HD ₇	HD ₉	THD
		[dB]	[dB]	[dB]	[dB]	[dB]
0.05	[-1,1]	-16	-31	-46		-13.95
0.10	[-2,2]	-8	-16	-26	-33	-4.03

Table 3.1: HD components of an LC phase-shift demodulator (eqn. 3.8)

Table 3.2: HD components of the locked-in demod. at 250MHz (Fig.3.8/eqn 3.6)

Dr	THD
0.25	-12.5
0.4	-6.5
0.5	-4.5

THD of the injection-locked demodulator for the more distorted 250-MHz data-rate case shown in Fig. 3.8 is listed table 3.2. When compared to the LC phase-shift based demodulator, the presented injection-locked demodulator shows a times-5 increment on the operating deviation ratio (and bandwidth) for the same distortion when compared to a scenario where the phase-shift demodulator marginally enters its non-linear regime; i.e., where $a \in [-2,2]$. More importantly, in a practical wideband RF/IF scenario, when compared to the phase-shift demodulator operation in its linear region described within the bounds $a \in [-1,1]$, the FM deviation covered by the injection locking prototype, for the same distortion, is also 5-times more (see D_r of 0.05 vs. 0.25), with a THD of -13 dB.

In terms of distortion, the performance of the locked-in demodulator over a wide bandwidth is as good as the LC phase-shift demodulator's performance over a narrow bandwidth. It is however true that distortion of the locked-in demodulator is lower at lower FM bandwidths, which is the case with any demodulator. For FSK demodulators the data can easily be reconstructed via hard limiting through inverter stages, and may therefore not be a critical problem to address.

3.4 Folded Gilbert mixer and interface buffers

Mixers operating from low supply voltages encounter headroom limitations, and the tail current source is often sacrificed at the expense of bias regulation and common-



Fig. 3.10: The folded CMOS Gilbert mixer.

mode performance. The folded implementation of the 4-quadrant Gilbert mixer (shown in Fig. 3.10) uses complimentary transistors at its ports that allow accurate bias regulation, while the fully-balanced implementation minimizes feedthrough. The switching quad consists of NMOS transistors M_{1-4} , while PMOS transistors $M_{5,6}$ form the RF port. The PMOS device widths are twice that of the NMOS quad to ensure equal input loading. The injection-locked stage provides a rail-to-rail swing that allows the mixer to be designed for low power consumption. Current source I_2 biases transistors $M_{5,6}$, and the DC current difference between I_1 and I_2 is equally distributed between transistors M_{1-4} of the switching quad. This allows accurate bias control to tailor the current in the RF and quad transistors for large-signal drive at either port, where it operates as a phase detector [3.21]. Measurements are made with I_1 varied between 125 and 600 μ A, while maintaining 25 μ A in each of transistors $M_{1.4}$. The simulated common-mode suppression from 0.5 to 2.5 GHz (since the 2-10 GHz input is divided by four) varies from 40-50 dB at either port. The mixer conversion gain is limited by the output impedance of tail current sources $M_{7,8,9}$, which is improved using 75- Ω degeneration resistance at each source node.


Fig. 3.11: Interface amplifiers.

The DC bias voltage at the output is set using common-mode feedback (CMFB). The CMFB amplifier is a standard NMOS folded-cascode amplifier that consumes 30 μ A. The compensation capacitance (C_c) stabilizes the CMFB loop, while the minimum current to ensure a stable CMFB loop is 25 μ A in each of transistors M₁₋₄.Interface buffers $A_{1,2}$ (Fig. 3.1) are shown in Fig. 3.11. They consist of a 3-inverter cascade. Cross-coupling inverters between the paths preserve the desired 180° phase difference. The output DC is set to mid-supply using a resistive divider, and the inter-stage coupling network has a 40-MHz high-pass cut-off frequency that does not attenuate the propagating signal.

3.5 Summary

In this chapter the design and operation of the injection-locked, wideband demodulator and its circuit blocks were described. Analysis of Bessel-function coefficients establishes transmission characteristics of an FM signal through an injection locked oscillator. Division of FM deviation is verified via simulations, confirming the theory developed in this chapter. Expressions for time instantaneous I/Q-phases and the demodulator's output characteristic were developed that verify wideband operation. Extensive experimental characterization of the wideband demodulator prototyped in 65-nm CMOS is presented in the next chapter.

References:

[3.1] A. Mirzaei, M.E. Heidari, R. Bagheri, A.A. Abidi, "Multi-Phase Injection Widens Lock Range of Ring-Oscillator-Based Frequency Dividers," *IEEE J. Solid*-

State Circuits, vol. 43, no.3, pp. 656–671, Mar. 2008.

[3.2] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Low Phase Noise Oscillator Principled on Transformer-Coupled Hard Limiting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no.2, pp. 373–383, Feb. 2014.

[3.3] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, "Injection-locked wideband FM demodulation at IF," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no.2, pp. 327–343, Feb 2017.

[3.4] S.D. Toso, A. Bevilacqua, M. Tiebout, "A 0.06 mm² 11 mW Local Oscillator for the GSM Standard in 65 nm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no.7, pp. 1295–1304, Jul. 2010.

[3.5] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, A. Akhnoukh, "Fine frequency tuning using injection-control in a 1.2V 65nm CMOS quadrature oscillator," in Proc. IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium 2012, pp. 293–296.

[3.6] G.L. Beers, "A Frequency-Dividing Locked-in Oscillator Frequency-Modulation Receiver," Proceedings of the I.R.E, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 730–737, Dec. 1944.

[3.7] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, R.B. Staszewski, "A 1.2V 110-MHz-UGB differential class-AB amplifier in 65nm CMOS," Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Sep. 2014.

[3.8] K.K. Clarke, D.T. Hess, Communication Circuits: Analysis and Design Reading, Massachusetts, USA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1971.

[3.9] A. Natarajan, S.K. Reynolds, et al., "A Fully-Integrated 16- Element Phased-Array Receiver in SiGe BiCMOS for 60GHz Communications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no.5, pp. 1059–1075, May 2011.

[3.10] H. Dorabi, S. Khorram, B. Ibrahim, M. Rofougaran, A. Rofougaran, "An IF FSK Demodulator for Bluetooth in 0.35 um CMOS," Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), May. 2001.

[3.11] K. Hong-Sing, Y. Ming-Jen, and L. Tai-Cheng, "A delay-line-based GFSK demodulator for low-IF receivers," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. Dig. Papers, 2007, pp. 88–89.

[3.12] J. Bae, K. Song, H. Lee, et. al, "A 0.24nJ/b Wireless Body-Area-Network Transceiver with Scalable Double-FSK Modulation," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. Dig. Papers, 2011, pp. 34–35.

[3.13] D. E. Foster and S. W. Seeley, "Automatic tuning, simplified circuits, and design practice," Proc. IRE, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 289–313, Mar. 1937.

[3.14] N. Rajesh, S. Pavan, "Design of Lumped-Component Programmable Delay Elements for Ultra-Wideband Beamforming," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no.9, pp. 1800–1814, Aug 2014.

[3.15] S. Garakoui, E. Klumperink, B. Nauta, and F. Van Vliet, "A 1-to-2.5 GHz phased-array IC based on GM-RC all-pass time-delay cells," in IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers, San Francisco, CA, Feb. 19–23, 2012, pp. 80–82.

[3.16] S.M. Kashmiri, S.A.P. Haddad, W.A. Serdijn, "High-Performance Analog Delays: Surpassing Bessel-Thomson by Pade-approximated Gaussians," Proceedings of International Symposium on circuits and Systems 2006, pp. 2349–2352.

[3.17] A. Bilotti, "Applications of a monolithic analog multiplier," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 3, no.4, pp. 373–380, Dec. 1968.

[3.18] John F.M. Gerrits, M.H.L. Kouwenhoven, P.R. van der Meer, J.R. Farserotu, J.R. Long, "Principles and Limitations of Ultra-Wideband FM Communications Systems," Eurasip Journal of Applied Signal Processing, pg. 382 – 396, 2005.

[3.19] A. Bilotti, "FM Detection Using a Product Detector", Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 56, no. 4, April 1968.

[3.20] A. Valdes-Garcia, S. Reynolds and T. Beukema, "Multi-mode modulator and frequency demodulator circuits for Gb/s data rate 60 GHz wireless transceivers", IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf. 2007.

[3.21] B. Razavi, RF Microelectronics. Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall, 1998.

Chapter 4 – Experimental characterization of the FM demodulator

Extensive laboratory-measurements characterizing the IF demodulator prototyped in 65-nm CMOS are detailed in this chapter. Stand-alone characterization of the four-stage ring oscillator and its response to external noise and FM, along are also described and discussed. The chapter ends with a summary of the work and conclusions drawn from it.

4.1 Demodulator characterization

A micrograph of the $624 \times 277 \cdot \mu m^2$ demodulator prototype (core area) implemented in 65-nm CMOS is shown in Fig. 4.1a. The chip is mounted on a custom test board (PCB) for measurement. All bias nodes and the output are wire-bonded to the PCB, while the RF input is probed on-die. Fig. 4.1b shows a micrograph of the ring oscillator characterized stand-alone.

Measured spectra of the oscillator at band edges of 900 MHz (-13.4 dBm output) and 1.8 GHz (-14.8 dBm output) are shown in Fig. 4.2. The ring oscillator has a free-running tuning range of 67% centered at 1.35 GHz.

The 2-10 GHz input bandwidth has been measured in sub-bands of 1 GHz (see setup in Fig. 4.3a). National Instruments arbitrary-waveform generator cards synthesize



Fig. 4.1: 65nm CMOS chip micrograph of: (a) the IF demodulator with $624 \times 277 \ \mu m^2$ core area, and (b) the stand-alone injection-locking oscillator.



Fig. 4.2: Frequency spectra of the free-running oscillators at band edges (a) 900MHz and (b) 1.8 GHz. The tuning range is 900 MHz centered at 1.35 GHz (i.e., 66.7%).

linearly-modulated analog FM signals of 1 GHz bandwidth that drive (off-chip) up-conversion I/Q modulators to produce a wideband signal at the desired f_c . Programmable DC-offset correction and I/Q-phase correction minimizes carrier feedthrough and power in the image band, respectively. The digital modulation frequency range of the AWG is 200 kbps to 2 Mbps.

The measurement set-up shown in Fig. 4.3b combines noise and the input signal. Attenuators in both signal paths provide gain control, and a bandpass filter sets the noise bandwidth to 4.34-6.75 GHz (insertion loss <3 dB). Signal and noise power is measured at reference plane 'Y' (i.e., the probe head) using the HP-E4419A power meter and calibrated sensor head.

A 1-GHz bandwidth analog FM signal applied to the demodulator input is divided down by a factor of 4 to 250 MHz. For example, the 4-5 GHz bandwidth input signal of Fig. 4.4a is reduced to 1-1.25 GHz at the output of the locked-in oscillator (Fig. 4.4b). Fig. 4.4b shows the spectrum over a frequency range wide enough to include FM harmonics. The suppression of harmonics is better than 20 dB, which indicates that the oscillator is operating within its locking range. As seen from the measured output on Fig. 4.4b, the bandwidths of FM harmonics scale with the harmonic in question (as predicted in Section 3.2.1).



Fig. 4.3: Block diagram of (a) the wideband FM source set-up, and (b) set-up for injection locking and noise analysis.



Fig. 4.4: Division of FM deviation. (a) 4–5 GHz bandwidth input FM, (b) Input bandwidth is divided down by a factor of 4 (1.00–1.25 GHz).

The measured division of FM deviation and translation of modulation index predicted by theory and simulation are compared in Figs. 4.5 & 4.6. The FM input is generated by modulating a wideband VCO [Hittite HMC586LC4B] using a laboratory signal source as shown in Fig. 4.3b. The 4-8 GHz VCO has a near-constant sensitivity of ~0.4 GHz/V between 4.5 to 6 GHz. Figs. 4.5a shows the measured input waveform (simulated in Fig. 3.5) for a $f_c = 5$ -GHz, $f_m = 100$ MHz and β =4. Fig. 4.5b shows the spectrum of the fundamental FM output. The modulation index and bandwidth scale by a factor of 4 as predicted by theory. The experiment was repeated with a distorted input generated using overdriven back-toback ZRON-8G amps. The unaltered output confirms a low distortion requirement is not imposed on the IF amplifier.



Fig. 4.5: Measured verification of theory and simulation predicting scaling of modulation index (a) Spectrum of the input signal used for simulation in Fig. 3.5, generated and applied to the oscillator $f_c = 5$ GHz, $f_m = 100$ MHz, $\beta = 4$. (b) BFC scaling at the divided fundamental output having $\beta = 1$ confirms theory.



Fig. 4.6: Measured verification of division of modulation index for higher modulation rate. (a) Wideband FM input, $f_c = 5$ GHz, $f_m = 400$ MHz, $\beta = 1$, (b) BFC scaling at the divided fundamental output having $\beta = 0.25$.

Verification of the scaling of the modulation index at higher modulation rates is shown in Fig. 4.6, where a 7.5-GHz carrier is modulated at 400 MHz. The modulation index of 1 is scaled at the output to 0.25. The input impedance at the tuning port of the off-chip Hittite VCO limits the FM index, β , to less than 0.3 for modulating frequencies > 450 MHz. BFC ratios obtained from the spectra in Fig. 4.5 and 4.6 are tabulated in Table 4.1 and show good comparison with theory.

Theory											
β	J_0	J_{l_i}	$J_{2,}$	$J_{3,}$	$J_{4,}$	$J_{5,}$	$J_{6,}$	$J_{7,}$			
		J_0/J_1	$ J_0/J_2 $	$ J_0/J_3 $	$ J_0/J_4 $	$ J_0/J_5 $	J_0/J_6	$ J_0/J_7 $			
0.25	0.9848	0.0077	0.0070								
		18dB	42.1dB								
1	0.765	0.44,	0.1149,	0.0195,							
		4.8dB	16.5dB	31.9dB							
4	-0.40	-0.066,	0.3641,	0.4301,	0.2811,	0.1320,	0.0345,	0.0151,			
		15.58dB	0.75dB	-0.7dB	3dB	9.56dB	21.22dB	28.4dB			
Measurement											
	β	$ J_0/J_1 $	$ J_0/J_2 $	$ J_0/J_3 $	$ J_0/J_4 $	$ J_0/J_5 $	$ J_0/J_6 $	$ J_0/J_7 $			
Fig. 4.5a	4	15.32dB	0.72dB	-0.66dB	2.9dB	9.62dB	19.60dB	29.2dB			
Fig. 4.5b	1	4.82dB	16.82dB	31.64dB							
Fig. 4.6a	1	4.82dB	16.49dB	30.18dB							
Fig. 4.6b	0.25	18.58dB	42.12dB								

Table 4.1: Bessel function coefficients for different modulation indices

The oscillator's locking profile measured with V_{CM} (see Fig. 3.2a) set to 0.6 V is shown in Fig. 4.7, for free-running frequency (f_0) values of 1.25, 1.5, and 1.75 GHz (see test-setup in Fig. 4.3b). For this measurement, the noise source is disconnected. The locking sensitivity is measured at each input frequency, with the oscillator first reset to f_0 . The signal path and source are calibrated for losses and errors, res-



Fig. 4.7: Free-running injection-locking profile measured with the oscillator reset to f_0 each time. Measurement sets at $f_0 = 1.25$, 1.5, 1.75 GHz.



Fig. 4.8: Effect of V_{CM} seen on the locking range and sensitivity of the free-running locking profile.

-pectively. The locking sensitivity reduces as the offset from $4f_0$ increases. However, V_{CM} , can be optimized for gain (i.e., increase current I_Q as described in Section 3.2). The locking range and sensitivity at a given frequency increase with V_{CM} as seen from the measurements in Fig. 4.8. Increasing V_{CM} increases the g_m of the coupling transistors (M_{CI-4} in Fi. 3.2a) resulting in larger signal- injection in the oscillator. The entire 2-10 GHz band can be covered without frequency tuning with V_{CM} set constant at 0.6 V at 400 mV_{p-p} input swing. The locking profiles shown in Figs. 4.7



Fig. 4.9: Demodulated output spectrum (a) 4-5 GHz input modulated by a 2-MHz triangular signal, (b) 2-3 GHz input with 1-MHz modulation.



Fig. 4.10: Oscilloscope capture of the 2-MHz demodulated triangular-wave.



Fig. 4.11: Measured BER for the demodulator at a 10 Mbps data rate versus: (a) input amplitude, (b) Power delivered to $1-k\Omega$ IF impedance.

and 4.8 are measured with the oscillator reset to f_0 after each locking measurement is completed at a particular frequency offset. The demodulated output for the test setup of Fig. 4.3a is shown in Fig. 4.9. The input RF band is 4–5 GHz, V_{CM} is 0.6 V, and f_0 is 1.5 GHz. The modulating signal is set to 2 MHz (limit of the wideband AWG), and a triangular waveshape is used to obtain a flat RF power spectrum. The demodulated output is a differential 1-V_{pp} 2-MHz triangular wave, with a secondharmonic suppression of ~24 dBc (see Fig. 4.9a). The oscilloscope capture of the



Fig. 4.12: Spectrum of the amplified noise-source captured with a 50-MHz resolution bandwidth at reference-plane 'X' in Fig. 17b, shows the variation from an ideal white-noise source (noise-coloring).

demodulated waveform is shown in Fig. 4.10. The output spectrum for the low-band case of 2–3 GHz and $f_m = 1$ MHz is shown in Fig. 4.9b. Note that the output power at frequencies lower than 10 MHz is attenuated by AC coupling at the spectrum analyzer input.

The bit-error-rate (BER) of the demodulator is measured using 3.75 - 6.25 V pulses at a rate of 5 MHz from an HP-3762A data generator. The input stream (PRBS 2^{10} -1) consists of pseudo-random-binary sequences of length equal to 1023 with 1 error-bit per 1000 patterns. The data modulates a Hittite VCO [4.HMC586LC4B] to generate the input FSK signal having a 1-GHz FM bandwidth around a 5-GHz carrier. Figs. 4.11a and 4.11b show the BER versus the input voltage and input power (delivered to 1 k Ω), respectively, measured using an HP-3763A error detector. A back-to-back connection of the data generator and error detector yields a BER of 9.8×10^{-7} . During measurement, the oscillator's f_0 was maintained at 1.25 GHz, and V_{CM} equals 0.62 V. The BER degrades rapidly with decreasing input power since the oscillator's locking-range shrinks for diminishing inputs (Fig. 4.7). The BER measured for a 100-mV_{pp} input signal is 6.8×10^{-6} , and it drops to 1×10^{-3} for a 45-mV_{pp} input.

Fig. 4.12 shows the noise spectrum at plane 'X' on Fig. 4.3b. The filtered noise is



Fig. 4.13: Locking profile measured before and after applying different levels of integrated noise power to the locking signal. The oscillator's f_0 is set mid-band at 5.55 GHz/4. The free-running profile and curve 'a' are shown in mV scale in the inset.

colored (not white with a flat spectral density). Similar to measurements in Figs. 4.7 and 4.8, the curves marked 'free-running' in Fig. 4.13 show the oscillator's locking profile when the noise source is disabled. Each point on the figure is an average of 5 readings. The three measurement sets show a maximum spread of ~7 mV (at 5.2 GHz) and an average spread of ~2.5 mV. Sensitivity of the demodulator is limited by the oscillator's locking behavior in the presence of noise, which is analyzed via measurement. Noise is typically small-signal compared to the signal for BER<10⁻³, and locking is a large-signal process. The evaluation of sensitivity limits requires comparable signal and noise levels (i.e., SNR≈1). Large-signal noise alters the properties of the free-running oscillator and its locking sensitivity. Our experimental study of the oscillator's response to varying noise levels using the test-setup of Fig. 3b (4*f*₀ set mid-band to 5.5 GHz, *V*_{CM} = 0.6V) reveals three distinct modes of operation:

In the first mode, the oscillator is driven by extremely low noise levels (i.e., high SNR). The interconnect losses are compensated using a ZRON-8G amplifier and

trimmed to within 1 dB using attenuators. The integrated noise power (4.33–6.75 GHz) applied at the probe head is measured using the HP-E4419A power meter, and equals -79.4 dBm. The noise induces a small shift in the frequency of oscillation (~kHz range) along with a phase-noise degradation of less than 0.6 dB. The observed frequency shift to a lower value agrees with theoretical predictions of an oscillator's response to white and colored noise [4.1], [4.2], [4.3]. In this mode, the locking sensitivity in the presence of noise does not vary discernibly in comparison with the free-running profile since the SNR remains high. For -79.4 dBm noise, when the oscillator locks, the SNR is ~60 dB at the band-edges and ~40 dB at $4f_0$ (as seen from Fig. 4.13a).

In the second mode, increased input-noise continues to shift the oscillation frequency to a lower value. A measured example is shown in Fig. 4.13, where the black-curve labelled 'a' represents the oscillator's locking profile in the presence of -40.3 dBm of integrated noise. A phase noise degradation of 9 dB and a noise-induced free-running frequency shift of ~6 MHz (24 MHz at $4f_0$) are observed at the output. As a result, the frequency for maximum sensitivity changes compared to the free-running case. The sensitivity change is better visible in the amplitude scale of the inset of Fig. 4.13. Measurements show that the oscillator is capable of locking to negative SNR values (between 5.49 to 5.56 GHz) in the vicinity of its newly established f_0 , as seen from Fig. 4.13. The ability to lock to negative SNR values over a narrow frequency range is characteristic of this mode.

In the third mode, the excess noise destabilizes the oscillator, exciting chaotic behavior. The red curve labeled 'c' in Fig. 4.13 shows the locking profile in this mode when the noise power equals -23.57 dBm. The oscillator can still be locked to an input signal, although at an increased input drive (approx. -15 dBm). The absence of a stable oscillating frequency is reflected in the flat locking profile, along with the inability to lock to negative SNR inputs compared to mode-2. A transitional state between modes-2 and -3 is captured by the blue curve labeled 'b', when the oscillator is driven with -29.58-dBm of integrated noise. The oscillator shows a weak preference for a single frequency compared to mode-1.



Fig. 4.14: Locking sensitivity to modulated signals (horizontal lines) differs from the static locking profile. Effect of data rate on locking signal strength between $f_m = 10$ MHz and 250 MHz is negligible.

The free-running oscillator's static locking profile (Figs. 4.7 and 4.8), does not accurately predict its response to a wideband signal. Fig. 4.14 shows the locking profile obtained from single-tone tests when the oscillator's f_0 is 5.55 GHz/4. Appended to the static profile is the minimum detectable wideband signal level, P_{mds} , for which the oscillator locks to a 4.8-6.3-GHz wideband FM signal having $f_c = 5.55$ GHz, $f_m = 250$ MHz and $\beta = 1$. The power of the wideband signal required



Fig. 4.15: Static locking profile and minimum input power (P_{mds}) for locking to f_c =5.55 GHz f_m =250 MHz and β =1. The integrated noise levels applied are annotated.



Fig. 4.16: Spectra of the locked-in oscillator for varying levels of SNR for a 5.55 GHz input ($f_0 = 1.3875$ GHz). (a) Input signal spectrum ($\beta = 1$, fm = 250 MHz). The output spectra for integrated noise levels of Fig. 26b (b) SNR = -2.18 dB, (c) SNR = +5.95 dB and (d) +8.05 dB.

for locking, is less than what is predicted at the band-edges of the free-running locking profile, and similar for a 10- and 250-MHz modulation rate. Bessel-function transformation at the output characterizes FM-signal transmission through the locked-in ring (see Section 3.2.1), and is used to identify the minimum detectable signal. P_{mds} is measured at reference-plane 'Y' on Fig. 4.3b and is -25.75 dBm.

The input signal (P_{mds} at plane 'Y' in Fig. 4.3b) having $\beta = 1$, and $f_m = 250$ MHz is shown in Fig. 4.16a. The integrated noise levels indicated on Fig. 4.15 are then applied to the input. The integrated noise of -23.57 dBm results in complete loss of lock and the output is shown in Fig. 4.16b. The oscillator begins to partially lock to

the input signal at 6-dB SNR for a -31.7 dBm integrated noise input. This is evident from Fig. 4.16c, where the sideband attenuation corresponds to a modulation index lower than the expected 0.25. A drop in power of the FM sideband spectral tones is indicative that the oscillator has not locked over the entire bandwidth. At 8-dB SNR, the oscillator locks to the entire bandwidth as seen from Fig. 4.16d, with BFCs aligning with those for $\beta = 0.25$. Under the assumption that the oscillator tracks the same FM deviation at the same input drive levels, the SNR sensitivity for a 250-MHz signal can be expected to approximate that of a 500-Mbps signal. With the knowledge that: a) an 8-dB SNR input can be demodulated successfully, and b) the locking amplitude is independent of the modulation rate for $f_c/f_m >10$ (as seen from Fig. 4.14); referencing P_{mds} of -25.75 dBm (32.62 mV_{pp}) against the FSK detection curve of Fig. 4.11a gives an approximate of BER of $10^{-2.25}$ (5.62×10⁻³). Coherent detection of a binary FSK signal with $\beta=1$ has a probability of error P_b that's given by [4.31]:

$$P_b = \frac{1}{2} erfc \left(\frac{SNR}{2}\right)^{0.5} = 6 \times 10^{-3}$$
(12)

For the same SNR, the ball-park estimate for BER of a high-data-rate binary FSK signal using the results in Fig. 4.16d, Fig. 4.15 and Fig. 4.11a shows less than 6.5% deviation from the theoretical estimate for a coherent FSK detector.

During the course of measurements shown in Figs. 4.13-4.16 it was observed that the oscillator consistently returns to its original free-running frequency and phase noise performance upon withdrawal of the external noise and signal stimuli.

Interference in mm-wave links is typically negligible. High antenna directivity enables line-of-sight wireless links, and attenuation due to path-loss reduces any potential interference. The response of the demodulator to in-band and out-of-band interference is studied using the setup shown in Fig. 4.3. The oscillator is tuned to its lower band edge of 900 MHz. In the presence of a wideband input from 2-3 GHz, the power of the interference signal (out-of-band at 1.95 GHz, i.e., 50 MHz spacing from the band-edge, and in-band at $f_c = 2.5$ GHz) is ramped up and sequentially ramped down. Spectrum captures of the wideband input and interference tones (at



Fig. 4.17: Interference tests for a 2-3 GHz FM input (a) out-of-band (1.95 GHz), (b) inband (2.5 GHz). (c) Impact of interference levels on the demodulator, and hysteresis.

reference place 'X' in Fig. 4.3a) are shown in Figs. 4.17a and 4.17b. As the power of the out-of-band interference surpasses the power of the FM spectral tones (by ~5.4 dB) it scrambles the demodulator output, which causes a rapid increase in harmonic content and beat notes. The observations from the experiment are illustrated in Fig. 4.17c. During the ramp's descent, the interferer threshold for restoration of normal operation (noted as P_{th_a}) drops compared to the value in ascent (P_{th_a}). Three important characteristics of the lock-in oscillator's response to interference are observed: 1. the time-based dependence of the response on its previous state reiterates the hysteresis accompanying injection locking that differentiates the oscillator's response to static frequencies and modulation over the same frequency band (Fig. 4.14), and 2. A thresholding effect is observed. Performance of the demodulator degrades rapidly beyond a certain interference level and 3. Similar behavior is observed for in-band and out-of-band interference. The difference observed in this experiment is a ~6-dB lower interference tolerance level (P_{th_a}) and a ~5-dB separation between P_{th_a} and P_{th_a} for the in-band interferer.

4.2 Demodulator performance summary and comparison

Table 4.2 summarizes the performance of IF demodulators based on delay lines [4.7], injection locking [4.8], and phase shift networks [4.9], [4.10]. The IF demodulator developed in this work achieves excellent low-power wideband performance. The QVCO based design in [4.8] has a comparable data-rate capability. However, the narrowband phase linearity of the LC tank load, and limited locking range restrict its narrowband phase linearity of the LC tank load, and limited locking range restrict its wideband performance ($\Delta f/f_c=0.08$). The 7-mW power dissipation accounts only for the demodulator core. The 0.13-µm SiGe demodulator in [4.9] employs an LC phase-shift filter ($\Delta f/f_c=0.22$) that limits sensitivity at wide offsets from the carrier. Large signal drive and high mixer gain in

[4.Ref.]	Tech.	V _{DD} (V)	Mod.	BW (<i>Af</i>) (GHz)	∆f/f _c	Data Rate (Mb/s)	Q _{point} P _{diss.} (mW)	Energy per bit (nJ)	P _{in} at 1e ⁻³ BER (dBm)	Output Power (dBm)
[4.15]	0.18um CMOS	1.8	GFSK	0.44- 0.54	0.2	1	3.6*	3.6	n/a**	n/a
[4.32]	0.13um CMOS	1.2	FM/FSK	19.2- 21.8	0.08	1500	7.2*	0.005	-16	+1
[4.33]	0.13um SiGe	2.7	FSK	8-10	0.22	2000	32.4 ^x	0.016	n/a	+1
[4.34]	0.18um CMOS	1.8	GFSK	.015- .025	0.50	1	12.6 ^x	12.6	n/a**	-13
This work	65nm CMOS	1.2	FM/FSK	2 - 10	1.34	10 800 ⁺	3.2	0.32	-36	+10•

Table 4.2: Performance summary of recently published IF demodulators

*Demod. core power (no IF or baseband amplifier)

** Rail-to-rail input drive

^x Includes IF Limiter but not baseband amplifier

⁺ Stand-alone oscillator characterization for high-data rate inputs

[•]Q-point power diss. does not include power for delivering 10dBm into the 50 Ohm load

wideband operation. In addition, as is the case with the LC delay in [4.7], the variation in magnitude response around the resonant frequency produces baseband distortion and limits [4.9] raises the power consumption to 34 mW. The active Bessel filters based quadrature discriminator in [4.10] shows wideband performance in the MHz range ($\Delta f/f_c = 0.5$). However, the need for high-order filters increases power consumption (12.6 mW), while g_m/C bandwidth restricts efficient detection to lower data rates (~1 Mbps). Quadrature phased division of FM deviation demonstrated in this work reinforces the factors that underpin efficient demodulation, namely, reduction of the signal bandwidth (via reformation of β), provision of wideband quadrature phases at no additional power expense, and large signal drive delivered by the regenerative oscillator gain. When operating across 2-10 GHz ($\Delta f/f_c=1.34$), the entire demodulator dissipates just 3.2 mW from 1.2 V. The IF pre-amplifier required to drive the demodulator can be optimized for non-linear gain for a high IF impedance using, for instance, a \sim 17-mW distributed amplifier (extrapolated for 30-dB gain for 200Ω from results of the 90-nm prototype in [4.11]) or a ~12-mW shunt-peaking driver [4.12] simulated in 65-nm CMOS for 35-dB gain from 2-10 GHz.

4.3 Summary and discussion

In Chapters 3 and 4, an FM demodulator is presented in which a 4-stage ring oscillator locks to a wideband input and divides the FM deviation by 4. Phase correlation of the locked-in oscillator's quadrature outputs allows simplified low-power demodulation, with a linear characteristic at baseband for a fractional bandwidth greater than one. Additional benefits of the injection locked demodulator are: data-rate independent power consumption, insensitivity to noise and AM interference, a requirement for low distortion is not imposed on the IF amplifier, and operation of the oscillator at 1/4th the intermediate frequency enables a higher IF and a lower fractional bandwidth.

The propagation of an FM signal through an injection-locked oscillator is analyzed in depth. Division of frequency deviation and scaling of Bessel function coefficients derived analytically are verified via simulation and measured for a 65-nm prototype demodulator. Through simulation and analysis, low-power circuits developed in the work are evaluated, namely, a ring oscillator with wideband sensitivity, a folded CMOS mixer with Q-point control, and a 3-stage differential class-AB amplifier (presented in Chapter 5). The prototype IC is characterized extensively using a wide range of test-benches to study division of FM deviation, wideband demodulation, noise sensitivity, and bit-error rates. Stand-alone characterization of the input oscillator showing its response to external noise and high modulation rate (up to 400 MHz) FM signals is presented, along with stand-alone characterization of the output Class-AB amplifier. The demodulator operation is measured over 2-10 GHz ($\Delta f/f_c = 1.34$). Energy consumption is just 0.32 nJ/bit with an SNR sensitivity of 8 dB, and 0.1% BER at 10 Mbps observed for a 45-mV_{pp} input IF signal.

References:

[4.1] P. Maffezzoni, "Frequency-Shift Induced by Colored Noise in Nonlinear Oscillators," IEEE TCAS-II Express Briefs, vol.54, no. 10, Oct. 2007.

[4.2] M. Bonnin, F. Corinto, "Phase Noise and Noise Induced Frequency Shift in Stochastic Nonlinear Oscillators," IEEE TCAS-1 Regular Papers, vol. 60, no.8, Aug. 2013.

[4.3] R.F. Galan, "Analytical calculation of the frequency shift in phase oscillators driven by colored noise: Implications for electrical engineering and neuroscience," Phy. Rev. E 80, 036113, 2009.

[4.4] V.Dhanasekaran, J.S. Martinez, E.S. Sanchez, "Design of Three-Stage Class-AB 16 Ω Headphone Driver Capable of Handling Wide Range of Load Capacitance," *IEEE JSSC*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp.1734–1744, Jun. 2009.

[4.5] P. Bogner, H. Habibovic, T. Hartig, "A high signal swing class AB earpiece amplifier in 65 nm CMOS technology," in *Proc. ESSCIRC* 2006, pp. 372–375.

[4.6] Y-J. Kim, H-C. Choi, et al., "A 12 bit 50 MS/s CMOS Nyquist A/D Converter With a Fully Differential Class-AB Switched Op-Amp," *IEEE JSSC*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 620–628, Mar. 2010.

[4.7] J. Bae, K. Song, H. Lee, H. Cho, L. Yan, H-J Yoo, "A 0.24nJ/b Wireless Body-Area-Network Transceiver with Scalable Double-FSK Modulation," in IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. Dig. Papers, 2011, pp. 34–35.

[4.8] S-H Wen, C-S Wang and C-K Wang, "A Low power 20 GHz 1.5 Gb/s CMOS Injection-Pulling FSK Modulator and Frequency Discriminator for 60GHz Links," IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference, pp. 483–486, Sept. 2008.

[4.9] A. Valdes-Garcia, S. Reynolds and T. Beukema "Multi-mode modulator and frequency demodulator circuits for Gb/s data rate 60 GHz wireless transceivers", *Proc. IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf. (CICC)*, pp. 639 -642 2007.

[4.10] B. Chi, JinKeYao, P. Chiang, Z. Wang, "A 0.18μm CMOS GFSK Analog Front End Using a Bessel-Based Quadrature Discriminator With On-Chip Automatic Tuning," IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems – I : Reg. Papers, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 2498 – 2510, Nov. 2009.

[4.11] F. Zhang, A. Jha, R. Gharpurey, P. Kinget "An Agile Ultra-Wideband Pulse Radio Transceiver with Discrete-Time Wideband-IF," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp.1336–1351, May 2005.

[4.12] J. Savoj, B. Razavi, "A 10-Gb/s CMOS clock and data recovery circuit with a half-rate binary phase/frequency detector," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp.13–21, Jan. 2003.

Chapter 5 – Differential class-AB amplifier

A wideband, fully-differential, 3-stage class-AB amplifier capable of operation at rates of 100 MHz is described in this chapter [5.1]. The high loop gain and low impedance drive capability ensure a low-distortion interface to the 50- Ω measurement environment. Common-mode feedback is applied to increase output drive capability and reduce crossover distortion when operating in class-AB from a low supply voltage. Detailed analyses of gain-boosting doublets and the frequency response of the class-AB Monticelli bias are presented along with simulation and measurement results. Drawing between 800 μ A and 3.9 mA from a nominal V_{DD} of 1.2 V in 65-nm CMOS, the 0.052-mm² amplifier delivers a 1.6-V_{pp} swing across a 50- Ω load with a THD+N of -82.6 dB at 150 kHz, in the unity-gain configuration.

5.1 Differential 3-stage Class-AB Amplifier: topology and design

The fully-differential class-AB amplifier developed for the prototype IF demodulator [5.2] is configured in shunt-feedback as shown in Fig. 3.1. It interfaces the demodulated output to a 50- Ω load for measurement. The amplifier is biased for low current consumption at 800 μ A, and is compensated for a 60° phase margin when driving a 10-pF load. In this configuration, the amplifier's open-loop DC gain is 83 dB and it has a 70-MHz unity-gain bandwidth.

CMOS amplifiers typically suffer a headroom limitation that worsens with technology and voltage scaling (e.g., below 1-V V_{DD}), as the transistor threshold voltage remains relatively constant. Operating the output class-AB stage from a higher voltage compared to preceding stages [5.3] maximizes output power for a given MOS threshold, but requires multiple supplies. Crossover distortion is an important aspect of class-AB operation, and even-order terms can be reduced but not eliminated in a complementary topology via device sizing and bias control [5.4]. Fully-differential operation maximizes the output swing from a given V_{DD} (1.8 V_{pp} from 1.2 V), suppresses even-order distortion, and rejects noise and interference arising from co-integration with other sub-circuits.



Fig. 5.1: Circuit diagrams of the differential 3-stage Class-AB amplifier, a simplified block diagram of the three stages and CMFB is shown in the inset.



Fig. 5.2: Circuit diagrams of: (a) the bias block and amplifiers (b) A_{PMOS} and (c) A_{NMOS} from Fig. 5.1.

The amplifier schematic, annotated with branch currents, is shown in Fig. 5.1. The inset shows a simplified block diagram of the three-stage amplifier outlining the differential and common-mode signal paths. Schematics of the amplifier's sub-cells are shown in Figs. 5.2a- 5.2c. The first stage is a fully-differential gain-boosted, folded-cascode (FC) amplifier. The negative feedback loop applied to transistors $M_{6.9}$ increases the output impedance of the cascode arm by a factor of the auxiliary amplifier's gain (A_{NMOS} and A_{PMOS} in Fig. 5.1), resulting in an increase in DC gain without impact on the unity-gain bandwidth of the amplifier. It is therefore possible to achieve fast settling and high gain at the same time. The DC voltage at the source terminals of transistors $M_{6.9}$ is regulated using reference voltages V_{refp} and V_{refn} , allowing a 150-mV gate overdrive for transistors $M_{4.5}$ and $M_{10,11}$. The gates of $M_{10,11}$, typically at AC ground, are used for common-mode bias control. Differential

operation of the first stage eliminates a pole/zero pair produced by the current mirror required for single-ended implementation. Looking at the 2nd stage half-circuit, lowgain inversions from M_{20} and M_{22} drive the Monticelli CMOS pair $M_{23,24}$ [5.5] biasing the third class-AB stage. The diode-connected transistor M_{21} is a wideband load at the drain of M_{20} , however, a significant 2nd stage pole is seen at the output of M_{22} . When the CMFB loop is operating, DC voltage at the first-stage output is determined by the V_{SG} requirement of M_{20} (and M_{12}) to conduct current sourced by M_{25} (and M_{17}), as determined by the mirrors-ratio between $M_{21,22}$ and $M_{13,14}$ [5.6], [5.7]. Trimming C_p controls the bandwidth of the gain-boost loop, and the doublet seen in the frequency response.

5.2 Small signal analysis

The uncompensated amplifier has 4 important poles [5.1], which are evaluated in detail here. The dominant pole is located at the output of the first gain-boosted, FC amplifier stage. Time constants of the third and second stages, account for the second and third poles, respectively. The 4th pole is determined by the time constant associated with the source nodes of $M_{6,7}$. The doublets arising due to the frequency response of the gain enhancement loop, analyzed in this section, are placed between the unity-gain frequency and the second pole of the amplifier [5.8].

5.2.1 Gain boost amplifier

Neglecting body-effect, the output impedances of the cascode arm (e.g., $M_9 - M_{11}$) before and after gain boosting are derived in references [5.8] and [5.9], respectively, and equal^{1,2}:

$$r_{casc} = r_{ds11}(g_{m11}r_{ds9} + 1) + r_{ds9}, and$$
(5.1)

¹ An approximation of eqn. 5.1 is reached by noting that the loop-gain of the current-sense voltage-feedback loop equals $(g_{m11}r_{ds9})$. Therefore, $r_{o\ casc} \approx r_{ds11}(1+g_{m11}r_{ds9})$.

² With the inverting amplifier added to the loop, an approximation of eqn. 5.2 is reached by noting that the two feedback components at the source net $(g_{m11}r_{ds9})$, and at the gate net $(-g_{m11}r_{ds9}A_{aux})$, respectively, result in a total negative loop-gain equal to $g_{m11}r_{ds9}(1+A_{aux})$. Therefore $r_{o\ GB} \approx r_{ds11}(g_{m11}r_{ds9}(1+A_{aux})+1)$.

$$r_{o_GB} = r_{ds11}(g_{m9}r_{ds9}(1+A_{aux})+1) + r_{ds9}$$

= $r_{ds9} + r_{ds11} + r_{ds11}g_{m9}r_{ds9}(1+A_{aux}).$ (5.2)

Assuming a single pole roll-off for the gain-boost amplifier $A_{PMOSI,2}$ at ω_p , and an open-loop gain of A_p , eqn. 5.2 can be written as:

$$r_{GB_n} = r_{ds9} + r_{ds11} + r_{ds11}g_{m9}r_{ds9} \left[1 + \frac{A_p}{\left(1 + j\frac{\omega}{\omega_p}\right)} \right],$$
(5.3)

$$r_{GB_n} = \Sigma r_{ds} + r_{ds11} g_{m9} r_{ds9} (1 + A_n) \left[\frac{1 + j \frac{\omega}{(1 + A_p)\omega_p}}{\left(1 + j \frac{\omega}{\omega_p}\right)} \right],$$
(5.4)

$$r_{GB_n} \approx r_{casc} (1+A_n) \left[\frac{\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{(1+A_p)\omega_p}\right)}{\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{\omega_p}\right)} \right].$$
(5.5)

It is seen from eqn. 5.5 that the gain-boosted output resistance is frequency dependent. The roll-off at ω_n is -20-dB/dec, and it flattens out to its original value of the cascode impedance³ on encountering the zero in its transfer function at $(1+A_n)\omega_n$. Both NMOS and PMOS cascode branches of the first stage in Fig. 5.1 are gain-boosted. Enhancing the output impedance of just one section can at best provide a 6-dB increase in the open-loop voltage gain. Denoting the DC gain of auxiliary amplifiers $A_{NMOSI,2}$ as A_n and the pole frequency as ω_n in eqn. 5.5, the output impedance of PMOS cascode branch (e.g., $M_7 - M_5$) may be written as⁴:

$$r_{GB_p} \approx r_{casc} \left(1 + A_p\right) \left[\frac{1 + j \frac{\omega}{(1 + A_n)\omega_n}}{\left(1 + j \frac{\omega}{\omega_n}\right)} \right].$$
(5.6)

The total output resistance, r_o , is the parallel combination of NMOS and PMOS cascode-arm impedances described by eqns. 5.5 and 5.6:

³ It is assumed that the second pole of the loop located at the source of M_{11} lies at a higher frequency, and therefore, doesn't interfere with the frequency response.

⁴ For ease of analysis, the cascode impedance of the PMOS branch prior to gain boosting is assumed equal to that of the NMOS branch (r_0 case).

$$r_{o} = (1 + A_{n})(1 + A_{p})r_{casc} \cdot \left[\frac{\left[\frac{1 + j\frac{\omega}{(1 + A_{n})\omega_{n}}}{(1 + j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{n}})}\right] \left[\frac{1 + j\frac{\omega}{(1 + A_{p})\omega_{p}}}{(1 + j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{p}})}\right]}{(1 + A_{n})\left[\frac{1 + j\frac{\omega}{(1 + A_{n})\omega_{n}}}{(1 + j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{n}})}\right] + (1 + A_{p})\left[\frac{1 + j\frac{\omega}{(1 + A_{p})\omega_{p}}}{(1 + j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{p}})}\right]}{(1 + j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{p}})}\right].$$
(5.7)

$$r_{o} = \frac{(1+A_{n})(1+A_{p})}{(2+A_{p}+A_{n})}r_{casc} \cdot \left[\frac{\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{(1+A_{n})\omega_{n}}\right)\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{(1+A_{p})\omega_{p}}\right)}{\left[(j\omega)^{2}\frac{2}{(2+A_{p}+A_{n})\omega_{n}\omega_{p}}+j\omega\frac{\left(\omega_{n}(2+A_{n})+\omega_{p}(2+A_{p})\right)}{(2+A_{p}+A_{n})\omega_{n}\omega_{p}}+1\right]}\right],$$

$$r_{o} = A_{eff}r_{casc} \cdot \left[\frac{\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{zn}}\right)\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{zp}}\right)}{\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{p1}}\right)\left(1+j\frac{\omega}{\omega_{p2}}\right)}\right].$$
(5.9)

It is clear from eqn. 5.8 that there are two zeros in the output resistance and their location remains unaltered from that in the individual feedback loops.

The denominator of eqn. 5.8 is a second-order polynomial that can be cast into the form of eqn. 5.9. It will be shown that the parallel connection of two gain-boosted loops results in a set of frequency doublets when loaded with a capacitance in parallel. The low-frequency pole in the denominator of eqn. 5.8 determines the 20-dB/dec roll-off of the effective output resistance, r_0 , and the second high-frequency pole compensates the phase-shift produced by the additional zero present in eqn. 5.8 when compared with eqns. 5.5 and 5.6. Solving eqn. 5.8 yields:

$$\omega_{zn} = (1+A_n)\omega_n,\tag{5.10}$$

$$\omega_{zp} = (1+A_p)\omega_p,\tag{5.11}$$

$$\omega_{p1} = \frac{1}{4} \Big(\omega_n (2 + A_n) + \omega_p (2 + A_p) \Big) (1 - k_0) \text{ and}$$
(5.12)

94



Fig. 5.3: MatlabTM-simulated magnitude- and phase-responses of the gain-boosted impedances r_{GB_n} , r_{GB_p} (eqn. 5.5 and eqn. 5.6, respectively), and their parallel combination described by eqn. 5.8 ($A_n = 60 \text{ dB}$, $A_p = 66 \text{ dB}$).

$$\omega_{p2} = \frac{1}{4} \Big(\omega_n (2 + A_n) + \omega_p (2 + A_p) \Big) (1 + k_0), \tag{5.13}$$

where
$$k_0 = \sqrt{1 - \frac{2\omega_n \omega_p (4A_n + 4A_p + 8)}{(\omega_n (2 + A_n) + \omega_p (2 + A_p))^2}}.$$
 (5.14)

$$\lim_{k_0 \to 1} \omega_{p2} \approx \left[\frac{(\omega_{zn} + \omega_{pn}) + (\omega_n + \omega_p)}{2} \right] \approx \left[\frac{(\omega_{zn} + \omega_{pn})}{2} \right].$$
(5.15)

Fig. 5.3 shows the frequency response of the gain-boosted output impedance (i.e., eqns. 5.5, 5.6 and 5.8) simulated using MatlabTM. In this example the gains A_n and A_p are 60 and 66 dB, respectively, and angular frequencies ω_n and ω_p correspond to frequencies of 100 kHz and 10 kHz, respectively. The curves corresponding to eqns. 5.5 and 5.6 are labeled ' $r_{GB n}$ ' and ' $r_{GB p}$ ', respectively, and the blue curve



Fig. 5.4: MatlabTM-simulated magnitude- and phase-response showing two frequency doublets obtained from the parallel combination of gain-boosted resistances r_{GB_n} and r_{GB_p} , with a load capacitance, C_L .

corresponding to eqn. 5.8 is labeled ' r_0 '. The ordinate is normalized to the cascode impedance prior to gain-boosting (r_{casc}), and the multiplication of the output impedance by a factor of $A_{eff} = (1+A_n)(1+A_p)/(2+A_n+A_p)$, as seen from eqn. 5.8, is visible in the magnitude response shown in Fig. 5.3 at low frequencies. The enhancement is recorded from -6 dB, which corresponds to the parallel combination of the cascode impedances prior to gain boosting. The total output resistance, r_0 , rolls-off at 20-dB/dec after encountering ω_{pl} and tends to flatten at ω_{zp} . The second pole ω_{p2} (see eqn. 5.13), lies between the two zeros described by eqns. 5.10 and 5.11⁵, and Fig. 5.3 shows its impact on the frequency response. The impedance

⁵ ω_{p2} lies almost mid-way between ω_{zn} and ω_{zp} , with less than 2% variation from the mean location for a moderate 40-dB DC gain ascribed to A_n and A_p . The simplification is captured in eqn. 5.15.

ultimately levels-off at $r_{casc}/2$ after ω_{zn} when both loop gains are less than one.

The frequency response of the parallel combination of r_0 and the load capacitance (1.75 pF in this example) is shown in Fig. 5.4. A 90-degree phase-shift is seen at the output when compared to Fig. 5.3 due to the additional pole seen at the output due to the load-capacitance. This pole is located in the close vicinity of the higher zero – ω_{2n} in this example. Contrary to common understanding, there is a set of doublets, as opposed to a single doublet, in the frequency response of gain-boosted FC amplifier.

Unlike the exaggerated examples shown in Figs. 5.3 and 5.4, doublets are hard to discern from the frequency response of the amplifier, and their presence is better visible in the settling response of the amplifier. Doublets in the frequency response produce a slow-settling component [5.10]. The heuristic approach in [5.8] assumes a single gain-boosted loop with an ideal current source and concludes that an acceptable frequency range for à pole-zero doublet is:

$$\beta \omega_{ug} < \omega_z < \omega_2. \tag{5.16}$$

In eqn. 5.14, ω_{ug} is the unity-gain frequency of the overall amplifier, $1/\beta$ is the gain when the amplifier is configured in negative feedback, and ω_z is the unity-gain frequency of the gain-boost amplifier (ω_{zn} defined by eqns. 5.10). The second pole of the amplifier is denoted as ω_2 (note: clearly, ω_2 of the amplifier and ω_{p2} in the gain-boosted output-impedance described by eqn. 5.14 are different and not to be confused). The design scope narrows down to placing the doublets between the unity-gain frequency of the amplifier and its second pole when designed for use as a unity-gain buffer.

Trimming capacitance C_p at the output of gain-boost amplifiers (see Fig. 5.2) controls the bandwidth of the gain-boost loop, and therefore the doublets seen in the frequency response shown in Fig. 5.4. The design freedom is constrained by having to first optimize C_p to ensure stability of the loop such that the phase-margin is greater than 60 degrees. The impact of doublets on the step-response is presented after a discussion on frequency compensation of the amplifier in section 5.2, where the frequency range available for positioning the doublets is also outlined.



Fig. 5.5: Simulated differential and common-mode small-signal response of the amplifier of Fig. 5.1, with phase margins annotated on the figure.

5.2.2 Three-stage amplifier model

As described earlier, the uncompensated amplifier has 4 important poles [5.1]. The dominant pole is located at the output of the first stage. Time constants of the third and second stages, account for the second and third poles, respectively. The 4th pole is determined by the time constant associated with the source nodes of $M_{6.7}$. A small-signal simulation of the amplifier's differential and common-mode response for a 50 Ω || 10 pF load is shown in Fig. 5.5, for a total bias current of 800 μ A drawn from V_{DD}.

The poles of a Miller-compensated 3-stage amplifier assuming 1 pole per stage are derived in [5.11], for the small-signal equivalent model shown in Fig. 5.6. The poles



Fig. 5.6: Simplified small-signal circuit used for analysis.

and zeroes of the transfer function are:

$$P_1 = \frac{1}{(R_1 C_c)(g_{m2} R_2)(g_{m3} R_3)'}$$
(5.16)

$$P_3 = \frac{1}{(R_2 C_2)'} \tag{5.17}$$

$$P_2 = \frac{g_{m3}}{C_3} g_{m2} R_2, \tag{5.18}$$

$$Z_1 = -\left(\frac{\sqrt{b^2 + 4a} - b}{2a}\right) and \tag{5.19}$$

$$Z_2 = \left(\frac{b + \sqrt{b^2 + 4a}}{2a}\right),\tag{5.20}$$

where
$$a = \left(\frac{C_c C_2}{g_{m2} g_{m3}}\right)$$
 and $b = \frac{1}{g_{m2} R_2} \left(\frac{C_c}{g_{m3}}\right)$. (5.21)

From eqns. 5.16 to 5.18 it can be seen that gain-boosting increases the output impedance and therefore permits a lower value for the miller capacitance C_c . Increasing g_{m3} increases gain, and aids pole splitting (see 2-mA example in Fig. 5.5).

As a first-order approximation, the second stage's time constant is independent of networks loading other stages, and the Miller capacitance, C_c . It is interesting to note that the gain of the second stage, $g_{m2}R_2$, aids pole-splitting by lowering P_1 and increasing P_2 . However, the second stage is optimized for minimizing the time-constant R_2C_2 . Placing the second stage's pole, P_3 , outside the unity-gain bandwidth obtained after pole-splitting avoids the need for nested Miller compensation.

The transfer function of the small-signal model of Fig. 5.6 contains two zeroes, Z_1 and Z_2 , which are described by eqns. 5.19 and 5.20, respectively. The high-frequency LHP-zero, Z_2 , can be neglected since it lies more than an order of magnitude beyond the amplifier's unity-gain bandwidth. The low-frequency right-half-plane (RHP) zero, Z_1 , due to C_c is transformed to a LHP zero using a nulling resistor R_z [5.12] to offset P_3 . The pole created by R_z and C_1 does not significantly degrade the phase margin. In this design C_c is a 520-fF MOM capacitor and R_z is a 900- Ω polysilicon resistor with an option for trimming implemented



Fig. 5.7: Monticelli-cell analysis and operating point values used to evaluate eqns. 5.22 to 5.24, and (b) fully differential shunt-feedback configuration.

with parallel resistors and switches (3 bits).

5.2.3 Class-AB driver and Monticelli bias pair

The complimentary Monticelli bias cell transistors form a feedback loop indicated in Fig. 5.7. Signal paths G_f and H_r are the forward and reverse gains at DC, respectively. Solving for the input impedance [5.13] yields:

$$Z_{in} = \left[\frac{Z_{0_in}}{1 - G_f H_r}\right], where \ Z_{0_in} = \left[\frac{1}{g_{mn}} \| r_{ds_1} \| r_{ds_n}\right],$$
(5.22)

$$G_{f} = \left[\left\{ \frac{\left(\frac{1}{g_{mp}} \parallel r_{ds2}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{g_{mp}} \parallel r_{ds2} + r_{ds_{np}}\right)} \right\} + g_{mn} \left\{ \frac{1}{g_{mp}} \parallel r_{ds2} \parallel r_{ds_{np}} \right\} \right] and$$
(5.23)

$$H_{r} = \left[\left\{ \frac{\left(\frac{1}{g_{mn}} \parallel r_{ds1}\right)}{\left(\frac{1}{g_{mn}} \parallel r_{ds1} + r_{ds_np}\right)} \right\} + g_{mp} \left\{ \frac{1}{g_{mn}} \parallel r_{ds1} \parallel r_{ds_np} \right\} \right].$$
(5.24)

100



Fig. 5.8: Differential small-signal and large signal step-response of the amplifier configured in unity-gain shunt-feedback (R_{FB} , $R_{in} = 10 \text{ k}\Omega$, $Z_L = 50 \Omega || 10 \text{ pF}$). Output-slewing and settling are annotated on the figure.

 Z_{0_in} is the open-loop DC impedance loading node '*a*', and g_{mn} and g_{mp} are the transconductances of M_n and M_p , respectively. The output resistances (r_{out}) of M_1 and M_2 are r_{ds1} and r_{ds1} , respectively, and r_{ds_np} is the parallel combination of the r_{out} of M_n and M_p . Keeping $g_{mn} \approx g_{mp}$ in the presence of the passive transfer (first terms in eqns. 5.23 and 5.24) ensures that the loop gain, $G_f H_r$, is less than one to ensure stability. From Fig. 5.7, Z_{in} is 5.38 k Ω , the loop gain is 0.70, and the capacitance (C_L) loading node 'a' is ~90 fF. The second-stage pole ($Z_{in}C_L$) predicted at 354 MHz is in close proximity to P_3 at 385 MHz (see Fig. 5.5), validating the analysis. A measurement sum--mary of the amplifier's stand-alone performance and comparison with recently reported Class-AB amplifiers is presented in Section 5.4.

5.3 Step response and noise

The SpectreTM-simulated transient response of the amplifier to a small-signal (20 mV_{pp}) and large-signal (1.6 V_{pp}) differential input voltage-step is shown in Fig. 5.8. In this example, the amplifier is configured in unity-gain shunt-feedback as shown in Fig. 5.7b and drives a 50- $\Omega \parallel$ 10-pF load, and is biased at 800 μ A (see AC response in Fig. 5.5). The 1.6-V_{pp} response is slew-rate limited and the regions of



Fig. 5.9: Frequency response of the compensated amplifier and the NMOS and PMOS gain-boost loops of the first cascode stage ($Z_L = 50 \Omega \parallel 50 \text{ pF}$).

slewing and settling are annotated on Fig 5.8. The simulated slew-rate is 88 V/ μ s (44 V/ μ s single-ended). The settling transient on the differential input nets, nodes 'x' and 'y', is also shown in Fig. 5.8. A ratio of the differential output and input voltage is approximately equal to the open-loop gain of the amplifier and determines the settling accuracy. This also reveals slow-settling components produced by doublets in the frequency response.

The amplifier's frequency response for a 50- $\Omega \parallel 50$ -pF load is shown in Fig. 5.9, and represents the maximum capacitance for which the amplifier has a 60-degree phase margin. The single-pole approximation used in eqns. 5.5 and 5.6 is implemented with gain-boost loops having a 70-degree phase margin, as seen from Fig. 5.9. The amplifiers ANMOS and APMOS (see Fig. 5.2) are designed for equal unity-gain frequencies; this is also seen from Fig. 5.9, where $\omega_{zn} = \omega_{zp}$. According to [5.10] the time-constant of the slow-settling component varies inversely with the frequency at which the doublet occurs, and its relative magnitude is directly proportional to the spacing between the pole and zero and inversely proportional to the amplifier's unity


Fig. 5.10: Step-response showing the effect of the slow settling component for varying loop-bandwidths when the load equals 50 $\Omega \parallel$ 50 pF.

gain frequency. It is therefore desirable to minimize the double spacing. In this amplifier there exist three instances of a closely placed pole and zero. As shown for the first time in section 5.2.1, a pair of doublets is encountered in the open-loop transfer of the gain-boosted stage. In the scenario where $\omega_{zn} = \omega_{zp}$ the first doublet-spacing equals zero and the transfer function represents that of a single gain-boosted stage loaded with an ideal current source. The second doublet can therefore be placed according to eqn. 5.16 by trimming the bandwidth of the gain-boost loop. The third closely spaced pole-zero pair is the zero produced via R_z and C_C that, as explained in Section 5.2.2, offsets P_3 arising from the second stage. Designing P_3 to lie beyond the unity gain frequency mitigates the impact of this doublet on the settling performance.

The effect of the twin-doublets arising from complementary gain-boosting is shown via simulation. Consider the step-responses shown in Fig. 5.10. The black curve corresponds to the implemented amplifier having the frequency response shown in Fig. 5.9. The onset of the slow-settling component is seen at 220ns, in Fig. 5.10b. The effect of the slow-settling component on the total settling time is truly small. When the load capacitance is reduced from 50 pF to 10 pF, the slow-settling component further diminishes as seen from the dotted-black curve due to the increase in the amplifier's unity-gain bandwidth. The settling accuracy in either case equals the amplifiers open-loop gain of ~100 dB. The effect of the slow-settling



Fig. 5.11: Chip micrograph of the prototype amplifier. The amplifier occupies an active area of 0.052 mm².

components magnify when the doublets shift to a lower frequency. The orange curve in Fig. 5.10 corresponds to reduction in ω_{2p} by a factor of 0.16 (6x increase of C_p on APMOS of Fig. 5.2). The blue curve with circles in Fig. 5.9 shows the small-signal transfer of the PMOS gain-boost loop with the reduced gain-boost bandwidth. The zero in the boosted impedance is now introduced prior to the unity-gain bandwidth. Since ω_{2p} and ω_{2n} no longer correspond to the same frequency, the first doublet comes into play as well. The 6x increase in capacitance is an exaggerated example that shows the severe impact a low-frequency doublet can have on the frequency response. However, the amplifier's sensitivity to variation in the gain-boost loop bandwidth is fairly low, as is seen from the blue curve of Fig. 5.10a and 5.10b, wherein a 30% change in capacitance produces a negligible difference in the settling time.

5.4 Stand-alone characterization of the class-AB amplifier

Measurements characterizing large-signal operation, stability, noise and distortion of the amplifier when configured for unity gain are presented in this section. The annotated chip micrograph of the 0.052-mm² prototype is shown in Fig. 5.11. The die is mounted on a custom designed test board and configured for unity voltage



Fig. 5.12: Large-signal response for an 800mV_{pp} input at 150 kHz.



Fig. 5.13: Response to 1.2V input step ($Y_{load} = 0.02 + j\omega 50e^{-12}S$).

gain initially (i.e., worst-case stability) using input and shunt feedback resistances of $10 \text{ k}\Omega$ (see Fig. 5.7b). No feedback capacitance is added.

The differential, large-signal response to a 1.6 V_{pp} input at 150 kHz applied via a balun is shown in Fig. 5.12. The output is measured on a 50- Ω oscilloscope. A 50-pF capacitor loads each output in addition to loading by 0.3m of interconnect cable and the oscilloscope's input capacitance. Each output swings symmetrically about the 600-mV_{DC} operating point set by the CMFB loop (V_{DD}=1.2V).



Fig. 5.14: Output distortion and noise for Y_{load} of 0.02 + j ω 50e⁻¹² S at 150 kHz.

The amplifier response to a 1.2-V (differential) input step sourced from two arbitrary waveform generators for a load admittance of $0.02+j\omega 50e^{-12}$ S is shown in Fig. 5.13. The response has an overshoot of 1.1%, which corresponds to a damping factor of 0.82 assuming a two-pole system. Slewing characteristics are limited by the second stage in this design. The slew-rate is 42 V/µs (rising) and 44 V/µs (falling), and does not vary with Q-point current in the class-AB arm and C_{load} . A stable step response is observed for loads as low as 8 Ω at each output. However, output distortion increases with the reduction in load impedance.

The output distortion for a 1.6- V_{pp} input at 150 kHz, and the measured driver noise floor (input shorted) are shown in Fig. 5.14. The distortion is measured with a balun at the output. Even-order harmonics are suppressed by differential operation, however, they arise at the output due to: 1) phase inaccuracies of the input and output baluns, and 2) g_m mismatch between the signal paths. The THD+N when each output swings to 70% of V_{DD} is -82.6dB for Y_{load} = 0.02+ j ω 50e⁻¹²S. The THD for a 16- Ω load (same load capacitance) drops to 77 dB due to the lower loop gain and increased current drive required from the output stage with a reduced load.

65-nm CMOS Amp.	V _{DD} (V)	$\begin{array}{c} R_L/C_L\\ (\Omega/F) \end{array}$	R _z , C _c (Ω, pF)	UGB (MHz)	Q _{point} I _{DC} (mA)	V _{out} (V _{pp})	S.R. (V/μs)	THD+N/freq (dB/kHz)	Overshoot, Damping fact.
High Power [*]	1.2	50- 8/50p	850, 0.52	110	3.9	1.6	42	-82.6/150	1.1%, 0.82
Low Power*	1.2	50/10p	850, 0.52	75	0.8	1.6	42	-74/150	1.4%, 0.80

Table 5.1: Measurement summary of the fully differential Class-AB amplifier

^{*}The difference b/w the high and low power configurations is the current in the Class-AB arm, and load drive ability.

Ref, CMOS technology	V _{DD} (V)	$\frac{\mathrm{R_L} / \mathrm{C_L}}{(\Omega/\mathrm{F})}$	C _{comp} (pF)	Q _{point} P _{diss} (mW)	V _{out} (V _{pp})	S.R. (V/µs)	THD+N/freq (dB/kHz)
[5.3], 130nm	1.2/2	16/1n	14	1.2 [§]	1.6	0.4	-84/1
[5.14], 65nm	2.5	16/12n	35	12.5 [§]	1.85	n/a	-68/1
[5.15], 0.18µm	1.8	-/0.24p	n/a	3.6*	2.4*	6k ⁺	n/a
This work, 65nm	1.2	50/50p	0.52	4.7*	1.6*	42	-82.6/150
[§] Single ended [*] Dir	fferent	ial ⁺ Me	entione	d spec.			

Table 5.2: Comparison of class-AB driver amplifiers

When the amplifier is biased at 800 μ A (using V_{bn} and V_{bp}) the THD drops to 74 dB. The drop in loop gain is explained from the curves in Fig. 5.5 that show dependence of gain on current consuption. Distortion tones are measured from multiple sweeps at a 75-kHz ($f_0/2$) spacing around a 5-kHz span (sweep time of 200 s at 100-Hz resolution and an average of 35 sweeps each) using a R&S FSUP spectrum analyzer up to the 10th harmonic. A fundamental frequency of 150 kHz was chosen to minimize the resolution requirement (for dynamic range) and time of measurement. An attenuation of 25 dB added in the signal path minimizes distortion contributed by the analyzer. The signal source distortion is suppressed using a custom designed 10th-order Chebychev LC filter. Characterization of the on-board filter implemented using discrete components show an 80-dB suppression of the second harmonic at 300 kHz.

The measurement summary of the amplifier for high-power and low- power settings is given in Table 5.1. The difference between the two settings is the power dissipated in the Class-AB arm, and therefore the low-impedance drive capability. The slew rate is limited by the second stage and remains relatively unchanged when the current-bias of the Class-AB arm is changed. In Table 4.2 the amplifier's performance is compared with low-impedance class-AB audio drivers [5.3] and [5.14], and a switch-mode fully-differential class-AB amplifier designed for a 50-Ms/s ADC [5.15]. Owing to differential operation and the wide bandwidth requirement, it consumes more power than the audio amplifier example in [5.3]. This results in a higher slew rate and comparable distortion at an increment of two frequency decades. The single-ended design in [5.3] uses level shifting, while this work is a fully-differential low-impedance driver operating from a 1.2-V supply. An output swing in excess of the operating supply voltage is obtained through differential operation.

5.5 Summary and conclusions

A wideband, fully-differential class-AB baseband amplifier capable of driving low impedance loads is presented. The operating point is stabilized by a continuous-time common-mode feedback loop. The 3-stage amplifier when operated from a 1.2-V supply (nominal for 65-nm CMOS) delivers an output swing comparable to other published works operating from higher supply voltages with a 42-V/µs slew rate, while differential operation suppresses cross-over distortion arising from Class-AB operation. In this chapter, a detailed small-signal analysis of the amplifier stages was presented, and calculations verified against simulation. Insight into the presence of an additional doublet in a complimentary gain-boosted folded cascode amplifier is presented, and design measures to overcome degradation in settling behavior described. The Monticelli bias cell was analyzed for feedback gain and its impact on the frequency response was studied and verified against simulation. The amplifier topology was prototyped in 65-nm CMOS and measurements confirmed stability and operation over varying load conditions.

References:

[5.1] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, R.B. Staszewski, "A 1.2V 110-MHz-UGB differential class-AB amplifier in 65nm CMOS," Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Sep. 2014.

[5.2] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, et al., "An FM demodulator operating across 2–10GHz IF," in *Proc. IEEE RFIC 2013*, pp. 213–216.

[5.3] V.Dhanasekaran, J.S. Martinez, E.S. Sanchez, "Design of Three-Stage Class-AB 16 Ω Headphone Driver Capable of Handling Wide Range of Load Capacitance," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp.1734–1744, Jun. 2009.

[5.4] F.N. Op't Eynde, P.F. Ampe, L. Verdeyen, W.M. Sansen, "A CMOS Large-Swing Low-Distortion Three-Stage Class AB Power Amplifier," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 25, no.1, Feb. 1990.*

[5.5] D. M. Monticelli, "A quad CMOS single-supply opamp with rail-torail output swing," IEEE JSSC, vol. 21,no. 6, pp. 1026–1034, Dec. 1986.

[5.6] R. van Dongen, V. Rikkink, "A 1.5 V Class AB CIMOS Buffer Amplifier for Driving Low-Resistance Loads," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp.1333–1338, Dec. 1995.

[5.7] C.J.M. Verhoeven, A. van Staveren, G.L.E. Monna, M.H.L. Kouwenhoven, E. Yildiz, Structured Electronics Design, Negative Feedback Amplifiers, Springer 2003.

[5.8] K. Bult, G. Geleen, "A Fast-settling CMOS Opamp for SC circuits with 90-dB DC Gain," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 1379 – 1384, Dec. 1990.

[5.9] B. Razavi, Design of Analog CMOS integrated Circuits, Tata McGraw-Hill Edition, 2002.

[5.10] B.Y. Karnath, R.G. Meyer, and P.R. Gray, "Relationship between frequency response and settling time of operational amplifiers," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits,* vol. 9, no. 6, 1974. pp. 347-352.

[5.11] M. Loikkanen, J. Kostamovaara, "Low Voltage CMOS Power Amplifier with Rail-to-Rail Input and Output," Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, vol. 46, pp. 183–192, 2006.

[5.12] P.E. Allen, D.R. Holberg, CMOS Analog Circuit Design, Second Edition, Oxford University Press Inc., 2002.

[5.13] D. M. Pozar, Microwave Eng., 2nd ed. New York: Wiley, 1998.

[5.14] P. Bogner, H. Habibovic, T. Hartig, "A high signal swing class AB earpiece amplifier in 65 nm CMOS technology," in *Proc. ESSCIRC* 2006, pp. 372–375.

[5.15] Y-J. Kim, H-C. Choi, et al., "A 12 bit 50 MS/s CMOS Nyquist A/D Converter With a Fully Differential Class-AB Switched Op-Amp," *IEEE JSSC*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 620–628, Mar. 2010.

Chapter 6 – Transformer-coupled hard-limiting oscillator

In this chapter, the design, analysis and measurement of the hard-limiting oscillator prototype in 65-nm CMOS [6.1], [6.2] is described. It is shown that phase insensitivity to noise created via transformer-coupled hard-limiting enables the design of a high-power, low-phase-noise oscillator for the GSM-BTS specification (derived in Section 1.2), with a power efficiency that's comparable with state-of-the-art designs for GSM handsets.

6.1 The oscillator concept

A simplified schematic of the proposed hard-limiting oscillator [6.1], [6.2] is shown in Fig. 6.1, where C_2 and C_3 model the average non-linear capacitances seen at the respective ports during large-signal operation. Positive feedback is realized between the drain and gate terminals of M_1 and M_2 using 1:2 step-up transformers T_1 and T_2 . Separate, wideband transformers provide greater common-mode rejection, and ensure that the voltage gain needed to overdrive the transistors for hard-limiting the output is adequate. The transformers also control the impedances seen by the transistors at the drain and gate interfaces, and promote greater frequency stability in the loop than an LC tank equivalent. Before discussing circuit design details and operation, the concept is evaluated for its potential as a low-phase-noise oscillator and to define limitations on the phase noise imposed by the circuit in practice.

The linear time-variant phase noise model [6.3] detailed in Section 2.6.4 describes an impulse sensitivity function (ISF) that quantifies the sensitivity of the oscillating waveform to perturbations at different time instances within one cycle. It is used to analyze the phase noise of the oscillator design concept in this section. The ISF (Γ), periodic with the same frequency as the time-domain voltage across the tank, has regions of maximum and minimum sensitivity. This knowledge motivates the consideration of waveshape as a potential design degree of freedom to optimize the trade-off between phase noise and power consumption.



Fig. 6.1: Simplified oscillator schematic. Design values of the implemented step-up transformers T_1 and T_2 are shown in Fig. 6.4.

The impact of waveshape on the conversion of circuit noise to phase noise is exploited in this work. It has been explored previously in a single-ended commonbase oscillator designed for the DCS-1800-BTS specification presented in [6.4], where BJT devices are voltage-biased to steepen the slope around waveform zero-crossings. Steepening of the slope implies that the approach to – and departure from – the point of maximum noise sensitivity is faster. Phase noise generated in the vicinity of this point is therefore reduced. Increasing the output amplitude of the cross-coupled oscillator within the current-limited region of operation also achieves this goal to some extent. The tank in [6.5] is designed for dual resonance at the fundamental and third harmonic, while in [6.6] an auxiliary circuit tuned to the 3^{rd} harmonic increases the slope around the zero-crossing to lower the phase noise.

6.2 Theoretical analysis

Following the theory developed in [6.3] and [6.7], the phase noise of an oscillator is determined by the periodic phase-noise conversion of individual noise contributions. In the following analysis each noise source is approximated with a constant power-spectral density during one oscillation period. This assumption is valid for passive networks; however, transistors in non-linear oscillators traverse different operating modes, which force a time-varying treatment of noise-sources that is cumbersome. The approximation is qualified during the analysis of the proposed oscillator, as it



Fig. 6.2: (a) Transient simulation results at 8 GHz for $V_B = 0$ V and $V_{DD} = 1.5$ V at the gate and drain of $M_{1,2}$, for the circuit of Fig. 6a (b) transient gate voltage and drain current of M_1 for $V_B=0$ V, (c) ISF simulated by injecting a 100uA current impulse for $V_B=0.5$ V and 0 V, and (d) approximations of the transient waveforms and the ISF.

will be shown that the transistors operate largely between triode and cut-off. The phase noise contribution of each noise source is approximated by its ISF that is obtained via the phase-shift induced by an infinitesimal impulse of charge injected at different instances within one cycle. The oscillator's phase noise $L(\Delta \omega)$ from Section 2.6.4 equals:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \log \left[N \frac{\sum_{i} S_{i}}{2q_{max}^{2} \Delta\omega^{2}} \right], \text{ where}$$
(6.1)

$$S_{i} = \frac{1}{2\pi N^{2}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \Gamma_{i}^{2}(\phi) \overline{i_{i}^{2}}(\phi) \, d\phi.$$
(6.2)

In eqn. 6.1 S_i is the contribution of the *i*th noise source, q_{max}^2 is the maximum charge

in the resonator, and $\Delta \omega$ is the frequency offset in radians/s. *N*, the number of stages, equals 2 for a differential circuit.

Results showing the amplified gate drive and clipped drain voltage swing from Spectre-RFTM transient simulations of the oscillator prototype are shown in Fig. 6.2a for a 0-V gate bias voltage, V_B (detailed in Fig 6.5). The corresponding square-wave current flowing through the transistor is shown in Fig. 6.2b, and the impulse sensitivity function (ISF) of the prototype circuit is shown in Fig. 6.2c. The ISF was simulated through 100-uA impulse injection for V_B equal to 0.5 V and 0 V. Overdriving the gate ensures that the output is hard limited, thereby creating a region of insensitivity to all circuit noise sources close to π radians in duration where the ISF is approximately zero. Since the ISF is related to the time-domain voltage, the freewheeling tank waveform when the transistors are cut-off is the source of the sinusoidal portions seen in the ISF, while imperfect switching of the transistors causes slewing that characterizes the remaining portions of the ISF cycle. It will be seen from the following analysis that circuit noise is more likely to be converted to oscillator phase noise during these transitions than at any other part of the oscillation cycle. Minimizing these transition times is therefore important to the realization of an oscillator with low phase-noise performance.

For the brief fractions of the oscillation period (T_0) when the output is slewing with finite rise and fall times t_r and t_f , the variation of the impulse sensitivity function can be approximated as a linear relationship. The ISF, $\Gamma(\phi)$, is further approximated by a cosine function in interval $[\pi < \phi < 2\pi]$ when the transistors are switched off. In the interval $[0 < \phi < \pi]$ when the transistors are switched on, the output is clipped and the ISF approaches zero.

Based on the above description the ISF is decomposed into three components that are characterized by the freewheeling tank-waveform when the transistors remain cut off (cosine), output slewing during transitions from cut-off to triode and vice versa (linear), and phase insensitivity created by hard-limiting the drain waveform (flat). The approximation and the ISFs obtained from circuit simulation are compared in Fig. 6.2c. It is clear that varying the boundaries between the three regimes for the approximation can give a satisfactory fit to the simulated ISF. The mathematical approximation is used to develop an expression for the oscillator's phase noise. Equations describing the regimes captured by the approximate ISF are given by:

$$\Gamma(\phi) = \begin{cases} 1 - \frac{\phi}{(t_r/T_0)2\pi} & ; \quad 0 < \phi < \frac{t_r}{T_0}2\pi \\ 0 & ; \quad \frac{t_r}{T_0}2\pi < \phi < \pi - \frac{t_f}{T_0}2\pi \\ \frac{\pi - \phi}{(t_f/T_0)2\pi} - 1 & ; \quad \pi - \frac{t_f}{T_0}2\pi < \phi < \pi \\ \cos(\phi) & ; \quad \pi < \phi < 2\pi \end{cases}$$
(6.3)

The noise contribution of the tank in a 1Hz bandwidth is:

$$\overline{i_{n,tank}^2} = \frac{4kT}{R},\tag{6.4}$$

where R is the equivalent resistance shunting the tank at resonance. Substituting eqns. 6.3 and 6.4 in eqn. 6.2 gives the tank-noise-contribution:

$$S_{tank} = \frac{1}{2\pi N^2} \frac{4kT}{R} \left[\int_0^{\frac{t_r}{T_0} 2\pi} \left\{ 1 - \frac{\phi}{(t_r/T_0) 2\pi} \right\}^2 d\phi + \int_{\pi - \frac{t_f}{T_0} 2\pi}^{\pi} \left\{ \frac{\pi - \phi}{(t_f/T_0) 2\pi} - 1 \right\}^2 d\phi + \int_{\pi}^{2\pi} \cos^2(\phi) d\phi \right],$$
(6.5)

$$S_{tank} = \frac{kT}{R} \left[\frac{t_r + t_f}{3T_0} + \frac{1}{4} \right].$$
(6.6)

During the transients (rise and fall) the transistors transition from cut-off, through saturation, to the onset of the triode region. In the analysis of transistor noise during t_r and t_f the maximum noise in triode is assumed:

$$i_{n,MOS}^2 = 4kT\gamma g_{d0},\tag{6.7}$$

where γ equals the excess noise factor of a single MOS transistor and g_{d0} is the output conductance of the transistor when V_{ds} equals zero. Since the source of the PMOS transistors is grounded (i.e., no tail current source), the impulse sensitivity function in eqn. 6.3 can also be used to determine the ISF of the MOS transistors, Γ_{MOS} , [6.3]:

$$\Gamma_{MOS} = \Gamma(\phi) \cdot \alpha(\phi). \tag{6.8}$$

The function $\alpha(\phi)$ defines the periodicity of the noise source determined by transistor switching (since the transistors add current and noise only in the on-state). It can be approximated closely by:

$$\alpha(\phi) = \begin{cases} 0 \; ; & 0 < \phi < \pi \\ 1 \; ; & \pi < \phi < 2\pi \end{cases}$$
(6.9)

Using eqns. 6.2, 6.3 and 6.9, the phase-noise contribution from transistors can be written as:

$$S_{MOS} = \frac{4KT\gamma g_{d0}}{2\pi N^2} \left[\int_0^{\frac{t_r}{T_0^2} \pi} \left\{ 1 - \frac{\phi}{(t_r/T_0)2\pi} \right\}^2 d\phi + \int_{\pi - \frac{t_f}{T_0^2} 2\pi}^{\pi} \left\{ \frac{\pi - \phi}{(t_f/T_0)2\pi} - 1 \right\}^2 d\phi \right], \quad (6.10)$$

$$S_{MOS} = KT\gamma g_{d0} \left[\frac{t_r + t_f}{3T_0} \right].$$
(6.11)

For N=2, the total phase noise of the oscillator is obtained by substituting eqns. 6.6 and 6.11 into eqn. 6.1 and equals:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{KT}{C^2 V_o^2 \Delta\omega^2} \left\{ \frac{1}{R} \left(\frac{t_r + t_f}{3T_0} + \frac{1}{4} \right) + \gamma g_{d0} \left(\frac{t_r + t_f}{3T_0} \right) \right\} \right].$$
(6.12)

The maximum charge is represented as a product of capacitance (*C*) and peak singleended fundamental swing V_0 . Eqn. 12 reveals that the phase noise is a strong function of the transistor switching times. Assuming that the rise and fall time (t_r and t_f) of the current transient as well as the clipped drain voltage are negligible so that the transistors switch instantaneously between on (triode) and off-state with $t_r = t_f$ equal to zero, the oscillator phase noise from eqn. 6.12 simplifies to:

$$L(\Delta\omega) = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{KT}{4C^2 V_o^2 \Delta\omega^2 R}\right].$$
(6.13)

The result of eqn.6.13 suggests that the transistors are eliminated entirely as sources of phase noise as their switching times diminish to zero, leaving the effective phase noise of the oscillator dependent only upon feedback network losses. It is important to note in the treatment of eqns. 12 and 13 that the output swing cannot be replaced simply by the product of transistor current and *R*, since the low output impedance of the transistor loads the tank during the on-state (i.e., when $0 < \phi < \pi$). However, the

potential penalty in phase noise from the transistor being in triode is negated because the ISF is zero in this interval (as seen from Fig. 6.2c and 3d). As a result, noise generated by the transistor outside of the switching transitions does not contribute to the oscillator phase noise, as seen from comparison of eqns. 6.12 and 6.13. While hard-limiting the output and operation in triode is counter-intuitive to oscillator design, the oscillator insensitivity to noise under these conditions overcomes the apparent drawbacks. However, ideal switching cannot occur in practice. The dramatic gate over-drive generated by the two-transformer feedback, in this regard, plays an important role in minimizing the rise and fall times, thereby reducing oscillator phase noise. The phase noise predicted by eqn. 6.12 is verified against simulation results in the next section of this chapter.

6.3 Circuit design and operation

The operating frequency (7.8 GHz) is chosen to minimize the area associated with the 2-transformer layout, as the target bands of 1.8 GHz and 900 MHz can be easily reached using inductorless frequency dividers. PMOS devices are preferred for their approximately 15% lower 1/f-corner at the same g_m in the 65-nm CMOS process.

6.3.1 Transformer feedback network

Common-mode rejection in the feedback path of the oscillator is ensured through tight magnetic coupling between the primary and secondary windings of each transformer (i.e., high k_m), which minimizes the transformer leakage inductance [6.8]. A low-impedance path to ground at the center-taps of the 1:2 turns ratio planar transformers is also added to shunt common-mode signals away from the differential signal path. This ensures minimum gain in the common-mode, while differential start-up and operation prevail. A stack of the top and second (from the top) 0.9-um thick Cu metals and the 1.4-um thick Al-cap layer are used to construct the transformers. Self-inductances of the primary and secondary are 0.5 nH and 1.25 nH, respectively, and k_m equals 0.748.

A lumped-element circuit model of each 1:2 transformer used in the oscillator circuit of Fig. 6.1 is shown Fig. 6.3. The component values listed in Fig. 6.3 are obtained



Fig. 6.3: Lumped equivalent model of the 1:2 feedback transformers shown in Fig. 6.1.

by fitting 4-port parameters of the model to full-wave EM simulation data for the transformer layout. Transmission peaks in the frequency response of the two-transformer cascade used in the feedback network are spread farther apart by maximizing primary-to-secondary coupling, k_m . Stagger tuning of the transformers (i.e., tuning the secondary lower than the primary, such that $\omega_{secondary}/\omega_{primary} < 0.8$) is also used to suppress the loop-gain at the non-dominant frequency peak and ensure a stable oscillation at the desired frequency. The magnitude response of the feedback network stand-alone (from the drain side) is shown in Fig. 6.4a, and has a dominant peak at 10.3 GHz with an impedance of 205 Ω . Good agreement is seen between the response of the feedback network predicted from EM simulation and the lumped-element equivalent circuit of Fig. 6.3.

Transistor parasitics and the switched-capacitor tuning network (see Fig. 6.5a) shift the resonant frequency down to 8 GHz in the final oscillator prototype. Seen from



Fig. 6.4: (a) Magnitude response seen from the drain side of the lumped model and EM simulation of the two transformer cascade, when loaded with the capacitor values indicated in Fig. 6.1, (b) Slope of the phase response at resonance for varying loads (2-Tx vs. inductor equivalent from EM simulation for the CMOS technology).

the transistor drain side, the effective capacitance loading the tank is ~1.2 pF. A shunt loading of 1 k Ω is assumed across the T_I - T_2 interface to model switch losses (see Fig. 6.1). The magnetizing inductance seen at the input of the two transformer cascade is 330 pH. The real part of the shunt equivalent impedance seen between the drain terminals at 8 GHz resonance is 130 Ω for the implementation of Fig. 6a. The single-ended load seen at each drain is therefore one-half of this impedance, or *R* of 65 Ω and C of 2.4 pF as defined previously for eqn. 12 in Section 6.1.

In an oscillator designed for a high output swing, transistor operation in triode across a part of each cycle and consequent loading of the feedback network is inevitable.



Fig. 6.5: (a) Detailed circuit diagram of the implemented oscillator and interface buffers A_{1,2}, (b) block diagram of the test IC, and (c) the digital switch.

Tank loading affects the selectivity of the feedback network in an oscillator resulting in lower output amplitude, and the phase noise seen at the oscillator's output necessarily increases with greater loading. Selectivity of the 2-transformer feedback network can be gauged easily by observing the rate of change in phase with respect to frequency (i.e., the phase slope). Similarly, the slope of the phase response at resonance for a parallel LC resonator increases with increasing tank Q-factor [6.9]. The phase slope of the impedance at resonance when the transformer feedback loop is broken at the gate (nodes A and B indicated in Fig. 6.1) and loading at the drain is varied between 10 Ω and 250 Ω in 10 equal steps is plotted in Fig. 6.4b from simulation. A single-LC tank at resonance is also simulated for comparison. The inductance assumed is equal to the magnetizing `inductance of the cascaded transformer network (i.e., $L_{tank} = 330$ pH), with loading due to tuning switch losses (1-k Ω shunt resistor) for a fair comparison. The unloaded inductor has a Q of 20.66 at 10.3 GHz and is resonated using an ideal 1.2 pF capacitor. For a loading of 150 Ω at the drain side (Fig. 6.4b), the Q factor of an inductor that would give the same phase slope with frequency as the 2-transformer cascade is 10.7 compared to 7.64. The two-transformer cascade has a greater slope in the phase response – and hence higher frequency selectivity – than an equivalent LC tank at resonance for all loading values simulated (see Fig. 6.4b). The increase in impedance seen from drain to gate is therefore expected to reduce the loading effect on frequency selectivity of the feedback network when the transistor enters the triode regime (i.e., in the *on* state) in the oscillator prototype. Thus, the two transformer cascade provides a large-signal voltage gain of ~3 that overdrives the transistor output into clipping, with better selectivity than a conventional tank.

6.3.2 Design details and circuit operation

The oscillator is prototyped in a production 7-metal 65-nm bulk-CMOS process with no thick-metal option [6.10]. A detailed schematic of the oscillator is shown in Fig. 6.5a, and a block diagram of the implemented IC in Fig. 6.5b. The DC bias of $M_{1,2}$ (V_B at center-tap of T_2 in Fig. 6.1) sets the bias current at start-up, which determines the amount of resonator charge during stable oscillation. The fundamental tone excites the secondary winding of T_1 , while harmonics are shunted to ground through MOM capacitors C_2 . The gates of $M_{1,2}$ are driven from T_2 , which steps-up the filtered waveform for a peak-to-peak swing as high as $3.5V_{DD}$ at each gate. Transistors $M_{1,2}$ are $22\times(6 \,\mu\text{m}/0.28 \,\mu\text{m})$ thick-oxide devices that withstand the large gate swing without breakdown and reduced parasitic overlap capacitances compared to thin-oxide equivalents. Lower gate-to-drain capacitance (C_{gd}) during large-signal operation is beneficial, as loading seen at the transistor drain is approximately $(1+n^2)C_{gd}$ due to signal attenuation from gate to drain, where n is the turns ratio of a single transformer.

The output from the oscillator core is taken via a capacitive tap (C_X, C_Y) to minimize loading of the buffers $A_{1,2}$ interfacing the oscillator to a dynamic frequency divider.

Their power consumption and feedback resistance can be traded for gain, bandwidth and reverse isolation. The divider output is interfaced to the single-ended 50- Ω measurement equipment using a differential pair with a transformer-balun load. Separate analog and digital supplies (V_{DD} and V_{DD2} , respectively) maximize isolation between the circuit blocks. Separate on-chip meshes for analog and digital ground provide additional isolation.

Four switched MOM-capacitors (B_0 - B_3) provide simplified frequency tuning at the interface of T_1 and T_2 (Fig. 6.5a). Control bits b_0 - b_1 fine tune the impedance at the secondary of T_1 , as the change in impedance is reflected at the output attenuated by a square of the turns ratio. The resistance of the switching element determines the Q of the capacitor bank, and a trade-off between parasitic capacitance and on-resistance (r_{on}) is encountered with respect to its sizing, as described in [6.11]. In the switch (shown schematically in Fig. 6.5c), biasing via the resistors ensures a negative gate-source voltage in the off-state, and minimum r_{on} when on. The drain bias during the off-state is set to V_{DD} , which provides better control over the reverse biased drain-bulk junction capacitance, while reducing signal leakage through the drain-bulk junction [6.12]. The inverters do not consume static power and occupy little area.

Fig. 6.2a shows the simulated transient response at the transistor drain and gate for V_B equal to 0 V, where the total steady-state current consumption is 33.65 mA from 1.5 V. Tuning bits b_0 , b_1 , B_1 and B_2 are set to 1. The output is clipped, and the rise and fall transients cumulatively occupy ~15% of the oscillation period. The fundamental component appearing at the drain is 0.85 V_{peak}. The result of a transient simulation showing i_{ds} and the gate-voltage swing of M₁ is shown in Fig. 6.2b. The large gate-drive obtained through cascaded transformers T₁ and T₂ (~3 V_{DD} peak-topeak) forces the transistors to switch rapidly between triode and cut-off. This is a key attribute of the switching hypothesis discussed in Section 5.1. The electric field at the drain drops with decreasing V_{sd} (for the PMOS transistor), and the drain output voltage is clipped when the channel cannot conduct more current. Gate overdrive causes sharp transients at the drain (i.e., small t_r from Fig. 6.2a), and it ensures that



Fig. 6.6: Spectre-RFTM simulation of PN at 8 GHz, for V_B varied from 650 mV to 0 V. Phase noise improves by 5.1 dB at 1 MHz offset for $V_B = 500$ mV (23.4 mA) and 0 V (33.5 mA).

the devices remain cut-off while the drain swings to a minimum approaching -1.3 V (- V_{DD} approximately) during the remainder of the oscillation cycle. Eliminating the tail current bias source is a deliberate design choice, as rise and fall transients accompanying hard limiting are not slew-rate limited. The transistors provide max-



Fig. 6.7: 1/f² phase noise extrapolation vs. offset frequency using eqn. 12 ($V_{\theta} = 0.85 V_{p}$, R = 65, C = 2.4pF and $\gamma = 1.04$), and Spectre-RFTM simulation of PN for $V_{B} = 0$ V (from Fig.6.6).

-imum current during their on state, which coincides with the region where the output clips, as seen from Fig. 6.2a and Fig. 6.2b. This is necessary for low-phase-noise performance since the transistor noise contribution increases in triode [6.13]. The signal amplitude is reduced by the low output impedance in triode, but mismatch gain via transformers T_1 and T_2 restores it as described previously, yielding approximately 4.5-V_{pp} gate swing when V_B equals 0 V.

The evolution of phase noise obtained by varying V_B for the circuit shown in Fig, 6.6 when operated from a 1.5-V supply is shown in Fig. 6.6. V_B is varied from 650 mV to 0 V, and the corresponding steady-state power consumption increases from 13.65 mW (9.1 mA) to 50.5 mW (33.65 mA). The start-up current in the respective bias settings are 5.05 mA and 27.82 mA¹. The combination of a rise in signal amplitude and noise reduction through hard limiting, contribute to a 7-dB improvement in phase noise. Of these curves, the phase noise performances for V_B set to 500 mV and 0 V (indicated in Fig. 6.6) have been analyzed comparatively. A 5-dB phase noise improvement at 1-MHz offset (-124.3 dBc/Hz to -129.3 dBc/Hz) is obtained when the current drawn by the oscillator is raised from 23.4 mA (35.1 mW) to 33.5 mA (50.5 mW). The fundamental components seen at the drain in the two cases are 0.62 V_{peak} and 0.85 V_{peak}, respectively.

6.4 Phase noise analysis vs. simulation

The phase noise predicted in the $1/f^2$ -region from eqn. 6.12 is plotted in Fig. 6.7 for $V_B = 0$ along with the simulated phase noise from Fig. 6.6. The parameters derived for the oscillator prototype are: $C^2 = 2.4 \text{ pF}$, $V_0 = 0.85 \text{ V}$, $R = 65 \Omega$, $g_{d0} = 18.18 \text{ mS}$ and $\gamma = 1.04$ (obtained from circuit simulation). For a given gate-amplitude, the oscillator phase noise improves as t_r and t_f are reduced, as expected. Switching time improves with technology scaling as device parasitics are reduced and the transistor

¹ In the absence of current regulation, the steady-state current consumption increases when compared to the start-up current. However, for a given bias condition and resonator losses, the maximum current consumption is determined (and limited) by the transistors' aspect ratio.

² The capacitance is distributed across the coupled-transformer network to optimize the impedances in the loop for maximum voltage gain. The effective capacitance of 2.4pF resonates with the 165-nH magnetizing inductance.

large-signal transconductance increases. Therefore, a further reduction in phase noise is anticipated from improvements in device technology.

The phase noise of the prototype oscillator at a 3-MHz offset (for $V_B = 0$ V) obtained from Spectre-RFTM simulation is -139.6 dBc/Hz. As obtained from Fig. 6.2a and 3c, t_r and t_f occupy ~15% of the waveform period (T_0). The phase noise in the $1/f^2$ region predicted by the eqn. 6.12 in this condition is -138.2 dBc/Hz, which is 1.4 dB more than the value predicted from a simulation of the complete circuit (seen from Fig. 6.7). The difference can be attributed to the approximations made in the development of the theoretical expression of eqn. 6.12. While assuming a linear rise and fall of the drain current does underestimate transistor noise by a small margin, as stated in Section 6.2, transistor noise contribution during the rise and fall transients was assumed to be constant with a worst case value of triode noise. The coarse approximation of the cosine portion of the ISF in the interval [$\pi < \phi < 2\pi$] overestimates tank noise as is evident from Fig. 6.2c.

Recall that hard limiting creates a time window where sensitivity to noise is considerably reduced and the ISF approaches zero (as seen in the simulated ISFs of Fig. 6.2c). Reducing the voltage swing at the gate nodes results in milder output clipping, as illustrated for a gate bias V_B of 0.5 V, where t_r and t_f occupy ~32% of T_0 and V_0 equals 0.62 V_p (compared to 0.85 V_p for $V_B = 0$ V, where t_r and t_f occupy ~15% of T_0). In the 0-V case, the total noise power appearing at the output drops



Fig. 6.8: Layout view of the two-transformer core.

with the advent of hard limiting and contributes to approximately 42% of the 5 dB improvement in phase noise, while the remaining is obtained through the increase in fundamental power.

For the phase-noise values indicated in Fig. 6.7 showing the 0-V and 0.5-V biasing cases, the rms noise powers contained in a 1-Hz bandwidth obtained via a Spectre P-Noise simulation are $4.48 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2/\text{Hz}$ and $6.35 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2/\text{Hz}$, respectively. This is the rms noise power appearing between the drain of one transistor and ground. The noise contribution of the passives (half-circuit) in either case are $1.9 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2/\text{Hz}$ and $2.8 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2/\text{Hz}$, respectively. For the values of t_r and t_f mentioned in the beginning of this section, the noise contribution in the 0-V and 0.5-V bias case obtained from theory are $2.1 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2/\text{Hz}$ and $2.5 \times 10^{-14} \text{ V}^2/\text{Hz}$, respectively, with a ~10%-error in either case.

6.5 Layout, frequency pushing, divider and buffer

Fig. 6.8 shows the transformer layout with frequency tuning indicated at the interface nodes between them. Each transformer is 220x220 um² in size. A stack of the top and second (from the top) 0.9-um thick Cu metals and the 1.4-um thick Al-cap layer are used to construct the transformers. A floating shield in metal-1 reduces substrate loss [6.14]. Transistors $M_{1,2}$ forming the oscillator core are laid out along the line of electrical symmetry.

Removing the tail current source increases the oscillator's sensitivity to supply voltage variations, resulting in frequency pushing. Fixed capacitors C_{FI} placed at the gate of each transistor reduce frequency pushing. They are 190 fF (see Fig. 6.1) each and dominate over the bias-dependent transistor parasitic capacitances at the node.

Fig. 6.9a shows the dynamic rail-to-rail digital frequency-divider producing quadrature outputs [6.15] and its transistor level implementation. Compared to source-coupled-logic (SCL) dividers, dynamic dividers can be designed to consume less power and have a lower noise floor. The circuit needs to be driven symmetrically with an amplitude that is large enough to prevent self-oscillation in



Fig. 6.9: (a) Digital frequency divider and implementation of the clocked inverter, and (b) The output buffer driving the 50Ω measurement load.



Fig. 6.10: Chip micrograph. The oscillator dimension is 0.19 mm² (0.68 mm by 0.28 mm). DC inputs are wire-bonded and the RF output is probed on die.

positive feedback loop. Cross-coupled inverters are used to ensure opposite polarity at the respective nodes they connect, and their gain can be designed to trade noise performance for the ability to correct phase imbalance in the input signal. The divider consumes 5 mA from 1.2 V and 6.8 mA from 1.5 V during steady-state operation. The output buffer is shown in Fig. 9b. V_{BLAS} is used to adjust the gain. The transformer provides impedance matching over a wide bandwidth, and can be tuned by via V_{TUNE} .

6.6 Measurement results

The chip is mounted and wire-bonded on a customized test board. The RF outputs are probed on die. The annotated chip micrograph is shown in Fig. 6.10, where the oscillator core (highlighted) is 0.19 mm².

The phase noise measured at 3.92 GHz (i.e., at the divide-by-2 output) for power consumptions of 25.8 mW and 19.2 mW from 1.2 V is shown in Fig. 6.11. The phase noise measurements taken at 1.5 V for power consumptions of 35.4, 41, 44 and 48 mW are shown in Figs. 6.12a –d. Bias voltage V_B is swept from 500 mV to 0 V, as in the simulation presented previously in Section IV. The phase noise at an offset frequency of 1 MHz improves from -129.4 to -135 dBc/Hz as the power consumption varies from 35.4 mW to 48 mW. The measured 1/f-noise corner frequency lies between 650-700 kHz. This measurement validates simulation results and is discussed further with respect to Fig. 6.13. The new oscillator design alleviates the power consumption/phase noise trade-off significantly, especially at higher power, where the returns for an increase in power consumption are less satisfactory, since the accompanying improvement in phase noise performance diminishes. At 48-mW power consumption, the DCS-1800-BTS-Normal specification is met with 1-dB margin, while the most stringent GSM-900-BTS spec. is ~2-dB away from being satisfied. This is amongst the lowest phase noise for integrated VCOs from reports in the recent literature, as discussed in the comparison later in this section.



Fig. 6.11: Phase noise measured at 25.8 plot (a) and 19.2mW (b), when operated from 1.2V. The GSM/DCS Mobile (MS) and Base station (BTS) specifications are normalized to the 3.92 GHz carrier frequency.



Fig. 6.12- first part: Phase noise measured at 1.5V for V_B equal to (a) 500 mV (35.4 mW), (b) 400 mV (41 mW).



Fig. 6.12 – second part: Phase noise measured at 1.5V for V_B equal (a) 150 mV (44 mW), and (b) 0 V (48 mW). At 0 V bias, the DCS-1800-BTS-Normal spec. is met with ~1-dB margin, while phase noise is ~1.5-dB higher than the GSM-900-BTS spec. at 1-MHz offset.



Fig. 6.13: Phase noise at 1MHz offset vs. power consumption for V_{DD} equal to 1.5 V. Simulation results from Fig. 6 (V_B varied from 0.6 V to 0 V) are included to validate the phase noise trend. The shaded squares correspond to measurements shown in Fig. 6.12.

Fig. 6.13 shows the phase noise of the developed hard limiting oscillator at 1-MHz offset vs. power consumption from a 1.5-V supply. Measurement results compare well with simulation and the phase noise predicted by eqn. 6.12 in Section 6.2. Simulation results from Fig. 6.6 are added to the plot. The shaded squares corres-



Fig. 6.14: Phase noise measured at mid-band and tuning range extremes. The variation across the tuning range at 1 MHz offset is ~1.6 dB.



Figure 15: Frequency pushing measured due to supply voltage variation.

-pond to the phase noise measurements shown in Fig. 6.12a–d. Measurement results show a similar trend to simulations, where a combination of increase in fundamental power and phase desensitization through hard limiting provide a rapid improvement in phase noise with respect to power consumption. Gate overdrive that is not limited by the supply clearly improves the phase noise performance. Phase noise measurements at low power are limited by the divider's sensitivity.

The hard-limiting prototype oscillator has a 10.2% tuning range (7.28 – 8.06 GHz) that can be increased by switching more capacitors in parallel to the existing 4-bit tuning scheme. The phase noise variation at the tuning range edges is 1.6 dB at a 1-MHz offset. Phase-noise curves measured at 1.2 V for 25.8-mW of power consumption at the tuning range edges and the middle of the band are shown in Fig. 6.14. The divided output frequency versus supply voltage variation is shown in Fig. 6.15. At the highest frequency, where the oscillator is most sensitive to pushing, it is lower than 16 MHz/V and 5.75 MHz/V at V_{DD} and V_{DD2}, respectively. The output frequency varies by just 1.8 MHz for $\pm 10\%$ variation from the nominal 1.2 V.

6.7 Comparison with prior-art and impact of this work

Table 6.1 compares measured results with state-of-the-art oscillator topologies implemented in IC technologies. The phase noise is normalized to a 915-MHz

	This Work 2012	Ref. LC 2012	[6.4] 2000	[6.20] 2001	[6.15] 2006	[6.16] 2007	[6.21] 2008	[6.17] 2011	[6.18] 2011	[6.19] 2012	[6.22] 2013	[6.23] 2013	[6.24] 2013	[6.25] 2015	[6.26] 2016
Technology	65nm	65nm	0.25um	0.35um	90nm	130nm	130nm	65nm	90mm	55nm	65nm	65nm	65nm	55nm	28nm
5	CMOS	CMOS	Bi CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CNIUS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS
Supply [V]	1.5 1.2^+	1.2	1.9	2.5	1.4	3.3	1	1.2	1.2	1.5	2.15	1.25	0.4	1.5	0.7
Measured Freq. [GHz]	3.92 (7.84 ÷2)	7.7	1.5	1.2	0.915 (3.6 ÷4)	1.56	5.2	12.6	3.7	3.35	4.07	3.7	3	7.9	5
Tuning Range [6.GHz]	3.64 - 4.03 10.2%	7.6 - 8.2 8%	1.49 - 1.56 4.7%	$1 - 1.2 \\ 18\%$	3.21 – 4.10 24%	1.5 - 1.65 9.6%	4.8 – 5.65 14%	10.8 - 14.8 31.3%	2.44 – 4 22.1%	6.7 - 9.2 31%	4.07-4.91 18.6%	3.2-4.2 25%	3-4.8 46%	7.4 - 8.4 13%	4.7-5.4 13.8%
PN norm. to 915MHz [dBc/Hz] offset	-147.7 -144.3 ⁺	-135.8	-140	-146.5	-139.5	-144.6	-136.6	-138.3	-138.6	-143.8	-149.6	-144.8	-139.3	-142.3	-132.2
DC Power [mW]	$\frac{48}{25.8^+}$	18	38	9.25	25.2	290.4	1.4	22.5	22.8	27	126.8	15	6.8	6.3	0.5
Oscillator-core area [mm²]	0.19	0.065	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.11	0.212	N/A	0.49	0.37	0.22	0.12	0.19	0.18
FOM [dB]	189.9 189.3^{+}	182.2	183.4	196	184.8	178.6	194.3	184.1	184.2	188.8	187.8	192.2	190.2	193.5	194.4
Circuit description	Transformer coupled hard limiting	Cross- coupled LC	Common- base oscillator	Cross- coupled LC with I _{Tail} Inductor (Low power)	Cross- coupled LC with I _{Tail} Inductor (High power)	Colpitts oscillator	Class C oscillator	Power combining using 4-port Inductor	Cross- coupled LC	Class C/B oscillator	combining two high- swing class- C stages	Class-F oscillator	Class-D oscillator	Complementary Class-B with transformer based tail filtering	Transformer coupled CM termination
$FOM = abs \left[\mathcal{L}(\Delta \omega) \right]^+ 1.2 \text{-V} \text{ measurement}$	$+20 \cdot log 10$	$\left(\frac{\Delta \omega}{\omega_0}\right) + \log \left(\frac{\Delta \omega}{\omega_0}\right)$	$g\left(\frac{P_{diss}}{1mW}\right)$												

Table 6.1: Measurement summary and comparison with published work

carrier for comparison. At 1.5 V, the phase noise at 1-MHz offset (-147.7 dBc/Hz) is lower than oscillators published prior to 2012, with an FOM of ~189 dB. As discussed in Chapter 1, scaling existing oscillator topologies for increased power consumption in order to meet aggressive phase noise specifications results in reduced phase-noise efficiency. This is evident in the low-noise designs presented in [6.15] and [6.16], wherein the Colpitts oscillator and the tail-filtering technique, respectively, are adapted for high power consumption. The dual-core oscillator implemented in [6.22] combines the merit of Class-C operation presented [6.21] by scaling the supply voltage to 2.15 V with the power-combining principle of [6.17], to achieves a 1.9-dB lower normalized phase noise of -149.6 dBc/Hz at an FOM of 187.8 dB.

The phase noise mechanisms in a cross-coupled oscillator were discussed in in Chapter 2 (Section 2.7). The fundamental phase-noise limit of the cross-coupled oscillator is reached when the tail-current source is noiseless. This limit is described by eqn. 2.53 when the tail-current's noise contribution is set to zero. Hegazi's technique of inductive degeneration and tail-filtering [6.15] approaches this limit in principle, wherein transistors contribute to phase noise only when they simultaneously conduct (explained in Section 2.7, w.r.t Figs. 2.10 and 2.11). The Class-C oscillator [6.21] also approaches this limit by operating all transistors in saturation. Operation in Class-C results in a higher DC-RF current conversion efficiency when compared to the Class-B operation often ascribed to the crosscoupled oscillator during analysis. This results in an increased phase noise FOM of 194.3 dB. Operation in saturation limits the swing of Class-C oscillators when operated from voltage supplies on the order of 1.2-1.5 V, and therefore their phase noise capability. Hegazi's tail-filtering principle on the other hand, does not face this constraint; however, high power designs (e.g., [6.15]) do not demonstrate the same efficiency and performance of the original low-power prototype [6.20]. It is important to note, that in both these oscillator concepts (i.e., tail-filtering and Class-C), the tank contributes noise throughout the oscillation period.

The hard-limiting principle described in this chapter addresses all known factors that

contribute to phase noise in the $1/f^2$ region: 1) Hard-limiting the output creates a region of phase-noise insensitivity, and therefore permits eliminating the tail-current without penalty of increased noise contribution from the switching pair, 2) the overdriven gate ensures the period of simultaneous conduction of the switching pair is minimized (~2x) compared to a cross-coupled oscillator which results in reduced phase noise contribution, 3) it is observed that the phase insensitivity created by hard-limiting is applicable to transistor as well as tank-noise, and lastly 4) the transformer coupled interface minimizes loading in the oscillator loop that arises from triode operation. This is not a trivial calculation as seen from the analyses in [6.27]-[6.30], and therefore in the analysis of section 6.1 this effect is lumped into the amplitude of the fundamental component that is obtained from simulation. The oscillator is designed for a moderate tuning range of 10% (adequate for the ~6% tuning range requirement from 870-925 MHz for a GSM-BTS receiver) to maximize phase noise performance.

The merits of hard-limiting and exploring waveshape to tailor phase noise performance for high power applications are clear from the above discussion of the hard-limiting prototype and its comparison with the tail-filtering and Class-C designs. Since the publication of the concept in 2012, subsequent oscillator designs have incorporated its key principles. The Class-F oscillator [6.23] reinterprets third-harmonic tuning proposed in [6.6] in the Zero-ISF context described in this work. It applies the premise that a region of constant-amplitude in the waveshape of a resonant harmonic oscillator results in Zero-ISF, which coincides, beneficially, with the transistor's on-time. The Class-D oscillator in [6.24] directly invokes hardlimiting induced impulse insensitivity in an LC oscillator to sacrifice the tail-current source in order to approach Hegazi's noise-limit for a cross-coupled oscillator, while [6.26] follows suit with additional filtering in the common-mode path for improved performance in the $1/\beta^2$ region. As an aside, the highlighted text in section 6.2.1 is quoted from the journal publication of this work [6.2], where a focus on commonmode design was described in 2014. The transformer-based tail-filtering design in [6.25] also benefits from the flat-ISF that is an outcome of voltage-limited operation.

These low and moderate power designs show a very high figure of merit of 192-194 dB (see Table 6.1).

6.8 Summary

Phase desensitization through hard limiting (in contrast to conventional design methodology) is explored to achieve ultra-low phase noise. The circuit topology and operation ensure that the energy compensation through the active devices coincides with the clipped peak output voltage, thereby minimizing the conversion of circuit noise from active and passive devices to phase noise. The main contribution towards low phase noise lies in the elimination of the tail current source for high power designs, without incurring the penalty of increased noise contribution from the switching transistors. The circuit alleviates the phase noise/power consumption trade-off, and provides a substantial improvement in performance due to a combination of hard limiting and increase in fundamental power. Both these aspects are manifested via mismatched gain obtained from a cascade of two transformers. An 8-GHz prototyped in 65 nm CMOS provides measurement proof of the concept. At 32 mA drawn from a 1.5-V supply and a tuning range of 10%, the oscillator is within 1.5 dB reach of the GSM-900 base-station specification of -147 dBc/Hz at an 800-kHz offset.

References:

[6.1] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Low Phase Noise Oscillator Principled on Transformer-Coupled Hard Limiting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no.2, pp. 373–383, Feb. 2014.

[6.2] A. Visweswaran, R. B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Clip-and-Restore Technique for Phase Desensitization in a 1.2V 65nm CMOS Oscillator for Cellular Mobile and Base Stations," *Proc. of IEEE Solid-State Circuits Conf.*, pp. 350–351, Feb. 2012.

[6.3] A. Hajimiri, T. Lee, "A General Theory of Phase Noise in Electrical Oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 2, Feb. 1998.

[6.4] J. Lin, "An Integrated Low-Phase-Noise VCO for Base Station Applications," *ISSCC Digest of Technical, Papers*, pp. 432–433, Feb. 2000.

[6.5] H. Kim, S. Ryu, "A Low Phase-Noise CMOS VCO With Harmonic Tuned LC

Tank," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 2917 – 2924, Jul. 2006.

[6.6] S. Ryu, Y. Chung, H. Kim, et al., "Phase Noise Optimization of CMOS VCO through Harmonic Tuning," *IEEE RFIC 2005*, pp. 403 – 406.

[6.7] P. Andreani, X. Wang, L. Vandi, A. Fard, "A Study of Phase Noise in Colpitts and *LC*-Tank CMOS Oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 1107–1118, May 2005.

[6.8] D. Bowen, I.D. Mayergoyz, C. Krafft, D. Kroop, "Common Mode Analysis of Ethernet Transformers," IEEE Magnetics Letters, vol.1, 2010.

[6.9] K.K. Clarke, D.T. Hess, Communication Circuits: Analysis and Design, Second Edition, Krieger Publishing, Florida, 2002.

[6.10] TSMC, "Process Design Manual, 65nm CMOS".

[6.11] S.D. Taso, A. Bevilacqua, M. Tiebout, "A 0.06 mm 11 mW Local Oscillator for the GSM Standard in 65 nm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no.7, pp. 1295 – 1304, Jul. 2010.

[6.12] H. Sjoland, "Improved Switched Tuning of Differential CMOS VCOs," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems —II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 352 – 355, May 2002.

[6.13] B. Wang, J.R. Hellums, C.G. Sodini, "Mosfet Thermal Noise Modeling for Analog Integrated Circuits," IEEE *J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 29, no.7, pp. 833 – 835, Jul. 1994.

[6.14] S-M Yim, T. Chen, K. O, "The Effects of a Ground Shield on The Characteristics and Performance of Spiral Inductors," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 37, no.2, pp. 237–244, Feb. 2002.

[6.15] C.-M. Hung, R.B. Staszewski, N. Barton, et al, "A Digitally Controlled Oscillator System for SAW-less Transmitters in Cellular Handsets," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no.5, pp. 1160–1170, May 2006.

[6.16] J. Steinkemp, F. Henkel, P. Waldow, O. Pettersson, C. Hedenas, B. Medin, "A Colpitts Oscillator Design for a GSM Base Station Synthesizer," IEEE RFIC 2007, pp. 405–408.

[6.17] Z. Deng, A. M. Niknejad, "A 4-Port Inductor-Based VCO Coupling Method for Phase Noise Reduction," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no.8 pp. 1772–1781, Aug. 2011.
[6.18] P. Andreani, L. Lozmin, P. Sandrup, M. Nilsson, T. Mattsson, "A TX VCO for WCDMA/EDGE in 90nm RF CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1618–1626, Jul. 2011.

[6.19] L. Fanori, A. Liscidini, P. Andreani, "A 6.7-to-9.2GHz 55nm CMOS hybrid Class-B/Class-C cellular TX VCO," *Proc. of IEEE Solid-State Circuits Conf.*, sec. 20.5, pp. 354–356, Feb. 2012.

[6.20] E. Hegazi, H. Sjoland, A. Abidi, "A filtering technique to lower LC oscillator phasenoise," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1921-1930, Dec. 2001.

[6.21] A. Mazzanti and P. Andreani, "Class-C harmonic CMOS VCOs, with a general result on phase noise," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43,no. 12, pp. 2716–2729, 2008.

[6.22] M. Tohidian, S.A.R.A. Mehr, R.B. Staszewski, "Dual-Core High-Swing Class-C oscillator with Ultra-low Phase Noise," IEEE RFIC 2013, pp. 243 – 246.

[6.23] M. Babaie, R.B. Staszewski, "A Class-F Oscillator," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no.12 pp. 3120–3133, Dec. 2013.

[6.24] L. FAnori, P. Andreani, "Class-D CMOS Oscillators," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no.12 pp. 3105–3119, Dec. 2013.

[6.25] M. Garampazzi, P.M. Mendes, N. Codega, D. Manstretta, R. Castello, "Analysis and Design of a 195.6 dBc/Hz Peak FoM P-N Class-B Oscillator With Transformer-Based Tail Filtering," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 1657–1668, July 2015.

[6.26] D. Murphy, H. Darabi, "A Complementary VCO for IoE that Achieves a195dBc/Hz FOM and Flicker Noise Corner of 200kHz", *Proc. of IEEE Solid-State Circuits Conf.*, pp. 44–45, Feb. 2016.

[6.27] C.B. Aiken, "Two-mesh Tuned Coupled Circuit Filters," *Proc. I.R.E*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 230 – 272, Feb. 1937.

[6.28] V.C. Rideout, "A Note on a Parallel-Tuned Transformer Design," *Bell System Technical Journal*, vol. 27, pp. 96, 1948.

[6.29] M. Dishal, "Exact Design and Analysis of Double- and Triple-Tuned Band-Pass Amplifiers," *Proc. I.R.E*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 606 – 626, Jun. 1947.

Chapter 7

Wideband FM demodulation at IF based on injection locking a multi-stage ring oscillator is described in this thesis, along with the use of hard-limiting for phase desensitization in low-noise oscillators. The conclusions drawn from the theory developed in this work, and experiments validating them are presented in this chapter, which closes the thesis with recommendations for future work.

7.1 Injection-locked FM demodulation

From stand-alone characterization of a 65-nm CMOS prototype, it is observed that a locked-in ring oscillator tracks wideband frequency modulation linearly. Since the output discharges entirely over each period, the operation of the free-running oscillator is often described as being memoryless and consequently susceptible to external stimulus. The oscillator locks over a wide range of input frequencies, and the main reason is that the exponential current buildup that characterizes the charging and discharging phases is easily triggered by an external input.

The transmission of an FM signal through a locked-in oscillator is characterized by scaling of the modulation index and FM deviation. This is best demonstrated via Bessel function coefficients that characterize the FM spectrum for varying modulation indices. Measurements confirm translation of Bessel function coefficients at the output of the locked-in ring oscillator and show excellent correlation to theory. While the FM bandwidth is scaled down via injection locking, correlating the quadrature-phased outputs inherent to the four-stage ring topology enables and simplifies power-efficient wideband FM demodulation. This circumvents the need for controllable auxiliary true-time delays. The demodulator characteristic shows a liner performance for fractional bandwidths approaching unity. Other benefits of this approach to demodulation include: 1) data-rate independent power consumption, 2) wideband operation, 3) insensitivity to noise and additive amplitude modulation of the input RF, 4) a requirement for low distortion is not imposed on the IF amplifier, and 5) operation of the ring-oscillator at 1/4th the intermediate frequency enables a higher IF and a lower fractional

bandwidth for improved efficiency.

A 65-nm CMOS prototype demodulator occupies 0.17 mm^2 and dissipates just 3.2 mW from 1.2 V at quiescent point. The SNR sensitivity is 8 dB, and demodulator measures a 0.1% BER at 10 Mbps for a 45 mV_{pp} input signal at IF. Verification of injection locking is limited by the test-equipment to rates up to 420 MHz (0.84 Gbps), while simulation predict the oscillator can track modulation rates on the order of $1/5^{\text{th}}$ the carrier frequency.

Additional measurements conducted to study the response of the oscillator to external noise and FM show physical trends not reported to date. Experimental characterization of the oscillator's response to FM shows increased sensitivity compared to static frequencies over the same frequency band. This demonstration of hysteresis lies beyond the scope of existing mathematical models that explain injection locking. However, the lower locking threshold for modulated signals reduces the amplification requirement at IF for injection locking. A similar effect is observed when the locking threshold increases during interference ramp-down when followed sequentially by a ramp-up of the interference applied to a locked-in oscillator. Experimental study of a ring oscillator's response to colored noise reveals degradation in phase stability accompanied by a noise-induced frequency shift. This noise-induced frequency shift increases with the external noise injected in the oscillator loop. Excess noise induces chaotic behavior, during which the oscillator is still capable of locking to external stimulus, but at increased input-power levels. With increasing SNR levels it is observed that the oscillator transitions from instability to complete injection-lock via transient states of partial lock. When partially locked, the oscillator is seen to lock to part of the FM deviation before falling out of lock, resulting in a lower modulation index at the output than expected. The partial locked states in the presence of excess noise resemble the oscillator's response to insufficient signal drive to lock over the total FM bandwidth. Therefore, though the SNR sensitivity for a perfect lock is measured to be 8 dB, operation does not cease at lower values of input SNR.

7.2 Low noise oscillator design

In this thesis phase noise models developed over past few decades are reviewed for insights on phase noise conversion mechanisms in oscillators. In this work a hard-limiting oscillator prototype was proposed that minimizes phase noise conversion of thermal noise contributors in an oscillator. The theoretical phase noise expression developed in this work is based on Hajimiri's linear time-varying phase-noise model, and compare closely with simulation and measurements.

The tail-current source in a cross-coupled oscillator mitigates noise contribution and loading from the switching pair, however, its contribution to phase noise can be substantially more while targeting stringent phase noise specifications at the expense of power dissipation. Hard limiting the output with transformer-coupled gate overdrive creates phase insensitivity that rejects noise from not just the transistor pair, but the tank as well, while the transformers reduce loading in the loop. The circuit is suitable for high-power consumption and the principle of operation alleviates the phase noise/power consumption trade-off, and provides a substantial improvement in performance due to a combination of hard limiting and increase in fundamental power. Maximum phase-noise conversion of channel noise occurs when the switching transistors simultaneously conduct. A cyclostationary, timedependent phase-noise expression developed in this thesis shows this. Rise and fall transient times are therefore minimized using transformer-coupled gate-overdrive. The theoretical phase noise model developed in this thesis is verified against simulation and measurement with a reasonable accuracy of less than 2 dB. The GSM 900-MHz base-station specification of -147 dBc/Hz at an 800-kHz offset is among the most challenging receiver phase noise requirements. The 65-nm CMOS prototype oscillator developed in this work has a moderate tuning range of 10% and is within 2-dB reach of this specification at room temperature and dissipates 48-mW from a 1.5-V supply. Key principles of phase noise reduction proposed in this work have been incorporated in subsequent oscillator designs from other research groups.

7.3 Future work and recommendations

The frequency axis extends in one direction and it must be pursued. Innovations in circuit techniques are necessary to realize the potential of envisioned wideband and high data-rate systems at mm-wave and sub mm-wave frequencies, as well as to experiment with unexplored bands for applications yet to be discovered. A key aspect moving forward will be the demonstration of electrical sources in these bands, bringing the antenna on chip, and designing receivers capable of handling wideband modulation at reduced signal to noise ratios.

At present we find ourselves at cross-roads with technology and technique, where the construction of the high-frequency RF front-end is limited to a few transistors with a strong emphasis on negating their parasitic reactances for unilateral operation. There may still be a few generations of CMOS scaling to come that might aid the performance trade-off against power consumption. Demodulation of wideband data is poised to be a significant challenge. The IF demodulator developed in this work benefits from wideband locking capabilities, low SNR sensitivity, and from the fact that the locked-in ring needs to be designed at a quarter of the IF frequency. A greater reduction in operating frequency can be accomplished with a greater number of stages (for e.g., an 8-stage ring oscillator at 10 GHz, can demodulate an IF signal at 80 GHz). However, in the context of the FM demodulator developed in this work, and in general, a future challenge would be the design of power-efficient, wideband amplifier stages operating over fractional bandwidths on the order of one.

Aside from the implementation details of wideband radios is the advancement of theoretical studies. Oscillators, their application and characterization form the core of this thesis. Findings presented here from experimental study of the oscillator's response to external noise and FM lie beyond the scope of present mathematical models and require dedicated study. Analytical studies on frequency shifts and chaos induced by external noise will provide a better insight on these processes, and can even lead to improvements in phase noise models. On the other hand, injection locking is a phenomenon that is treated in the frequency domain with vector representation, though experiments reveal time-dependencies that are developed within the locked-in state. The analytical treatment and explanation of harmonic

injection locking is a difficult problem. However, a solution that parameterizes the non-linear processes and state dependencies that characterize injection locking will add significantly to the understanding of autonomous systems.

Publication list

Journal publications:

[1] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, "Gain-boosting Doublets in Folded-Cascode CMOS Operational Amplifiers," submitted for review, *IET Electronics Letters*, 2017.

[2] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, "Injection-locked wideband FM demodulation at IF," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no.2, pp. 327–343, Feb 2017.

[3] A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Low Phase Noise Oscillator Principled on Transformer-Coupled Hard Limiting," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no.2, pp. 373–383, Feb. 2014.

Conference publications:

[4] A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, R.B. Staszewski, "A 1.2V 110-MHz-UGB differential class-AB amplifier in 65nm CMOS," Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Sep. 2014.

[5] A. Visweswaran, J. R. Long, L. Galatro, M. Spirito, and R. B. Staszewski, "An FM demodulator operating across 2–10GHz IF," in Proc. Radio Freq. Integr. Circuits Symp., Jun. 2013, pp. 213–216.

[6] A. Visweswaran, R. B. Staszewski, J. R. Long, A. Akhnoukh, "Fine frequency tuning using injection-control in a 1.2V 65nm CMOS quadrature oscillator," in Proc. IEEE Radio Freq. Integr. Circuits Symp., Jun. 2012, pp. 293–296.

[7] A. Visweswaran, R. B. Staszewski, J.R. Long, "A Clip-and-Restore Technique for Phase Desensitization in a 1.2V 65nm CMOS Oscillator for Cellular Mobile and Base Stations," *Proc. of IEEE Solid-State Circuits Conf.*, sec. 20.5, pp. 350–351, Feb. 2012.

[8] A. Visweswaran, C. de Martino, E. Sirignano, M. Spirito, "An IQ-steering technique for amplitude and phase control of mm-wave signals," IEEE Microwave Measurement Conference, ARFTG, 2015.

Patents:

[9] A. Visweswaran, J. R. Long, R. B. Staszewski, "Wideband FM Demodulation by injection locked division of frequency deviation," U.S. patent US 9,444,433, Sept. 13, 2016.

[10] A. Visweswaran, R. B. Staszewski, J. R. Long, "Oscillator circuit and method for generating an oscillation," U.S. patent US 8,823,463 B2, Sep. 2, 2014.

[11] A. Visweswaran, R. B. Staszewski, and J. R. Long, "Oscillator circuit and method for generating an oscillation," Chinese patent CN102870323A, Jan. 9, 2013.

Collaborative research:

[12] Morteza S. Alavi, A. Visweswaran, R.B. Staszewski, L.C.N. De Vreede, J.R. Long, A.A. Akhnoukh, "A 2-GHz digital I/Q modulator in 65-nm CMOS," IEEE Asian Solid-state Circuits Conference, pp. 277 – 280, Nov. 2011.

[13] Morteza S. Alavi, R.B. Staszewski, L.C.N. De Vreede, A. Visweswaran, J.R. Long, "All-Digital RF I/Q Modulator," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 60, no. 11, pp. 3513 – 3526, Aug. 2012.

Acknowledgements

I'm grateful to Prof. John Long for his supervision over the years, and for everything that I've learnt from his vast knowledge in the field, research outlook, and uncompromising approach towards writing. His attention to technical details and unrelated jokes alike has played an instrumental part in ensuring I've enjoyed my doctoral research. I'd really like to thank him for the research freedom with which I've been able to experiment with circuits and concepts.

I'm grateful to Prof. Bogdan Staszewski for including me on the oscillator project at the outset of my Ph.D. study, and for our colourful technical discussions. I thank Prof. Marco Spirito for his guidance in the measurement lab, and for the time we spent developing a phase-calibration setup for mm-wave signals. I've had numerous discussions with Prof. Chris Verhoeven on injection locking and thank him for sharing his valuable insights with unreserved enthusiasm. I'd like to thank Prof. Klaas Bult for our discussions on amplifier design. I'm grateful to Prof. Leo de Vreede for supporting the completion of my thesis after I shifted to Leuven. I thank members of the committee for reading this thesis and for their detailed feedback.

Between chip design and measurement there are a wide range of procedures that require in-house expertise. I thank Wil Straver for teaching me board design and assembly, for wire bonding all ICs, and for his help with construction of test setups. I'm grateful to Atef Akhnoukh for his help with chip-finishing and ESD design on all my test chips. I also thank him for familiarizing me with the lab and all the testequipment, and ensuring that I eventually became an independent lab user. I thank Antoon Frehe for solving the many software and server related problems I've troubled him with. I'm grateful to Marion de Vlieger for all her help with administrative procedures over the years, and for cheerful conversations on grim days.

I thank my colleagues in the measurement lab: Luca Galatro for his help with calibrating DC and I/Q offsets in the FM test setup, and Ajay Kumar for his help

with step-response measurements and signal-source calibration. I thank Koen Buisman for the numerous discussions, philosophical and technical, and for his help with all my measurements. I'd like to thank former department colleagues, S. Engels, M. Danesh, D. A. Calvillo, X. Luo, W. Wu, M. Alavi, Y. Zhao and the late J.F.M. Gerrits for meaningful and lasting technical discussions along the line.

My good friend, the game of cricket, has continued to keep me company overseas. Playing for Concordia has been great fun and a big shout of thanks goes out to all the guys. I thank Dr. Tiggy Patel (note the font) for the good food, lodging and his thesis template. I also thank him along with Sidharth, Manu, Srijith and Kalsi for the great company. I thank Dr. Kishor Chandra and Sakshi for their welcoming hospitality, my old friends Pillu and Obs for their annual visits, and all my friends in Delft and Leuven.

I thank my family and friends spread across continents. The warm memories and good wishes of my grandparents always remain with me. To dadu and mamma, thanks for your encouragement and best wishes. To my younger sister, Sruti, good going, and thanks for the bad jokes. To my wife, Damini, who has been a constant system of support and understanding, I love you, and cannot thank you enough for putting up with the idiosyncrasies of a preoccupied mind with such alacrity and patience. Thanks for proof-reading the thesis. To my parents who've devoted decades to the noble profession of teaching, I, among many others, have benefited immensely from your knowledge and outlook towards life. Thank you for the unconditional love and understanding, and for always being there when the goings have gotten tough. Everything good that happens is an outcome of your blessings.

About the author



Akshay Visweswaran received the B.E. degree in Electrical Engineering from Sathyabama University in Chennai, India, and the M.Sc. degree in Electrical Engineering from Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands in 2009, where he is completing his Ph.D. at the Electronics Research Laboratory. He was a recipient of the university's Top Talent Scholarship during his M.Sc. study. He

worked as an Analog/RF designer at Conexant systems Hyderabad, India, and IC-Lab NXP semiconductors, Eindhoven, The Netherlands, from 2006-2007 and 2009-2010, respectively. Prior to his Masters he completed research internships at Cypress Semiconductors, Bangalore and Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, India. He joined IMEC, Leuven, Belgium, as a Senior Researcher in 2015 and his present work focusses on RF/analog circuit design for integrated mm-wave wireless transceivers.

ISBN/EAN: 978-94-6186-801-5